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PREFACE

As announced in 1954 in my biography of Dr. Ambedkar,
I am presenting with great pleasure the life of Lokamanya
Tilak. In his lifetime Tilak was a subject of bitter and long
controversics. Now that the dust raised by those controversies
has setiled down and almost all the actors in the scene have
departed this life, the time has arrived to study the life of this
great man and to look at the events concerning his life, with
an objective and dispassionate view.

I have tried in my usual way to keep the hero of the bio-
graphy at the central place and have used history as the back-
ground against the picture. In conformity with the trends of
modern biography I have sclected out of the wealth of material
only the most authentic information and facts, taking every
carc that the biography is not swollen with long, dull and un-
illuminating passages. And without violating the chronology
of Tilak’s life I have portraved the cvolution of his mind, the
progress of his carcer and the impact of events and personalities
on his mind. While thus fully delineating the development of
his character and personality, T have also dealt with the
various contributions he made in different ficlds of politics,
journalism, philosophy and the national struggle for freedom.
In short, this biography depicts all the lights and shades which
mingled in the grand composition that the Lokamnanya was.

Recently a few biographies have been published to com-
memorate the birth-centenary of Lokamanya Tilak. It is,
however, felt that they arc the rcfurbished versions of the
older ones and have, as usual, subordinated the personality of
Tilak to history. Besides, their perspective diflers from mine.
Most of them have, in their zeal to make Tilak and Gandhiji
appear alike, strained to shape Tilak in such a way as to fit
him in Gandhian mood and mcthods. This is surcly a great
injustice to Tilak. It is history that Tilak, whose sole aim was
to win back independence, cared morc for the ends than for
the means whereas Gandhiji strove more after the purity than
for the ends. That is why Tilak never condemned the revolu-
tionaries using physical force against the British regime.

This biography differs from the foregoing biographies in
another vital aspect. Some of them have made passing refer-
ences to Tilak’s social views while others are silent upon
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this point. This book alonc has fully dealt with this aspect
of Tilak’s life in its proper perspective.

My humble opinion therefore is that this book provides a
number of new points and facts, gives many fresh glimpses of
Tilak's character, thoughts and personality, and thus presents
a truthful picture of the whole man, which is necessary to
understand him rationally.

T am sincerely grateful to my friends who have gone through
the manuscript, especially to Mr. Nissim FEzekicl. I am deeply
indebted to Annarao Gothoskar for carefully reading the manu-
script and the proofs. T am deeply indebted also to Bhide
Guruji for minutely reading the manuscript and the proofs,
and for his unfailing support to mc in whatever literary work
I undertake. I must gratefully mention here that but for the
moral and active support of Appasahch Tinaikar and Dr. S. D.
Mujumdar my works would not have scen the light.

I acknowledge my debt to all the authors, journals and
publishers from whose books and publications I have drawn
excerpts. T am also thankful to the workers of the India Print-
ing Works and its able proprictors for the excellent printing.

BHAGESNWAR BHUVAN, DHANANJAY KEER
Laby HArRbDINGE RoAD,

MaHIM, BomBay 6.

15 August 1959
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CHAPTER I
CHILDHOOD AND YOUTH

I

e Tilaks form one of the families belonging to the

Chitpavan Brahmin community. The Chitpavan Brahmins
are known as Kornkanasthas because they hail from the Konkan.
During the seventeenth century some Brahmin families were
oppressed by the Muslim Head of the Janjira State in the
Konkan, and so they moved to Satara to seek their fortune.
From one of these families called the Bhats sprang the most
able and brave leaders known as the Peshwas, who transformed
Poona into the political centre of India in the latter half of the
eighteenth century.

Ratnagiri is the nerve centre of the Konkan, and is the chief
town of the Ratnagiri District. It has a population of 30,000
and has a port which is closed in the rainy season. Crowned
with the ranges of the Sahyadris, the District is hilly and is the
nursery of the famous Alphonso mangoes. Its seaside is lined
with tall, green coconut and betelnut trees. As the hilly region
docs not yield products other than intellect, mangoes, coconuts
and mill-hands, neither the British Government nor the
Swaraj Government thought it profitable to connect it to other
parts of India with the railway. People living in this strip of
land are sturdy and hardworking. They are peasants, artisans
and fishermen. They wrest a hand-to-mouth existence from the
sea, coconuts, mangoes and fragments of their tiny narrow rice
fields. The hard brown shell of the coconut with its sweet
copra and silver milk inside is symbolic of the character of these
people. The roughness of the sea and the hardiness of the
Sahyadris have rendered their life a constant, hard struggle,
strengthened their bones, sharpened their brains, and kindled
their ambitions. A hundred years ago Ratnagiri had earned a
niche for its Marathi, Sanskrit and English education in the
educational world of Maharashtra. Another point worth noting
about the place is that it is the home of the Chitpavan intel-
ligentsia although their place of origin is supposed to be the
part of the District surrounding Chiplun which is about sixty
miles to the north of Ratnagiri.
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The place of origin of the Tilaks is Chikhalgaon in Dapoli
Taluka of the Ratnagiri District. The Tilaks, it seems, were
not a family of much importance during the Peshwa rule except
that they held the Khoti rights of the village. Khoti is a Vatan
granted by ancient kings to persons who either had taken a
pioneering part in colonisation or had brought fallow land under
cultivation. The Khots carricd on the administration, collected
the land taxes in their villages, and paid them to the Govern-
ment treasury. The Tilaks belonged to one such leading family
in the village. However, there are some documents to show that
a certain Dhondopant Tilak fought in the battle of Panipat in
1761, and, while escaping as a fugitive from the debacle, died
in Central India on his way home.

This soldier had three brothers at Chikhalgaon. One of them
was called Krishnaji, who had a son named Keshavrao. Born
in 1778, Keshavrao was a skilful rider, a gifted marksman, a
fine swimmer and an expert cook. A man of ready pen, he rose
by his ceaseless efforts and inflexible determination to the posi-
tion of the Mamlatdar of Anjanwel near Dabhol, during the
last days of the Peshwa rule. With the end of the Peshwa rule
in 1818, he threw up the post and spent the rest of his life at
Chikhalgaon in virtual retirement.

By his first wife, Keshavrao had two sons, Ramchandra and
Kashinath. The eldest son Ramchandra, with what little educa-
tion he had, took service as a surveyor under the new British
regime. His marriage took place, as was the custom in those
days, at an early age, and he had a son in 1820 when he was
hardly twenty. This son Gangadhar he left to the care of his
father as he himself was required to be on duty away from his
native place. Gangadhar learnt the rudiments of Marathi from
his grandfather, and a few days later he was sent to school at
Dabhol. After completing his studies in that primary school,
the boy took the road to Poona to prosecute further studies on
his own account and responsibility. This resolution made by
the young boy to go up a hundred miles partly on foot and
partly in a bullock cart, illustrates an unbending mind, an
ambitious nature and an untiring industry.

While Gangadhar was thus striving to receive an English
education in Poona at a school kept by one Mr. Bhavalkar, his
mother, Ramabai, who was on her way to pilgrimage to Nasik,
a holy city in Maharashtra, camc to Poona to get a glimpse of her
son. She left for Nasik, but died of cholera before reaching
the place of pilgrimage. Ramchandra was totally upset by this
calamity. He got his daughter Durga married to a youth from
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a certain Joglekar’s family of Karanjani in the Dapoli Taluka,
and leaving his two sons Gangadhar and Govind, he went to
Chitrakut in the Banda District in Uttar Pradesh where the
family of the brother of Bajirao LI lived.

This sad event changed the course of Gangadhar’s life. He
gave up his education and rcturned to his native place. He got
himself married to a girl from the Achwal family. The prob-
lems of and difficulties about the Khoti rights worried him
considerably. Realising that the income from the Khoti would
not be much helpful in the maintenance of his family, he
accepted the post of a teacher in a Marathi Primary School
at Malvan on a salary of Rs. 10 a month. Malvan is a small
town at the southern end of the Ratnagiri District. Thence
he was transferred to Chiplun on a salary of Rs. 15 a month.
Although there were no tcachers’ training schools in those days,
the teachers took a deep interest in their noble profession. They
laboured hard and conducted their classes to the best advantage
of the pupils, imbuing them with the desire to acquire knowl-
edge by the active cxercise of their own facultics. Finally
Gangadharpant was posted to Ratnagiri on a monthly salary
of Rs. 20 as Headmaster of the Marathi School. In the mean-
while his father had left the service of the Peshwa family. So
he supported his father by sending money regularly to him at
Banaras. Gangadharpant could maintain his family on such a
low income without much difficulty because in those days living
was cheap. One could get rice at one rupee a maund.

1I

Gangadharpant was an orthodox Brahmin, devoted to rigid
performance of religious rites and observances. His wife Par-
vatibai, too, was intensely religious. She had grown weak and
delicate. She had three daughters Kashi, Ambu and Awada.
She was sorely disappointed in the birth of three daughters in
succession, of whom the first was already married. So she took,
at the instance of onec Narmadabai Soman, to rigid observances
and profound worship of the Sun God. A typical Hindu
mother, she longed to have a son and intensified her prayers
and penance in spite of her failing health. At last, on under-
going the Sunday fasts and observances for over a year, she gave
birth to a son on July 23, 1856, in Sadoba Gore’s house at the
middle alley in Ratnagiri, about nine months before the War
of Independence of 1857. At the birth of the child, both
the mother and the baby were unconscious. A few minutces
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later she regained consciousness and the child also gave its fust
cay after fifteen minutes. Gangadharpant, who was very
anxious to know the result, was told by the superstitious ladies
in the housc that the new-born was a girl. Terribly dis-
appointed at this result, he angrily exclaimed that if it were a
girl she should be thrown on the dunghill.! At this, his eldest
daughter ran to him and whispered that it was a son and not
a daughter!

The new-born was weak in health. His legs were flaccid; his
head was somewhat flabby. On the sixth day it was declared
that Parvatibai had a son. He was named Keshav after the
name of the family deity or perhaps after his grcat-grandfather,
who had passed away that year. His sister called him Bal, and
later he was known as Balwantrao, his cradle name being alto-
gether dropped.

Gangadharpant was now Headmaster of the Marathi School
at Ratnagiri. Industrious, stern, aspiring and sclf-respecting, he
had acquired the habits of strict economy and reasonable
liberality. He helped deserving students and kept onc or two
at his house. The warmth of his hospitality extended to his
gucsts and relatives.  What is more, he had not given up his
studies though he had left school long before. Undeterred by
the anxicty for the maintenance of his household with the
meagre salary he carned as tcacher and the responsibility
attached to his post, he continued his studies at home, not for
the sake of mere promotion but for the love of knowledge. He
was an cxample of the axiom that the best part of every man’s
education is that which he himself acquires; for, knowledge
acquired by labour becomes a possession. By his indomitable
perseverance Gangadharpant gained a remarkable mastery over
the Marathi and Sanskrit languages and also over Mathematics.
He was known as Nana and was respected as Guruji. People
also called him Shastri. The collector used to call him a
trcasury of clerks. He had written a book on Trigonometry
for which he received a prize from the Director of Education,
who arranged also for the purchase of two hundred copics of
the book. He wrote a Marathi Grammar which continued as
a prescribed text-book until 1877. However, he got into
trouble on account of the ‘I'rigonometry book. A disciple of
his, who was now scrving as his assistant at Ratnagiri Marathi
School, wrote to the Director that he should get half of the
prize as Gangadhar Tilak’s book was not original but was a

1 K. A. Guruji: Life of Lokamanya Bal Gangadhar Tilak, p. 24 (Marathi).
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translation of an English book which had becen translated for
Tilak by him. But the jealousy was discovered and he was
silenced. Later, when this disciple-teacher was imprisoned for
his article on ‘Nanasaheb Peshwa’ during the 1857 War,
Gangadharpant interviewed the Collector of Ratnagiri, ex-
plained to him his disciple’s thoughtless bchaviour, and pro-
cured his releasc. Overwhclmed with gratitude, the disciple
fell at his Guru's feet!

Mcanwhile, Ramchandra, who had gonc to Banaras, wandered
there in scarch of a Guru. No Guru would initiate him into
the fold of hermits. Those were the days of the revolt of 1857
and Government, which was bent on suppressing it, had passed
strict orders that no mutineer should cscape under one or the
other pretext or under the garb of a hermit. Maybc he
thought it his duty to catch the last glimpse of his home, or
maybe with a desire to secure an eligibility certificate, Ram-
chandra came back to Ratnagiri where his son was serving, and
was mightily pleased to see the grandson.

Parvatibai’s health had now completely broken down. She
gave up her rigorous worship of the Sun God after a due ful-
filment of the vow.

Bal was now two yecars old. He had not put on much flesh
as yct. By constitution he was lean and weak, by complexion
swarthy, and his look was simple but intelligent. He was out-
spoken and obdurate. He pulled out the books of his father’s
wards, tore their notcbooks, and spoiled their slates with urine.
Bal now found a new playmate in his grandfather. He bathed
with him, he prayed with him; and he sang songs with him.
He dabbed his forehead as his grandfather did and took meals
with him. Sometimes Bal showed signs of his obdurate dis-
position. On the day of changing the thread, he would not
allow the thread to be taken out which his grandfather had
put on him to please his infant fancy. A person who has not
undergone a thread ceremony cannot wear it and cannot have
his meals with the thrcad on. Bal was offered sweets and was
given other little promises, but he would not allow anybody to
touch the thread on his body. He exasperated all. Enraged
at this Gangadharpant slapped him and threw away the thread.
Bal's sobbing echoed for hours. As he grew up Bal enjoyed
himself in his pranks. He shook his mother’s head, stroked his
sister’s face, and hung upon the neck of the Kunbi maid-
servant Rukmini. He pulled the tails of calves and made
them gallop!

An cducationist and a disciplinarian, Gangadharpant natu-
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rally wished to give his son a scholarly grounding in his early
childhood. He taught him some songs and poems which the
child recited even near the lavatory when his father could hear
him from inside! He taught him some simple arithmetical prob-
lems and rules of grammar and made him recite short Marathi
pocms and Sanskrit verses. He also took him to listen to the
storvies from the AMahabharata rclated in his discourse by a
priest in a temple nearby. When Bal was six, he was sent to
school in Ratnagiri in October 1861. The servant, who accom-
panicd him to the school, was strictly prohibited from carrying
Bal on his shoulders to the school. Attendance at school was
very strict.  Bal could not play truant. One morning he
avoided going to school after enjoying a two-day holiday.
When he went to the school in the afternoon, his Guruji,
Bhikaji Krishna Patwardhan, who was afraid of incurring the
displcasure of Gangadharpant if he lct off Bal without punish-
ment, beat himn soundly. Under the attentive eye of his father
Bal made good progress, which was precocious for his age.
Even the priests, who pecrformed his thread ceremony in 1864,
were astonished to note his progress and the priest Harshastri
Sathe remarked that he would be like the Karanik ' in the Guru
Charitra. At this Gangadharpant bowed devoutly to God and
said the priest’s prophecy might come true. The father, how-
cver, added with a smile that he would have to labour a little
more to make the idol perfect.

About this time Gangadharpant came in contact with Mr.
Arthur Crawford, who was then the District Collector of Ratna-
girl. Because of his sparing habits Gangadharpant had money
enough to lend at interest.  Mr. Crawford persuaded him to
invest somc moncy in the Saw-Mill Company which he pro-
posed to start at Ratnagiri for the benefit of the poor classes.
Mr. Crawford’s was a very charming personality with a sweet
flowing tonguc. He was a grand spendthrift and an able
administrator with very irregular habits. Yet at times he
worked at his office with a marvellous tenacity. For some time
the Saw-Mill prospered, and in one year a dividend of 99, was
paid to the sharcholders.

Gangadharpant belonged to the orthodox school of thought
and a little breach of conduct on the part of his friends or rela-
tives or a little departure from religious observances would
badly upset him. Those were the days when a person using
socks was cursed as an infidel and the orthodox used to take a

1 Karanik = Chief Minister.
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bath on their return home from office to wipe away the pollu-
tion contracted by contact with persons of other religions and
their co-religionists from the lower classes! Such a breach of
conduct on the part of a fricnd worried him a great deal, when
Gangadharpant read the shocking news that Raosaheb Mandlik
had received a bouquet at the hands of a Christian at the end
of a meeting in Bombay. Mandlik was then a well-known
public figure in the Bombay Presidency. Mortified at this news
Gangadharpant wrote to Mandlik expressing his firm belief
that the report was false and wished him to prosecute the news-
papers that had published it! Mandlik simply replicd that he
attached no importance to such reports.

Gangadharpant was strictly methodical and regular in his
work. As he could not tolerate any deviations from his mode
and methods of instruction or turn away from his experience
in the school, he sometimes expressed disagreement with the
inspecting officers on the spot. This challenging attitude
brought him into clash with Mr. Madhavrao Barve, the then
Deputy Educational Inspector, who afterwards became the
Dewan of Kolhapur. There were frequent clashes and also ex-
changes of harsh words in official correspondence. Once Ganga-
dharpant’s superiors asked him to secure an undertaking from
his assistant teachers to the effect that they would not leave the
service. He got their signatures on the bonds but in his for-
warding letter he remarked that the service conditions and pay
scales, under which the teachers were made to work, were
worse than the conditions of the Negroes in Africa. For his
quips he was suppressed and his juniors were allowed to super-
sede him.

Gangadharpant had now served for over seventeen years with
patience and unswerving conscientiousness. In a letter written
to Raosaheb Mandlik he lamented the fact that during his ser-
vice of ten years he had enjoyed leave for only three months.
He knew no holiday, rest, excursions or vacation. Duty had
been his sple friend and he had been toiling like a coolic!
His meritorious work was, however, finally appreciated by his
supcriors, and he was promoted to the post of an Assistant
Deputy Educational Inspector at Poona in 1866.

On the eve of his departure for Poona, friends in Ratnagiri
held farewell parties in honour 'of Gangadharpant. At one of
the functions no less a dignitary than R. G. Bhandarkar was
invited to preside. Paying a glowing tribute to his friend for
his high qualities such as erudition, originality, generosity, and
independence of thought, Bhandarkar said that in the transfer
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of Gangadharpant, Ratnagiri had lost a repository of Marathi,
a master of Grammar and Mathematics, and an exemplary
teacher. Gangadharpant left for Poona with his family. His
father had left for Banaras a few days earlier.

This was a well-deserved promotion, a change for the better.
Financially, he was in good circumstances, and from the view-
point of the well-being of his son he was now in a city which
was the intellectual centre of Maharashtra. No place in India
was more surcharged with the spirit of ancient works and echoes
of the holy scriptures, and pulsated more strongly with studies
in grammar and logic than the city of Poona. In those days
Poona was also devcloping into a centre of modern literature
and science.

it

Favoured with a unique opportunity for educating his son
on proper lines, Gangadharpant had his son admitted into a
Marathi School in Poona. It was not far from his residence at
Gadrewada near Tulsibag. Bal wore a short dhoti, a folding
cap with a tuft on it, and an old-fashioned garment with
strings. Everything went well with the family for six months
and suddenly a sad event disturbed it. Bal’s mother could not
survive long to see his intellectual progress. Long periods of
fasting and the rigours of asceticism had reduced her to a
skeleton, and she died on the 24th July of that year. There-
after Bal was brought up by his aunt. Older than Bal by
fifteen years, Govindrao, his uncle, had spent most of his life
in the country. With the little schooling he had he worked at
first as a teacher at a school in the Konkan and was now a
teacher at a Marathi School in Poona. The Khoti income the
family received had, after having been divided into different
family branches, now dwindled into a paltry pittance. The
Khoti land inhcrited by Bal's father was assesscd at Rs. 8-9-0
and the other land owned by him was asscssed at Re. 1-8-0.

Bal was now about to complete his Primary education. His
knowledge was far advanced. He had to brush up some lessons
here and there. His food was as simple as his dress! He took
only boiled rice with ghee or curds! But with all this simple
life and advanced studies of Bal the class teacher found him
rather a stubborn boy. An incident took place ‘that revealed
his strength of mind!

One day some boys ate roasted ground-nuts in the absence
of the class-teacher and threw the husks on the floor. The
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sight of the husks made the class-teacher angry. He said that
those who had eaten the ground-nuts should sweep the floor.
Most of the culprits obeyed but they did not clean the space
necar Bal’s seat. The teacher asked him to clear away the husks
near his seat but he pertly refused to do so as he had not caten
ground-nuts. The teacher said that whatever might be the
facts, as the husks were near his scat he must clear the space.
But Bal would not obey. Enraged at this seemingly impudent
gesture of Bal, the teacher roared that Bal might be the son of
an influential man, but he must behave in the class as a student,
otherwise he should get out. Saying so, he took up the cane,
but instantly Bal, too, took up his satchel and went straight
home. On inquiry the cass-teacher learnt from Gangadhar-
pant that his son had not been supplied with ground-nuts nor
was he in the habit of eating outside the house.

Bal joincd the City School where he completed three stand-
ards in two years. There too an occasion for friction with a
tcacher arose when he wrote the Sanskrit word * Sant ™ in three
different ways. The teacher treated the first version as correct
and the other two as incorrect.  Bal insisted that all the three
versions were correct.  This led to a hot quarrel and the matter
was referred immediately by Bal to the Headmaster, who ex-
pressed his opinion in favour of Bal. The decision set his
mind at rest. It was not that he was not amenable to disci-
pline. As his studies were comparatively advanced in the free
atmosphere of home life, he did not conform to the rigid for-
malities of class work. Perhaps he could not come across any-
thing worth noting in the class.

If the class-teacher set a problem in arithmetic, he would do
it mentally and write down the answer on the slate. If the
teacher asked the boys to use slates, Bal questioned the neces-
sity for it. However, it became known to the tcachers that Bal
was a brilliant, independent, and promising student, but he was
rather quarrelsome and obstinate.

Bal then joined the Poona High School. He could not casily
fit in with the routine work of the school and had occasional
clashes with his teachers. He was weak by constitution but
showed signs of a stubborn will. His eyes gleamed and his
head was full of hairless patches made by scabbies. His strong
scnse of independence, his shining intellect, and the inborn
stubbornness, however, challenged the little world of the teach-
ers. He would not go to the black-board at the teacher’s bid-
ding to solve a problem mechanically. Instead, he answered it
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straightway. In Bal’s opinion the history of India written by
Morrison was a biassed one!

An incident occurred which must have confirmed the opinion
of the teachers that Bal was by nature a tough fighter. This
time he had a tussle with his Sanskrit teacher. Mr. Jacob, the
Headmaster, who was a strict disciplinarian, decided the issue
in favour of the tcacher. Consequently Bal bade good-bye to
the school and joined another. He returned to this school after
Mr. Kunte succeeded Mr. Jacob. Meantime he studied at the
school conducted by onc Baba Gokhale. These were bricf re-
hearsals of the great battles the boy was destined to fight in
future with the authoritics and the long-drawn litigations he
was to face with unbending will-power.

Thus the little rebel asserted himself in the school world
against its rigid and mechanical routine. His opinion of the
Government was also taking shape at this carly age. Once
while he was taking an cvening walk in company with his
friends, they struck down somec mangoes from a tree. The
watchman of the mangogrove chastised them. Thercupon Bal
asked him quietly the name of the owner of the grove. He
replied that it belonged to Government. Thercupon Bal ex-
claimed that then it belonged to the public! This intelligent
answer would not satisfy the watchman. In the end they
passed over a coin to him. While parting, Bal remarked:
“But do not pay this to the Government!”

Bal’s father did not feel happy in his new -post. Serious,
stern and irascible by temperament, he came into conflict with
the Deputy Educational Inspector, who was also a Brahmin by
name Sitarampant Patwardhan. Gangadharpant applied for a
transfer to Thana. Shortly afterwards he was again posted
back to Poona. Owing to his strong sense of independence he
could not get on well with Mr. Sitarampant Patwardhan, his
immediate superior. It was said that as an officer Patwardhan
was strict and overbearing whereas Gangadharpant was less
strict and more favourably inclined to his subordinates.

In spite of his father’s transfer, Bal’s progress in his studies
was very satisfactory. He believed in sclf-help. It was his
watch-word. He hated over-guardianship or over-drilling in
the class. Whatever he did, he did it thoroughly. He never
crammed notes, but mastered his lessons! From his boyhood a
peculiar bent of his mind was noticeable. It was always to
attempt the most difficult. He never solved simple problems
from mathematics papers. He treated simple questions as
child’s play. That is why he could not shine in the first rank
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in the class. He never cared much for it although he must
have aspired to it. Eagles never vie with parrots! Routine
work and daily composition were not the things to his liking.
He loved thinking more than writing. He put his pen to
paper only when it was unavoidable. His memory was deve-
loping the qualities of a photographnc film!

When Bal was in Std. VI in 1871, his father scttled his
marriage in consultation with his grandfather who was still
alive at Banaras. Seventy years ago, most of the boys in the
upper classes of a high school and even some boys in primary
schools, used to get married and a few of the high school
students were already fathers. An unmarried college student
was an unusual phenomenon! Gangadharpant was now in
need of money, and so he thought it a good opportunity to get
some out of his investments in the Saw-Mill Company at Ratna-
giri. In an appealing letter he wrote to Mr. Arthur Crawford
that he had sctiled the marriage of his son and as the day of the
marriage was drawing near, he urged him to be kind cnough
to remit him at least Rs. 800 on receipt of the letter. Craw-
ford by then had risen to the post of the Municipal Commis-
sioner of Bombay. A few months earlier he had informed all
the shareholders of the Saw-Mill Company that the company
was irrcparably involved in a loss amounting to Rs. 24,000.
He also tried to graft the company on a Government scheme,
but failed. So Crawford could do nothing in the matter. This
meant that Gangadharpant had lost his hard-carned money.
Thus Madhavrao Barve was the first officer and Crawford was
the second officer, who had troubled Bal’s father and it was
a freak of destiny that a decade later Bal also should have come
into collision with them.

Bal's marriage was performed at Chikhalgaon. The bride’s
name was Tapi. She was ten years old. Her father's family
lived at Ladghar, a village about ten miles from Chikhalgaon.
Both the bride and the bridegroom were motherless. The sur-
name of the bride’s family was Mahajan but they were called
Bals. They were a family well known in their village for hos-
pitality and religious charities. Once a gold trinket was found
in the grain brought for a beggar, and the head of the family
insisted upon giving the article to the beggar. It is said that
the bridegroom preferred good books to a gold ring as a pre-
sent from Ballalrao, his father-inlaw. And the father-inlaw
fulfilled the desire of his son-in-law. The bride was rather well-
built and looked stouter than the bridegroom. She was re-
named Satyabhama. The weaker constitution of Balwantrao
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became the butt of the jokes of his cass-mates and
colleagues.

Bal passed his annual examination and entered the Matric
class. Seven months later, Bal was deprived of the paternal
shelter also! Gangadharpant was taken ill and on August 31,
1871, he died of dropsy in Poona. He had done cverything he
could for his son and set him properly on the journey of life.
In his Will he had divided his property between his son and
his brother. He bequeathed Rs. 5,000 to his son and about
Rs. 2,500 to his brother and appointed his brother the executor
of his cstate till his son attained majority. Considering the
time and place, this was not a poor patrimony.

Left without parents, Bal continued to study as beforc. No-
body was now required to guide him. He passed his matri-
culation examination of Bombay University in December 1872,
As usual Bal could not win any distinction in the examination,
for he never studied with a view to scoring high marks. Among
the other successful candidates were Behramji Malbari, Nana-
saheb Deshmukh, Krishnarao Sharangapani, Dadasaheb Khap-
arde and others.



CHAPTER II
AIMS AND IDEALS

1

ALWANTRAO joined the Deccan College in Poona and six
Bmomhs later became a resident student. His girl-wife stayed
at his uncle’s in Poona. The same year G. S. Khaparde, D. A.
Khare and V. S. Apte also joined the college. It was the only
college in Maharashtra outside Bombay. The first thing Bal-
wantrao did after joining the college was to improve his health.
Health is the basis of all success in life. So he took assiduously
to physical exercise and went in for all sorts of cxercises. He
had no love for English games like cricket and tennis. He
spent his mornings in the gymnasium doing exercises such as
wrestling, boating or swimming and spent his evenings in other
outdoor games. For the whole year these exercises had become
his pastime. He had a genius for swimming. It was his
favourite practice to float in water for hours together, keeping
a loaf of bread in his hands entirely dry. His love for swim-
ming sometimes overflowed even in old age when he saw young
men struggling to master the art or when once in a blue moon
he snatched a moment out of his crowded life to have a dip.
During one of his latter-day visits to Banaras, he once swam
across the Ganges. At Sinhgad, during his restful days, he
sometimes taught young men the art by taking a series of somer-
saults himself and explained to them the tricks of the trade.
They were astonished at his excellence in the sport.

At the gymnasium he wrestled with Daji Abaji Khare with
whom he had formed at this time a lasting friendship. They
strove with each other till cither of them bore the palm. At
table their competition often ended in finishing almost all the
dishes in the kitchen of the club. Prior to this Balwantrao’s
food consisted of rice, ghee and dal. Now the menu broadened
into dishes prepared from wheat, grain and other cereals, plenty
of milk and fresh vegetables. His appetite was so much whet-
ted that when he went to Bombay for some time for his studies
the owner of the boarding-house told him that if he were
required to supply so much food to one man he would have to
close down his boarding-house! There is one point worth
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noting about the messtoom. When Balwantrao took his meals
he wore silken sacred dhoti in an orthodox manner. His love
for this silken dhoti was so overpowering that when after five
years he again stayed for his studies in the Deccan College
residency he became a member of the sacred club where mcals
were taken in this orthodox manner! In later life even in the
extreme cold of December he doggedly took his meals in this
orthodox style during the days of the Lahore and Banaras
sessions of the Congress. If anybody ridiculed the idea, he
hotly argued that the practice was observed for the preserva-
tion of the traditions, and he added that there was no harm
in doing it since Europeans also wore a particular dress when
they took dinner.

During the first year, studies thus did not occupy his main
time. Balwantrao attended lessons worth listening to, but
generally after the roll-call he deserted the lecture-room. One
day, caught by the Principal while playing truant, he straight-
way replied that he was not going to appear that year for the
examination. Necither was there any change in the method of
his study. He read for acquiring knowledge and whatever sub-
ject he touched he digested thoroughly. That does not mean
that like Vishnushastri Chiplunkar, hc neglected his text-
books. He had a great liking for the classical literature of
India whercin he roamed to his heart’s content. Asked by
Franz Kiclhorn, Professor of Sanskrit, why he did not attend
the Sanskrit lectures, he quietly replicd that his professor had
nothing to add to his knowledge! While he was studying in
the college, one Mr. G. W. Forrest was appointed Professor of
History and Political Economy. Mr. Forrest subsequently
taught Mathematics, but turned out to be a poor mathemati-
cian. The students therefore clamoured for a change! They
made a representation to the Principal, all putting their signa-
tures to it in a circular way so that the Principal might not be
able to detect the ring leader. Balwantrao and Khare were
the inventors of this artifice!

Balwantrao failed in his First Arts Examination in 1874, but
he succeeded in changing his physique beyond recognition.
The foundations of sound health so essential to any political
leader in his stormy life were thus laid by Balwantrao in one
year devoted to physical exercise. When he entered the college
he was a lean, spare figure with twinkling eyes and a massive
head shaven to the back where the hair grew in a long black
tuft. With his large, round, red turban, flowing long coat
with strings and the red Deccani shoes, Balwantrao was now a
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fine figure, robust, well-built, energetic and healthy. Some-
times he wore a special shirt with buttons on the shoulders,
which kept it tight on the chest. He used this shirt at the
time of taking bar exercises. At times he was found wearing
a dhoti only, his body barc above the waist.

Balwantrao often indulged in innocent pranks in his college
days. Those of his friends who were delicate in health and
fashionable in dress were his special targets. He forced them
to take open air excrcise. He undid their cosy beds, and threw
away their patent medicines and toilets; he locked their rooms
from inside and jumped out over the walls. One night during
a discussion on historical topics, they asked one another how
they would disappear at that very moment if occasion arose!
Everyone scratched his head but in the twinkling of an eye Bal-
wantrao jumped out of the window! His colleagues ran down
to see if he had broken his ribs and legs! To their amazement
they saw him coming upstairs in his usual gait! Because of
these interesting pranks and harmless mischief his companions
called him ‘ Devil ’, and for his dissecting bluntness and smash-
ing directness in speech and action they had nicknamed him
‘ Mr. Blunt’ which was the name of a character in Sir Walter
Scott’s Kenilworth.

In the second year Balwantrao turned his attention to his
studies. He pored over choice books in Sanskrit and Marathi,
and important books on History, Astronomy, Anatomy and
Physiology. His method of rcading was different from that of
ordinary students. Reading is the royal road to intellectual
eminence. His knowledge gave him power of thinking and
equipped his mind with the greatest intellectual energy of his
times. It fitted him for the role he was destined to play so
heroically.

Another point worth noting about his reading was that he
did not accept everything as established. Whatever he read, he
first weighed, scanned, dissected and then digested thoroughly.
His thirst for experimental knowledge also was insatiable. He
brought once into his study at home a bull’s head and heart
for study. As far as possible he did not make notes, but when
he did so it was to understand the kernel of a very hard ques-
tion or a very difficult subject. And so carefully were these
references treasured by him that later in life when men of learn-
ing, priests, essayists, doctors, or authors approached him for
his opinion on their works or for the solution of their doubts
and difficulties, he readily suggested improvements, or correc-
tions. If any further proof was required, he would step into
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his study and produce a tattered old note from one of his
treasured books or from one of his exercise books as if he had
kept it only a day or two earlier. The visitors would marvel
at his prodigious memory. On thesc profound and varied
studies rested the foundations of his future volcanic and varied
journalism and the fame of his myriad-sided personality.

)}

Two professors impressed Balwantrao with their learning and
character. They were Principal William Wordsworth and Pro-
fessor Kero Laxman Chhatre.  Mr. William Wordsworth was
Principal from 1862 to 1874. He was a grandson of the famous
English poct Wordsworth. He belonged to the old school of
liberalism and had faith in education and belief in progress!
He was devoted to learning and was quite unmindful of his
dress. He was kind-hearted and helped students; but when
they failed to answer his questions in the class-room, he some-
times abused them in language neither mecasured nor dignified.
He was later transferred to Bombay as Principal of the Elphin-
stone College. Balwantrao held him in high esteem. A self-
educated and sclf-made man, Chhatre was professor of mathe-
matics, and although not a graduate, he was raised to the posi-
tion of acting Principal of the college during the absence of
Mr. Oxenham. Chhatre was an embodiment of plain living
and high thinking. He was simple, sympathetic, unassuming,
and in his homely presence every student felt assured. He was
a mathematician of rcpute, and was a recognised authority on
astronomy!

There was another gentleman by name Mr. Jinsiwale, who
worked as a Fellow in the college. He was known as a walk-
ing encyclopaedia. He insisted that students should take down
notes of his valuable lectures which were a feast of knowledge
to students other than Balwantrao. So he did not take down
notes. This indifference on the part of Tilak angered Mr.
Jinsiwale. But Balwantrao proved his worth when Mr. K. B.
Pendse, a Fellow, who taught Sanskrit, asked his students to
compose a poem on a mother’s sorrow. Balwantrao composed
one. The depth and originality in Balwantrao’s poem sur-
passed the poems submitted by his classmates among whom were
reputed scholars like Vaman Shivram Apte. Although he
wrote some poems, Balwantrao was no poet. His nature did
not favour poetry, and music left him cold.

Balwantrao’s proficiency in mathematics and Sanskrit became
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known to all in the Deccan College. His striking originality
and compendious methods were noted with pride by Chhatre.
He predicted with confidence that Balwantrao would keep up
his reputation. When teachers or professors came to Chhatre
for solutions of knotty problems, the old professor directed
them to his disciple saying that Balwantrao would cut the
Gordian knot. And indeed he would do it in his terse way.

Balwantrao studied for one term at the Elphinstone College,
Bombay, in 1875. William Wordsworth was then the Principal
of the College. Mr. Hawthornwaite, Professor of Mathematics,
one day gave Balwantrao some knotty problems from the Cam-
bridge journal and to his surprise Tilak solved them all. His
mcthod at once impressed the Professor. He frankly admitted
that he never thought that Tilak would be able to solve them
all in such an original manner. Hawthornwaite, however,
could not get credit for the proficiency of Tilak when he heard
the latter’s displeasing remark that he was a disciple of Pro-
fessor Chhatre. Balwantrao did not feel interested in the
atmosphere of the Elphinstone College, and he returned to
Poona during the second term.

Although Balwantrao was revolving patriotic thoughts in his
mind, he never showed or tolerated any emotional extravagance
in those days. A college youth full of patriotic exuberance one
day trampled upon the picture of the Queen Empress of
Britain and expected Balwantrao’s approval and appreciation
of his patriotic deed. Balwantrao chastised the flamboyant
patriot saying that instead of displaying his love of freedom in
an unworthy manner the student-patriot should, like Sadashiv-
rao Bhau who hammered the Mogul throne, cherish an ambi-
tion of hammering the throne of England, or at least he should
work keeping such a goal constantly before his mind.

Another characteristic of Balwantrao was noted by his
friends. He was a queer blend of softness and hardness of
heart. When a student friend, whom he had nursed with the
loving care of a mother, died and one of his legs dropped down
from the pyre, Balwantrao, to the embarrassment of his col-
leagues, cut it up and threw the pieces into the blazing pyre!

Balwantrao did his First B.A. in 1875, and appeared for the
B.A. Examination in 1876, passing in the first class. He then
turned his attention to Law. As he was not enamoured of
Government service, he thought the profession of a lawyer
would enable him to lead an independent life. The roaring
practice and good name of the Bombay leader, Rao Saheb
Vishwanath Mandlik, was an example before him. Mandlik

2
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was a friend of his father and was on cordial terms with the
Tilak family. Balwantrao had continued to make courtesy calls
on Mandlik even after his father's death.

But his independent and sclf-respecting mind was dceply in-
fluenced by the tremor of revolt through which Maharashtra
was passing in those days. The Poona Sarvajanik Sabha,
whose guiding spirit was Ranade, had daringly arranged in
1875 for the defence of Malharrao Gaikwad, the Maharaja of
Baroda, who was threatened with deposition on a charge of
poisoning the British Agent. The petitions and memorials on
public grievances addressed by Ranade to the British Govern-
ment and the Quecen Empress through the Poona Sarvajanik
Sabha, and the public and patriotic activities of Ganesh Wasu-
dcorao Joshi, popularly known as Public Uncle—Sarvajanik
Kaka—were not less cncouraging. This Sarvajanik Kaka was
the first leader to take the vow of Swadeshi and propagate its
use; and he had been practising it himsclf since 1869. The
dhoti, the long flowing coat and the turban he wore, were all
made of home-spun cloth. He once saved the lawyers of Surat
from the wrath of Government. He had also offered his ser-
vices to the Government of India on the eve of the Afghan
War, apprising Lord Lytton of his desire to lead a Peace
Mission to Afghanistan!

Tilak applied himself for two years to the study of Law.
His prcparation for the LL.B. examination was not confined to
text-books only. He studied almost all the Smritis. This
study armed him with powerful arguments and this knowledge
proved useful to him when, a few years after, he entered the
social reform controversy with eminent authorities on Sanskrit
like Bhandarkar, Ranade and Telang. Well has it been said
that study with thought is a power whercas thought without
study is perilous or powerless.

While Tilak was for some months staying at the residency of
the Deccan College preparipg for the LL.B. examination, he
met Gopal Ganesh Agarkar, who was then studying for the
M.A. in the Deccan College. A student of moral philosophy
and logic, Agarkar had lost his faith in religion. The works
of Spencer and Mill bad tremendously influenced his mind.
One of the leading men of thought of his gencration, Agarkar
had almost completed his university education, struggling with
dire penury and encountcring crushing misery from his earliest
years. In his boyhood he pounded drugs, did some other odd
jobs to support himself, and trotted miles and over hills in
scarch of support for his education. While at college he could
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not afford to have two shirts at a time. The one he had, he
used to wash in the night and wear in the daytime. Subsist-
ing upon little subscriptions, scholarships, prizes and the earn-
ings of his pen, he took the B.A. degree in 1878 through the
same collcge. But no sooner did he obtain the degree than
he wrote to his mother that she might be expecting her son
to become an M.A. and to bring in wealth, but she should not
expect much of him by way of money and ease. He hat'i
decided, he added, to turn his back upon money and happi-
ncss and to dedicate his life to the uplift of his countrymen.
He told his maternal uncle about his future plan of starting a
college. The latter jeered at him and laughed away the idea!
Agarkar told him that Shivaji’s ambition to frec Maharashtra
from Muslim domination was likewise ridiculed by his com-
patriots as a mad venture. And true to his aim Agarkar soon
stood out as one of the founders of a college and rose to the
position of its Principalship.

Just at this time Wasudeo Balwant Phadke had risen, with
the help of Ramoshis and Bhills, in armed revolt against the
British rule. His revolt rocked Maharashtra to its bottom
from March to May 1879 and struck terror into the hcarts of
the British rulers. The news of his revolt thrilled the Indian
and Europcan newspapers. For some time Tilak had attendecd
the athletic classes of Phadke, who had been, four or five years
prior to his revolt, striving to infuse the military spirit in Poona
youth. Omnec of Tilak's relations had participated in the revolt
of Phadke. Naturally Phadke’s revolutionary deeds, the failure
of his armed revolt, and his arrest in the last week of July 1879,
must have tremendously influenced the strong minds and
patriotic souls of Tilak and Agarkar and ignited the flame of
patriotism in their minds that werc independently pondering
over the deplorable state to which their country had been
reduced by forcign rule.

Men of like views gather together. When Tilak and Agarkar
knew each other’s mettle and mind they discussed as to what
should be done for the uplift of their countrymen. It was
Agarkar’s belief that India would not rise unless she was free
from casteisin and religious superstitions and unless she adopted
a pattern of society based on rationalism. Tilak, who repre-
sented essentially the Indian mind, opined that social reforms
could only be a growth from within, and hasty methods would
retard their growth. It was his confirmed view that the ills of
the nation demanded political reforms and not immediate social
reforms. Even in the matter of social changes, he observed,
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reformers would be compelled to fight with the forcign Govern-
ment. At last they agreed to stand on a common platform.
It was the education of the people, and they made a resolve to
take up the problem. Tilak was of the opinion that there would
be no genuine progress until the education of the people was
taken up by the representatives of the people. It was the belief
of Agarkar that they would reach their goal only through that
kind of education which helped them in putting an end to
casteism and creating a sense of cquality among the people.

There were about a hundred students recciving higher educa-
tion in that college, but these two students alone were alive to
the miserable and shameful condition under which their coun-
trymen were groaning. They would often take long walks on
the moonlit hills of Sadilbova in the ncighbourhood of the
college, thinking not of their own prosperity, but of the destiny
of their countrymen. It is onc thing, although useful in its
own way, to turn to the scrvice of the nation after amassing
money and enjoying the feel of happiness o the brim, or after
being involved involuntarily or helplessly by pressure of cvents;
and it is another thing to take up spontancously the cudgel
for a downtrodden people without a thought of the sclf!

it

The question whether social reform should take precedence
over political reform, arosc in India after the conquest of India
by the British. The new pattern of Government, the new kind
of education, the new branches of science, the new types of
machines, which accompanied British rule, deeply impressed the
first Indian generation under that regime. These emblems of
European civilisation filled Indians with awe. They believed
that British rule was a divine dispensation. As a result of this
a violent reaction sct in against Hinduism and against all the
meaningless accretions of customs and prejudices it had hugged
for centuries.

The men of learning from the new generation with their
knowledge of Western culture and of Christian religion suffered
from an inferiority complex, and attacked their own religious
and social instiiutions which encouraged for centuries Sali,
upheld child marriage, forbade widow re-marriage, allowed self-
immolation on the bank of the Ganges, and continued infanticide
and sacrifice of men to propitiate the gods. They therefore
ascribed their political scrvitude to these conditions. This con-
flict of two civilisations ended in confusing the first generation
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and to some cxtent dazzled it. The Christian missionaries, who
established Bible Societies and educational institutions, unfurled
the flag of Christianity in India through the wilful connivance
and indircct support of the Christian rulers. The aim of the
American Marathi Mission as described- by one of its leaders was
* the language of the Marathas, as well as the people themselves,
must be Christianised.”* Describing the situation Frederick
John Shore wrote in his Notes on Indian Affairs: * 1 believe
there is a very general feeling among the people that some great
crisis is at hand in their religious polity; and that the common
belief is, that Hinduism will be supplanted by Christianity.” 2
Falling a victim to missionary propaganda, some of the new
pundits went over to Christianity, and later on some of them
yearned to return to the Hindu fold, being disillusioned about
the greatness of Christianity.

All, however, were not worshippers of cverything that was
British and haters of all that was Indian. The missionary tide
began to ebb when Raja Ram Mohan Roy introduced a re-
formed church in Hinduism for its r¢juvenation, when Balshastri
Jambhekar, the first Marathi journalist and reformer in
Maharashtra, stood up for reforming Hinduism and when the
first missionary Hindu leader, Vishnubuva Brahmachari, met the
missionary challenge in the social and religious field, vanquish-
ing them in debates and discussions. It is surprising to note that
the writings of this virile Vishnubuva dwelling on the Vedic
Philosophy are tinged with some idecas of Communism. During
this period another social revolutionary, Jotiba Phule, raised
the standard of revolt, declaring that social cquality and spread
of education among the masses constituted the rcal solution of
the people’s ills. Jotiba Phule rang the bell of social reform
in Maharashtra. He gave Poona its first Girls’ School and
blessed India in 1852 with her first school for the Untouchables.
He strove for the liquidation of the power, privileges and
prestige of the Brahmins and for the liberation of the lower
classes from social slavery. To propagate his mission he estab-
lished an institution named the Satya Shodhak Samaj.

Another reformer Lokahitwadi Gopalrao Deshmukh, author
of a number of books and pamphlets, fearlessly attacked
Brahmins who were, according to him, stagnant, decadent and
unprogressive. He  welcomed the machine -age, favoured

"I;cvctend Bruce: The Literary Work of the American Marathi Mission,

"2 Fr'cdcrick John Shore: Notes on Indian Affairs, Vol. 11, p. 467.
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swadeshi, and appealed to Brahmins to revise their knowledge in
the light of the modern sciences. His vision was clear enough
to foresee Indians liberating themselves when they would be
prepared to accept the responsibility of Government, and if at
that time the British denied them freedom they would free
themselves from the shackles of slavery by following the examples
of the people of the US.A. But the doyen of thesc reformers
was Mahadeo Govind Ranade. He was a mighty intellect, a
man of great vision, broad mind, prodigious industry and vast
learning, an eminent economist and historian, and onc of India’s
greatest thinkers of his day. He aimed at reorganising Hindu
socicty on the basis of justice and reason, which implied a
freedom from race, creed and prejudices, and a devotion to all
that sccks to do justice between man and man.  Long before
the birth of the Indian National Congress, he had, as we have
already noted, begun to educate the public on Indian affairs by
submitting petitions and memorials to the British Parliament
and the Queen-Empress through the Sarvajanik Sabha, Poona.
He was one of the pioncers of the Prarthana Samaj, which in
those days, like its sister branch, the Brahmo Samaj of Keshav
Chandra Sen, had more or less Christianity as its pattern.  But
unlike Dadabhai Naoroji, Ranade laid more stress on indus-
trialisation which depended on British capital. Dadabhai was
persistent in showing that political slavery was the root cause
of cconomic slavery, and he often declared that British statesmen
and capitalists were draining India under the opiate of the
liberal idcas of English social philosophers. About this time
Dayananda Saraswati also started his Arya Samaj to infusc a
new lifc into the Hindus. All these institutions contributed
to the national awakening. In short, the teaching of these re-
formers, Lokahitwadi, Phule and Ranade had some points in
common. They welcomed the new machine age, secular educa-
tion, the spirit of enquiry; they propagated abolition of casteism
and child-marriage, and encouraged widow re-marriage.

The most striking point, however, in respect of thesc social
rcformers of the past two generations under the British regime
was that cxcept Phule, who could not receive any higher educa-
tion, cvery one of them was a Government servant.  Lokahitwadi
Deshmukh was a judge. So was Ranade. The works of
Lokahitwadi could not create in those days a favourable impres-
sion upon the Brahmins to whom most of his writings were
addressed, as his writings were brutally frank and direct,
although his diagnosis of the social disease was correct. Ranade
had introduced multifarious activitics; but as he was a Govern-
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ment servant he had to be cautious and moderate, and so he
could not be popular with the masses. It was not that he was
liked by the Government either. The essay ‘On Shivaji’s
system of Administration and British system of Administration’
which he wrote in one of his college examinations, and his
various public activities had given cause for suspicion. His
loyalty was suspected at the time of Phadke’s revolt.  Above all,
the emphasis laid by Lokahitwadi and Ranade on the intro-
duction of social reforms and their harping on the defects of
Hindu society without their lcading an active social movement
had an irritating effect upon the educated men of the younger
generation. Most of the lcaders of social rcforms neither
practised what they preached, nor made any sacrifice for their
principles.

One cnergetic man from the younger generation came forward
to challenge both the Christian missionarics and the social
reformers.  His name was Vishnushastri Chiplunkar. Hc was
the son of Krishnashastri Chiplunkar, who was an eminent
scholar and onc of the recognised leaders of the intellectual
world in Poona and whose house was the refuge of learned
men. Born in 1850, Vishnushastri obtained the B.A. degree in
1872.  His mastery of the Marathi and English languages was
remarkable. He was a student of English literature and com-
pared Western education to the milk of the tigress, as it imbued
the students with the priceless virtues of freedom, patriotism
and science. While serving as a teacher he started in January
1874 a magazine called Nibandiimnala and launched through its
columns a frontal attack on Christian missionary activities. He
mercilessly criticised the social reformers who found fault with
Hinduism and its institutions and whose ideas were more or less
influenced by Christianity. The Nibandhmala was a great
SUCCCSS.

At this juncture some other events occurred that also fanned
the fire of patriotism in the minds of the young generation.
The resistance to Russian aggression by Turkey, the rout of the
British Army in Afghanistan, the glory of the ancient Indian
scriptures sung by European scholars like Monier Williams, Max
Miiller, William Jones, Henry Colebrook, Charles Wilking,
Goethe and Schlegel, and the assumption of the new title
Kaiser-i-Hind by Qucen Victoria amidst the yells of the famine-
stricken masses, inflamed the minds of young men who were
scized with a gnawing restlessness over their shameful conditions.
A writer of grcat power and brilliant abilities, Chiplunkar gave
an impetus to this fecling and stirred the hearts of the young
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by his volcanic writings. Deeply influenced by the styles of
Addison and Johnson, he attacked the social reformers with a
force, incisiveness and violence that was unprecedented in
Maharashtra. The Rao Sahebs, the Rao Bahadurs and the
Reverends quivered under the lashes of his pen. By appealing
to the glorious past Chiplunkar imbued young mcen with a fiery
patriotism that soon inspired numerous patriots with intrepid
courage to fight for the emancipation of their motherland. The
result was l}ldl although no cqual of Ranade in greatness of
vision, profundity of thought, and depth of erudition, Chiplun-
kar, with his forceful, fiery and unstinted personality, ushered
in a mental revolution in Maharashtra. But as his appeal to
the young sprang from his love of tradition and history,
Chiplunkar, in his extreme opposition to the social reformers,
often defended and sheltered the defects of Hinduism and Hindu
institutions, and went to the length of saying that the Hindus
were reduced to slavery not because they had any defects and
deficiencies, but because of their illduck. Ranade aimed at
reforming society; Chiplunkar wanted to rouse the people.
Chiplunkar preached a cult, whereas Ranade prescribed a cure
from within. Ranade’s qualitics had more light than heat in
them, whereas Chiplunkar had more heat than light in his
writings. Ranade had before him the ideal of Britain that had
cvolved a great Democracy. Chiplunkar had before him the
history of countries that had fought for their independence and
become free mations! In the light of his noble principles,
Ranade wanted to prepare the people for the coming Swaraj,
whercas Chiplunkar always harked back to the Swaraj of the
past with an eye on future independence! Both Ranade and
Chiplunkar were instructors and inspirers of the two schools
of thought they founded!



CHAPTER III

THE TRIO

IN conformity with their resolve Agarkar and Tilak began to
think out ways and means of establishing private schools on
the model of missionary institutions. They wrote to Ranade,
who had been summarily transferred to Dhulia on suspicion
that he bad a hand in the revolt of Phadke, requesting his
advice and support. Ranade suggested to them either to take
over a certain Bhave School which was not working properly
or to give a scrious thought to their proposal for at least six
months before they started a new school. Though their object
was a laudable one, he observed, people would not come to
their assistance until they had done some actual work. He
added that the country would not be emancipated unless it had,
like America, its national press, national education and national
church.

At this time Tilak and Agarkar came to know that the cele-
brated Vishnushastri Chiplunkar was thinking of starting a
school in Poona. Upon his father's death Chiplunkar had
come on leave to Poona in May 1879 from Ratnagiri where he
was scrving as a teacher in the Government High School. He
had now resolved to snap asunder the chains of Government
service and to start a school of his own with a view to preparing
a genceration that would devote their lives to the uplift of their
motherland. Tilak and Agarkar met him first somewhere in
July or August 1879. After some mectings they tendered their
proposals in Scptember for joining him in the cnterprise and
requested him to take the lead. Chiplunkar welcomed the
idea and agreed. He had decided to resign his post from st
October 1879 and informed the Government educational
authorities accordingly. So cager was he to bid farewell to his
job that towards the end of September 1879 he wrote to his
brother: *“ The memorable Ist of October is approaching. I
shall enjoy the pleasure of kicking off my chains that day. Mr.
Agarkar (going for M.A.), Mr. Tilak (going for LL.B.), Mr.
Bhagwat and Mr. Karandikar (appearing for B.A.) have ten-
dered proposals for joining me in the enterprise. This they
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have donc of their own accord. We have settled 1st of January
for the hoisting of the standard. Such a battery must carry
the High School instantancously before it!”

In the meanwhile Wasudeo Balwant’s historic trial took place
at Poona from October 22, 1879 to November 7, 1879. It was
witnessed with patriotic emotions and helpless anger by thou-
sands of pcople, and followed with anxious hcarts all over
India, and with interest by the press and political leaders in
Britain. Sarvajanik Kaka came forward daringly to defend
Wasudeo Balwant in the Lower Court, and then an eminent
Maharashtrian lawyer, Mr. Mahadeo Chimnaji Apte, defended
him in the Sessions Court. But Wasudeo Balwant was sen-
tenced to transportation for life. He later on passed away in
jail at Aden on the 17th Fcbruary 1883.

Thus one revolt came to an end and another was about to
break out. Having broken the chains of his service, (Chiplunkar
issued a prospectus over his own signature on December 15,
1879, supplying people with the details of the proposed school.
As announced. Chiplunkar formally opened the New English
School on January 1, 1880, and hoisted the standard! The
school started its work next day at the Wada of Morobadada
Phadnis. Agarkar could not join it on account of his failure
in the M.A. examination. Tilak, at first, was, it seems, not
firm in his resolve. It is not known why he was hesitating.
It might be due to the failure of Agarkar in joining the school.
But he joined on the first day as promised, and others like
Dharap, Damle and Khare joined the school as tcachers.
Amongst them was also Mr. Namjoshi who, being a resource-
ful, encrgetic and intelligent man, proved to be an asset to the
school. Hc was a matriculate but made good his deficiency in
academic qualifications by the power of his pen and tongue, and
above all, by his outstanding ability as an organiser.

Chiplunkar unfurled the standard of the New English School
with 35 students on its roll. It was a New School in every
sense of the term. It was a new school of thought, of action
and of cnergy! The unfurling of the standard implied the
declaration of war, the will to fight against the existing condi-
tions and particularly against the submissive attitude on the
part of the pcople to the foreign rule. There werc other
schools in Poona conducted by private individuals. But this
school was specially started to infusc sclf-respect in the youth,
a sense of patriotism and love for industry and enterprise and to
prepare them for the service of the nation. Another important
point was that the young teachers established a new tradition
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in Maharashtra, a tradition of selfless work, whereas the
leaders of the first two generations served Government as best
and as long as they could do so. Thus in Poona a new centre
of patriotic, fearless and selfless men was created that would
challenge the lukewarm policy of Ranade, would stand erect
before the British burcaucrats and talk and behave with them
with a sense of equality.

Tilak had passed his LL.B. examination and the degrce of
Bachelor of Laws was conferred on him in January 1880. He
had started an independent establishment at Tambe'’s Wada in
Shaniwar Peth, Poona. During the first term of the school, his
mind, however, was gauging the situation very carcfully. May-
be for being a lite disappointed in his surroundings, or maybe
as a matter of precaution, Tilak paid visits with Mr. Upasani,
who was his former classmate, to some places in Maharashtra
with a view to settling as a lawyer if need arose. He also
applied on 25th May 1880 to the Governor of Bombay for the
post of a sub-judge. Mr Hart, Private Sccretary to the Gov-
ernor, wrote to Tilak: “In reply to your application of the
25th instant the Governor desires me to inform you that your
name has been entered in the list of the candidates for the
appointment of sub-judges.”* He was thercupon asked to call
upon the Governor at the Government House, but he was, it
appears, not in a position to avail himself of that opportunity.
It is a historical fact that every man is unconsciously influenced
by the traditions in which he is born and by the surroundings
in which he is brought up. Tilak was going the way the
educated men of the two gencrations before him had gone.
But the greatness of a man lies in manfully overcoming those
influences and surroundings. And Tilak did it sclflessly and
valiantly!

In July 1880 Sarvajanik Kaka died and his son-inlaw Vaman
Shivaram Apte was obliged by circumstances to stay in Poona.
A fatherless and penniless lad, Apte had struggled hard to com-
plete his education. On pressing requests from Tilak, this
renowned scholar now joined the New English School, though
only six months carlier he had declined to do so. After a few
days he was appointed Supcrintendent on a slightly higher
salary as a special case, Chiplunkar himself remaining the Head-
master of the school. A born teacher and a strict disciplinarian,
Apte raised the tone of the school to a high standard. One
important feature of the school, besides its patriotic atmos-

I N. R. Phatak in the Vividhadnyan Vistar of September 1924.
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phere, was the development of physical culture. The number
on the rolls began to rise by leaps and bounds. Boys who
werce enamoured of the great writer and patriot in Chiplunkar
abandoned even their scholarships in other schools to join his
school, and some did so on winning the consent of their parents
with a struggle.

On the cve of the closing of the school for the summer
vacation Chiplunkar obscerved that his school had made tre-
mendous progress and was now ‘‘an accomplished fact amidst
a thousand difficulties, amidst apathy, in utter disregard of
desponding opinions, in contemptuous indifference to showers
of epithets like ‘mad’, ‘hopeless’, ‘chimerical’, ‘Utopian’,
the invariable lot of everyone who would be so bold as to dis-
turb the dull routine of things in spite of mecan device and
disappointed malice .

They were men of undying faith determined to carry out
their mission at all cost. Nothing is impossible for men of
faith!

Agarkar joined the school in January 1881, the beginning of
the second year. A few days carlier all the collcagues were
invited by Apte to dinc at his house on the occasion of the
death anniversary of his father. On this occasion they fully
discussed the possibility of launching two weeklies—one in
Marathi and the other in English—to educate the people on
public affairs. How keen was Chiplunkar on this project also
is scen from a letter written by him about this time to one of
his teacher-collcagues. He said: “I am to try what might be
done for public good with the instrumentality of a press esta-
blishment worked by a vigorous hand.” Chiplunkar had
alrcady purchased on instalments the press of Namjoshi, who
was conducting the Deccan Star, his own paper. It was decided
to name the Marathi weckly the Kesari—the Lion, and to name
the English weekly the Mahralta, for a Mahratta has been
known as an indefatigable fighter for the honour of his coun-
try. In the public announcement about the weeklies it was
declared that the aims and objects of their weeklies were to
give a fearless account of the existing condition of the country,
to give reviews of Indian books and to give correct estimates of
political affairs in Britain.

At that time therc werce about two hundred newspapers in
India. Of them the Dnyanprakash, established in 1849, the
Induprakash, in 1862, the Native Opinion and the Subodh
Patrika were important provincial papers and had some in-
fluence on the public in the Bombay Presidency. There were
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28 Indian language papers in Bengal, 71 in Bombay Presidency,
19 in Madras and about 60 in other provinces. Lord Lytton,
the Viceroy of India, who wanted to silence all criticism of
Government in the Press had promulgated in 1878 the Verna-
cular Press Act. This had provoked bitter opposition. To
avoid the clutches of the law the Amrit Bazar Patrika was con-
verted into an English daily overnight.  In Southern India The
Hindu had made its appearance and the agitation against
Lytton’s Vernacular Press Act spread. When Macaulay drafted
the Indian Penal Code, * sedition” had already crept into the
body of the law, and cditors came within the mischief and pur-
view of the Act.

The Anglo-Indian newspapers served as spokesmen of British
Impcrialism and amongst them were the Times of India,
Bombay; the Madras Mail; the Pioneer, Lucknow; the States-
man, Calcutta; and the Civil and Military Gazette, Lahore.

Chiplunkar, Tilak and Agarkar decided to start their weeklies
on the 2nd and 4th of January 1881. On the eve of the publi-
cation of the Kesari and the Mahratta Tilak and his colleagues,
on account of their diffcrences with the owner of the building
in which the Press was housed, carried the type cases on their
heads to Moroba’s Wada, and on the morning of the publica-
tion of these papers, Tilak and his friends distributed the copies
of the papers to the subscribers. The Editor of the Kesari was
Agarkar and the cditor of the Mahratta was Tilak. The
Deccan Star of Namjoshi was incorporated with the Mahratta.
The office of the editors was quite bare, where blankets served
as writing tables. Thus by starting a school, Chiplunkar, Tilak
and Agarkar had begun to educate the younger generation, and
by launching the papers they now sct out to educate the older
generation on public affairs.

i

The school was going on well. It was making progress in
many directions. In order that children should attain a cer-
tain intellectual standard by the time they reached the high
school stage, these young men started, in the beginning of 1882,
a preparatory class. They made the instruction of that class
more interesting and more systematic and less rigid. Tilak
taught Mathematics and also Sanskrit. Although a brilliant
mathematician, Tilak never took the trouble to use the black-
board. He sat on his chair, his grave dignified face looking
always downward. His teaching, according to some of his
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students, although intelligent, was not easily intelligible and
intcresting. The notable point as regards Tilak as a teacher
was that he always considered the demands of students favour-
ably. They, therefore, flocked to him, consulted him on im-
portant matters, and cven returned home in the company of
their teacher. Nevertheless, he examined neither the exercise
books nor the question papers in time. Agarkar taught in an
attractive manner. Apte was a born teacher. The mind of
Chiplunkar was distracted gradually from his school. He had
to manage his Chitrashala, Kitabkhana and his Nibandhmala.
As a teacher he scldom kept to the text-books, and dwelt on
many other topics in his peculiar vein! By nature he was reti-
cent and industrious, but now he looked spent and distracted
concerning the school affairs.

The group had now to conduct a school, two weeklies and a
press.  Everything had to be done anew. The work was heavy
and it put a great strain on the energies of all. But the work-
ing became smooth as the members were full of youthful
energy and everyone of them was given work suited to his tem-
perament.  The Society needed good school books and in the
first year Tilak wrote a book on Mechanics. He had also
accepted the Secrctaryship of the Inmamdar's Association. One
thing deserves mention here, that Tilak obtained a lawyer’s
sanad in July 1881 to practisc at Poona Courts. 1t was a forma-
tive period and it must have been a logical step taken as a
matter of course.

The fearless champions of the people’s cause watched the
administration of the native States as well as that of the British
Provinces. During the first year most of the articles in the
Kesari and Mahratta dealt with the affairs in the native States
of Baroda and Kolhapur. The Mahratta appcaled to Lord
Ripon to set about reforming the Political Agents and try to
give constitutional Government to the Indian States. The
Kesar: launched an attack on Sir T. Madhavrao, the Dewan of
Baroda, for having neglected the interests of the Maharaja, who
was a minor, and for the Dewan’s rank partiality for the British
rule.

The affairs of the Kolhapur State also engaged the minds of
the young editors. Since 1877 the adopted Prince Shivajirao had
been showing signs of suspected insanity. It was rumoured that
the Dewan, Mr. Barve, spurred by the Maharani, was concoct-
ing plans to remove him from the Gadi by deposing him or by
administering dangerous drugs to him. The people of Kolha-
pur had given vent to their feelings at a meeting, and a similar
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big meeting was held at Poona in November 1881 under the
presidentship of Lokahitavadi Gopalrao Deshmukh. The meet-
ing demanded that the Prince should be placed under a new
guardianship.

The Kesar: published a series of articles accusing Mr. Barve
of taking underhand mecasures to cause the insanity of the
Maharaja, and thus exposed Mr. Barve as the villain of the
picce. An editorial in the Kesari by Apte challenged him to
prove his innocence before a Court of Law. These editors also
sent to Government a petition against Barve praying Govern-
ment to keep a watch on him, so that he might not commit
suicide to avoid a public enquiry. But in spite of this Barve was
made a C.LLE.! Barve sucd the cditors and publishers of the
Kesari and Mahratta and that of the Dnyanprakash contending
that the published letters were mere fabrications got up in
order to defame him. Barve's arch-opponent was one Nana
Bhide, who had been refused permission by Barve to practise
as a lawyer at Kolhapur on account of his not having passcd
the qualifying examination. So he had an axe to grind and
fabricated the plot in collaboration with the natural mother
of the Prince.

The case came up for hearing on February 8, 1882, before
Mr. Webb, the Chief Presidency Magistrate of Bombay, and on
Fcbruary 29, 1882, two men came forward to stand security for
Tilak and Agarkar, the editors. One was a Bombay business-
man Annasaheb Nene and the other Mr. Uravane, the latter
being prompted to do so by Mahatma Phule.

At this time another calamity overtook the young editors.
They suffered a severe shock on March 17, 1882, when Chiplun-
kar, the prime founder and originator of the New English
School, died, having nursed it up for two years and three
months. A great literary figure, he really deserved the self-coined
title “ the Shivaji of the Marathi language ”.  After Dnyaneshwar
he was one of the greatest literary figures who ushered in
an epoch in the history of the Marathi language. He was only
thirty-two when he died, and although he left behind no issue,
the child institution he left behind grew into a vast institution
that produced scveral leaders and journalists. It was his devout
wish that no white fect should ever touch his institution and
indecd no white feet did touch it in his lifetime. His famous
essay The Present Condition of our Country had thrilled the
hearts of patriots and some years later this essay was proscribed
by the Government! Bewailing the loss of Chiplunkar, the
Kesari observed: “ Our good friends sometimes used to call the
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five of us in jest by the namec of Graduate Panchayatan—
Graduate Quintette or Graduate Pandavas. Cruel death has
carricd to his domain our eldest brother Dharma; the head-bead
of the string is lost. But we are hopeful that our firm and
deliberate resolve to strive to elevate our country will not
relax.” It added: “ Nothing preyed upon the heart of Vishnu-
shastri so much as our country’s political bondage and poverty.”

In the Barve Defamation case Tilak and Agarkar werc com-
mitted to Sessions and the hearing of the case commenced in
the Bombay High Court from July 16, 1882. There were two
cases against Tilak. In onc he was alone and in the other he
was co-accused with Agarkar. European Barristers appeared
for Barve, and Mr. Branson and the rising Bombay legal lumi-
nary Telang defended Tilak and Agarkar. Those leading men
on whose scrutiny and approval the accused had published the
so-called original documents and those who had supplied them
with the information, appealed to the accused not to disclose
their names during the proceedings. Meanwhile Nana Bhide,
Keshav Bakhale, and Wamanrao Ranade of Dnyanprakash were
found guilty, and on July 7 Tilak and Agarkar tendered an
unqualificd apology to Barve for the false statements they had
made concerning him in their papers, stating that “it was
established at the trial that the letters were fabricated and that
their greatest punishment would be the feeling they had been
the causc of so much undeserved pain and anxiety to Barve .
Barve was, however, adamant and did not withdraw the case.

Mr. Inverarity read the apology in the Court. Telang defend-
ed Tilak but the jury found him guilty, and on July 17, he
was sentenced to four months’ imprisonment. Branson, who
stood for Agarkar, advised him to plead guilty. He did so. So
he also was sentenced to four months’ imprisonment and Tilak
being a co-accused was sentenced to an equal term but his two
terms were to run concurrently. The Judge, however, declared
them free from malignity but not from recklessness.

Tilak and Agarkar were at once taken from the court in a
closed carriage, and were lodged at the Dongri Jail in Bombay.
Anglo-Indian papers like the Times of India were hostile to
these editors. They defended Barve and averred that the
Kolhapur Prince was really insane. The public was sympa-
thetic, and admired the courage of the young leaders in defend-
ing the Prince belonging to the dynasty of Shivaji the Great.
People subscribed to the fund which was collected for their
defence. Students also did their utmost to collect funds. And
it was a strange freak of fate that G. K. Gokhale, who later
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became Tilak’s political opponent, should have acted a female
part in a play staged by the students of the Rajaram College,
Kolhapur, the proceeds being sent to the fund raised for the
defence of Tilak and Agarkar.

The agitation for collecting funds did not stop even after the
conviction of Tilak and Agarkar. It took the form of a move-
ment for their release. Mr. William Wordsworth, the then
Principal of the Elphinstone College, and Rao Saheb Mandlik
forwarded a petition to Sir James Fergusson, the Governor of
Bombay, to save the young cditors from the rigours of gaol life,
but the Government turned it down. 'The Govermment of Sir
James Fergusson had kept mum about this and had neither
helped the defence side in any way in compcelling the Kolhapur
witnesses to attend the Bombay Court nor had intervened in
the proceedings.  People were full of sympathy, and the Deena-
bandhu, the mouthpiece of Jotiba Phule, declared that the
public should accord a magnificent welcome to the young
patriotic editors on their release.

Both the prisoners lived in the same cell which measured
135 15 {eet.! 'The prison food was nauseating. Agarkar, who
was an asthmatic, could not digest some part of the food.
Moved at this, Tilak requested the jail superintendent’s per-
mission to give Agarkar that portion of his food which his col-
league could digest, and himself took the remaining portion
from both the plates. The prison walls were full of bugs and
fleas. So they passed sleepless nights.  In spite of these discom-
forts they sat till late in the night discussing future plans, com-
paring notes, reviewing past mistakes, exchanging their opinions
of men and social problems. In the heat which the discussion
engendered over social problems they often lost sight of jail
rulcs, and the warder would mildly remonstrate with them to
curb their Joud voices.

Jail life hung heavily upon both. About a month later they
were, however, allowed the use of pen and paper. That was a
soothing factor more to Agarkar, who had a liking for writing,
than to Tilak, who put pen to paper only when it was unavoid-
able.  Jail life impaired their health. Tilak lost twenty-four
pounds and Agarkar fared no better! The only outcome of
jail life was a translation of Shakespeare’s Hamlet in Marathi
by Agarkar, and the Our 101 Days in Dongri Jail, another book
written by Agarkar after their release which occurred on
October 26, 1882.

! Now a slab is fixed there in memory of the illustrious prisoners.

3
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On the morning of 26th October one benefactor took a
barber into the jail to give a refreshing look to the heroes.
After their release both editors were taken out in a procession
by about two thousand people who were waiting outside the
gate of the jail since early morning. Mr. Lokhande, the editor
of the Deenabandhu, and Mr. Damodar Yande took a lcading
part in honouring the heroes. While the procession was going
on, people garlanded and honoured the heroes at different
places on the way. Poona also planned to present the rcturn-
ing heroes with an address of welcome. A batch of about
seventy Deccan College students went ahead to Kirkee, and
greeted their leaders with grateful tears in their eyes. A vast
crowd thronged the Poona station. A procession was taken out,
and Tilak and Agarkar were made the recipients of tributes
at many places on the way. In the cvening a special function
was held under the auspices of the Sarvajanik Sabha to accord
them a grand reception. It was at onc such function that
Mahatma Phule honoured the two great patriots. Responding
to the overwhelming kindness of the pcople, they said that
although they had undergone trials and tribulations they would
not deviate from their rightcous path and sought co-operation
from the younger gencration in their efforts. A few days after
the Deccan College students invited the young cditors to a
party, which they attended. Thanking the students for the
honour, the editors advised them to think over the helpless con-
dition of their country, and added that life was meant for better
and higher things and not for mere enjoyment.

944

Tilak and Agarkar resumed their work on October 28, 1882,
and were glad to sec that through the unflagging exertions of
Karandikar and V. B. Kelkar, their school had kept up its posi-
tion intact. Tilak and Agarkar were now celebrities. Pecople
said they were proud of the young lions. With their names
spread the names of their institutions. The spirit of self-
reliance displayed and sacrifices made by the members of the
society, their moral courage, the brilliant success of their stu-
dents in winning the famous Nana Shankershet Sanskrit
Scholarship, the spirit of discipline, and the patriotic atmos-
phere in the school, greatly impressed the visitors. The Hunter
Commission, appointed by the Government of India to examine
into the prevailing educational system in India, paid a visit to
the School, on September 8, 1882, and expressed supreme satisfac-
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tion over the wonderful spirit and progress shown by the
School. Praising the work of the zealous, able and intelligent
educated youth actuated by ideas of seclf-support and self-
dependence, Dr. Hunter, the Chairman of the Commission, fur-
ther remarked: “I can with certainty affirm that throughout
the whole of India I have not yet witnessed a single institution
of this nature which can be compared with this establishment.
This institution, though not receiving any aid from Govern-
ment, can rival and compete with success, not only with the
Government High Schools in this country, but may compare
favourably with the schools of other countrics.”* The Times
of India, the sentinel of the British Empire, foretold that the
institution was destined to have a momentous effect on the
future of India.

V. S. Apte, the superintendent of the school, while giving
evidence before the Hunter Commission, submitted a state-
ment which was prepared by Tilak and Agarkar just on the cve
of the judgment in the Kolhapur case. It embodied the ideas
and idcals of the promoters of the school. The statement said
that they had undertaken the cause of popular education
“ because, of all agencies of human civilisation, education is the
only one that brings about material, moral and religious rc-
generation of fallen countries and raises them to the level of the
most advanced nations by slow and pcaceful revolutions ”, and
so it should be in the hands of the people themselves. The
statement protested against the teaching of the Bible in aided
Missionary Schools and Colleges as militating against the prin-
ciple of religious ncutrality enunciated in the Despatch of 1854,
and added that the Bombay Government itself had declined to
give grants to missionary schools for more than ten years after
1854, but a complete rcversal of policy then took place, and
grants were given freely even to the institutions that made
attendance at the Bible class compulsory.? The missionary in-
stitutions, the statement proceeded, did not represent indi-
genous enterprise, nor were their objects purely educational,
and they should not be admitted to grants if they did not stop
the teaching of the Bible or any other scriptural books and im-
part purely sccular education to the students. The chief aim
of this body of workers, continued the statcment, in the New
English School was the establishment of a native Educational

LP. M. Limaye: The History of the Deccan Education Society, p. 7.
2 Ibid, p. 43. ’
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Mission to provide a nctwork of national system of education.
In the cnd the statement expressed a hope that Government
would transfer the sccondary education and, if possible, college
education also to popular control and aid solidly the popular
institutions.

The object of these young educationists was evident.  In those
days the Government always stated that it did not invest
Indian people with political rights because the people were not
sufficiently educated. When the people clamoured for education,
it put forth the plea that it was short of funds.  Tilak and his
colleagues were determined to resolve that stalemate.

The New English School, which had started with thirty-five
pupils, had on its rolls 501 pupils by the end of 1882
On their release Tilak and Agarkar ook (o consolidating the
position of their institutions.  The chief members formed them-
selves into a body, and formulated their future plans. It is
true that the Kolhapur case had plunged them in debt: vet the
members were as firm and energetic as before. They needed
funds and help was now coming gradually.  Four gentlemen
from Akola donated a sum of Rs. 1,200,

In January 1885 the New English School was shilted to the
Gadre Wada, at Shaniwar Peth. Its old building. Morobadada’s
Wada, had no accommodation cnough for six hundred pupils.
The task of securing another building for the school was en-
trusted to Tilak. For carrying on negotiation in this connection
he had o visit different places, and, dealing with the persons
concerned with tact and patience, he succeeded in securing the
Gadre Wada for the school. They had lost the Kolhapur case,
but they had gained the sympathies of all the native States.
As a manifestation of that sympathy, Jaysingrao Abasaheb
Ghatge, Chief of Kagal and Regent of the Kolhapur State, paid
a visit to the school on September 18, 1883, and donated five
hundred rupcees for the foundation of the Kagal Prize.

The Maharaja of Baroda also paid a visit to the New English
School and gave a donation. When the stock of sweetmeats
purchased for distribution through that gift ran out, Tilak, in
his characteristic way, spent money from his own pocket, and
distributed sweets among the clderly students.  Tilak had an
opportunity »f calling on the Maharaja of Baroda and in the
course of tneir talk they discussed the possibility of Tilak's
studying the various developments in Modern Sciences in
Europe. But the plan did not materialise.
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By now the school had attained such an important position in
the ficld of education that cven H.E. James Fergusson, Governor
of the Province, thought it worthy to preside over its annual
prize distribution ceremony which was held on February 13,
1884, at the Gadre Wada. Sir William Wedderburn and Rao
Bahadur M. G. Ranade were present on the occasion. In the
report which Apte read, the managers of the school reiterated
their aims and objects, that on a small yet decent remuneration
they were preparcd to establish a network of schools throughout
Maharashtra, and that it was their ambition to start a private
college to sccure a continuous supply of graduates, actuated by
the same motives as their teachers.  After giving away the prizes
the Governor announced the intention of the Government to
aid private cducational enterprise with a more liberal hand.
As regards the New English School he said that within a few
years it had achicved a standard of excellence comparable to
institutions more highly favoured, and so it had cstablished a
claim to public assistance. It would be not only unjust to it,”
he added, ** but discreditable to ourselves were we not to extend
a helping hand, and share the credit which the promoters had
achicved for themselves.” He gave a concrete shape to his
appeal by announcing a donation for the foundation of a prize,
and Sir James became the first patron of the New English School
and subsequently of the Deccan Education Society.  Comment-
ing upon this function. the Times of India, in fearful fore-
bodings for its imperialist masters, observed: “ No doubt, these
enthusiastic men will preach love of country to these disciples,
but it is better after all to have patriotisim preached by educated
men than wandering mendicants. We have given the pcople
of India cducation and now it is for us to do all we can to have
the moral cnergy created on our side and not against us.”
Mr. Lce Warner, the then Director of Public Instruction,
described the Society as a Patriotic Society and added that the
experiment had no parallel in any other city in India and was
interesting from many points of view other than the educational.

At last the long cherished day dawned. The preliminaries
being over, a meeting was called on Qctober 24, 1884, under the
Chairmanship of Sir William Wedderburn, and the Deccan
Education Socicty was formed with a Provisional Council con-
sisting of Sir W. Wedderburn, Prof. R. G. Bhandarkar,
K. T. Telang, Rao Bahadur M. G. Ranade, Rao Saheb S. V.
Patwardban, Prof. F. G. Sclby and Rao Bahadur N. B. Dandekar,
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William Wordsworth and Vishwanath N. Mandlik as Trustees;
and scven life-members—Tilak, Namjoshi, Apte, Agarkar,
Kelkar, Gole and Dharap. His Hiqhncss Shri Chhatrapati
Shahu Maharaj of Kolhapur, who had givén a magnificent dona-
tion to the Socicty, became the first President of the Deccan
Education Society. The Provisional Council raised the neces-
sary funds. Tilak's friend Namjoshi wrote to the Sccretary to
the Governor for permission to name their proposed college
after Sir James Fergusson. Two years and a half prior to this,
Tilak, Agarkar and Namjoshi had made spceches at the
condolence meceting held at Poona on behalf of the General
Committee of the Poona Sarvajanik Sabha and the public to
mourn the dcath of Lady Fergusson.  So it was not very difficult
for them to obtain the Governor’s consent.  There was also a
move for naming the proposed college, ** Shri Shivaji College ™ or
“ New Poona College ”, but the idea was dropped. ‘The view of
Tilak and Namjoshi prevailed.

In November 1884, the resolution was passed. Sir James
Fergusson, who was described by the Kesari as the blend of Lord
Ripon and Lord Lytton for his conservative policy in regard
to the development of Local Self-Government, signified his
consent.  Imimediately the application was made to the Bombay
University for permission to start the Fergusson College, and the
Senate granted provisional recognition to the College in the
Faculty of Arts for three years, at its meeting held on December
15, 18814, 'The success and history of the New English School
by now sprcad far and wide and cvoked deep interest in Lord
Ripon, the then Governor-General of India. He became a
patron of the Society. In the meanwhile, Tilak, who always
liked efficiency and a high standard in every field, tried to raise
himself academically to the highest standard. He studied for
some time in Bombay, and then appeared for the M.A. examina-
tion with mathematics but failed miscrably. Tilak’s fee for the
M.A. examination was paid by the Deccan Education Society.!

On January 2, 1885, the Fergusson College was formally
maugurated by Principal William Wordsworth as requested by
Sir William Wedderburn, the Chairman of the Provisional
Council. Wordsworth wished the Institution a long, uscful and
honourable career. Bhandarkar and Telang thanked Words-
worth and Wedderburn.

Excepting Dharap and Namjoshi all the five life-members
were clevated to professorships. Tilak became Professor of

1P. M. Limaye: The History of the Deccan Education Society, p. 111.
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Mathematics. It was found that the Gadrc Wada was not suffi-
cient for the accommodation of the New English School and
the College. Negotiations had, therefore, been going on since
October 1884 with the Government and it promised to hand
over to the Dcccan Education Society the Shaniwarwada, but
soon they perhaps felt that it was too inspiring a place being
the residence of the rulers of the Mahratta Empire. They,
therefore, proposed to give the Faraskhana Building and Budh-
warwada Garden. Sir James Fergusson, the retiring Governor,
laid, on March 5, 1885, the foundation stone of the College
Building at the new place and expressed gratitude for naming
the college after him. Concluding his speech, he said: “ That
this institution has developed is due to the sclf-denying patriot-
ism which actuated the teachers of the college. True patriots
are they and well worthy of all the praise that can be given
them.” It was a rare tribute paid by a retiring Governor to the
sclf-denying patriotism of true patriots; for it is a historical
truth that self-denying patriotism is the source and spring of
liberty. The site was, however, abandoned for some reasons
and the samec foundation-stone was laid in 1892 by Lord Reay
at the place where the present Fergusson College building stands.



CHAPTER 1V

THE ANGELS QUARREL

I

oox after the Socicty was vegistered on August 13, 1885,
Sundcr Act XXI of 1860. According to its rules life-members
were to receive equal pay, and had equal rights, but as the
monthly salary fixed was not very high, it was proposed that
under special circumstances, gratuities might be granted in addi-
tion to their monthly salaries. A further provision was made
by assuring the life of every member for three thousand rupees.

But some members felt the pinch of poverty, and they began
to talk of the growing nceds of their familics. They asked for
an increase in pay. ‘The first step towards the cqualisation of
pay and rights was taken in October 1885 when inequalities
were removed by making up the account of each life-member
since 1880, and accounts were so adjusted as to make the sum
drawn by cach proportionate to the period of service. Tilak
was opposed to this revision and new policy.  This was the first
note of rupture in the Socicty.

During this period Tilak and Agarkar staved at Tambe's
Wada. Their differences now led to an exchange of hot and
bitter words and expressions. and as cach of them talked at the
top of his voice, their voices could be heard from a distance.
It was at this place that Tilak’s little son Waman died in infancy.
He rolled down one day from the staircase, and his illness which
was the result of an acute attack of diarrhoea became worse.
This infant boy had a peculiar attraction for the whistle of the
train, and when its shrill note fell on his ears, he toddled up
to Tilak saying, * Dada, the train has whistled!”™  Tilak, though
by nature a taciturn and grave man, had devcloped a special
fondness for his infant son, and when he returned home in those
days he called to him and asked whether the train had whistled!
The child succambed one night in the arms of a boy rclative,
who whispered to Tilak about it. He quictly asked the boy
to keep the son by the side of the sleeping mother, without a
word. When the mother awoke she said that the baby son
was fast asleep. * Yes, only to wake up after a new birth if
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he desires,” said Tilak. The meaning flashed across her mind
and she burst into tears.

Satisficd with the mission of the Deccan Education Society,
the Government now came forward with a new offer. They
wrote in October 1885 to the Society requesting them to take
over the Deccan College and wmalgamate its own college with
it. They were contemplating to make over their High Schools
and Colleges to private bodies. Mcanwhile, Lord Reay paid
a visit to the New English School. While taking a round he
asked the students in one of the dass. whether they would like
to take up Govermment service.  And to the utter surprise of
the management, the majority raised their hands in assent!  "The
negotiations with the Government, however, broke down in
January 1887, as the Society was opposed to Government inter-
ference in the management and to the engagement of European
professors whose salaries would be exorbitant!

The harmony in the Socicty was now disturbed owing to
differences that had arisen over two Issues, viz. the policy of
the weeklies and the taking up of outside work by the life-
members.  Agarkar was editor of the Kesari and ‘Tilak was
editor of the Malnatta. Agarkar supported social reforms,
taking sides with Ranade, and Tilak replied to Agarkar in the
Kesari, attacking Ranade and other reformers.

The first disturbance was caused by the social reform sought
to be introduced by Behramji M. Malbari, a Parsee poet and
Luerateur, to raise the age of ““consent ™ of Hindu girls to the
consummation of marriage. ‘This was the second occasion when
a storm raged over the issuc of social reforms in India, the first
being the Widow Remarriage Act of 1856. A wave of protest
passed through the country when the orthodox Hindus and their
supporters came to know that the age of consent was about to
be raised from 10 to 12. The agitation was given a fillip by
an cvent which shook Maharashtra. A woman named Rakhma-
bai refused to stay with her husband who was a poor illiterate
man and to whom she had been married without her consent.
The High Court, setting aside the judgment of the Lower Court,
upheld the right of the husband to compel his wife to stay with
him. Tilak, Namjoshi and Apte expressed their views in favour
of the husband whereas Agarkar, Ranade and Bhandarkar
defended the woman’s right.

An entire hell of abuse was let loose on reformers and men
like Malbari. Englishmen like Wordsworth and Wedderburn
were of the opinion that reforms should grow from within.
‘Tilak, who also subscribed to this view, missed no opportunity
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to attack Ranadc and other reformers for their views on social
reforms.

On the occasion of the annual gathering of the Deccan College
in May 1885, Ranadc had a passagc-atarms with the young
professor Agarkar and others on account of their over-emphasis
on the philosophies of Mill, Spencer and Kant to the neglect
of their own Hindu religion. Immediately after this gathering
an article appeared in the Kesari under the caption *“Rao
Bahadur Ranade converted ', having a tilt at Ranade that he
was veering towards Hinduism from his Samajist opinions. This
angered Bhandarkar and he pulled up the young professors at
a mceting of thc Managing Board of the Deccan Education
Society. Agarkar now openly took sides with the social re-
formers. He supported them on grounds of rationalism,
although he differed from Ranade fundamentally; for he was
an out-and-out rationalist. Ranade scarched for the justification
of his social reforms in the ancient scriptures, whereas Agarkar
did not care for their support. Had the controversy between
Ranade and Agarkar continued, Maharashtra would have been
provided with a new light.

About this time the Indian political leaders were thinking
of forming an All-India Organisation to voice the people’s
grievances. Prior to 1885 different associations in different pro-
vinces were educating the people on public affairs through peti-
tions, memoranda and deputations. But their cfforts were
spasmodic and sporadic. Just then the Ilbert Bill was intro-
duced in the Central Assemnbly to remove the bar against the
Indian Magistracy trying European and likewisc American
offenders.  Enraged at this move, the anti-Indian Europeans
launched a vocifcrous opposition against the Bill and conse-
quently it was withdrawn. So disgraceful was the surrender that
every moment a disturbance was feared in Calcutta, the then
capital of India; but the popularity of Lord Ripon averted it.
The Anglo-Indians and Europeans in India had actually planned
to capture and send back Lord Ripon for his sympathy with
the Indians and his liberal ideas about cquity and equality; and
they displayed their hatred by decorating the walls of an English
Club in Bombay with brooms when Lord Ripon left Bombay
for England amidst the admiration and gratitude of many
Indians.

The failure of the Ilbert Bill impressed upon the leaders of
different associations the necessity of an All-India Organisation,
and they decided to band themselves into a body which was to
form the germ of a National Parliament. So they formed an
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Indian National Union and under the auspices of that Union
decided to convene a Confcrence at Poona in the last week of
December 1885. The Confcrence was to be held at the Peshwa
Garden near Parvati Hill in Poona. Originally, the Conference
was meant to be more or less a social conference, but owing to
divergent opinions on religion and customs, A. O. Hume and
Lord Dufferin decided that it should be a body to point out
to the administration its defects, and provide a *safety valve ’?
for the escape of great and growing forces in India. Besides
Hume, who worked as the Gencral Sccretary for a good many
years, Dewan Bahadur Raghunath Rao, M. G. Ranade, Subra-
mania Iyer, K. T. Tclang, Rao Saheb Mandlik, Dadabhai
Naoroji, Surendranath Banerjee and Charuchander Mitter were
the conveners of this proposed Conference.

Owing to an outbreak of cholera the Conference could not
meet at Poona. It was held in Bombay at Gokuldas Tejpal
Sanskrit College at 12 noon on December 28, 1885.  Seventy-two
delegates attended it and thirty Government servants were pre-
sent as friends. It was Ranade who namecd the Conference?
“ Congress ”. For the first time in modern history the best brains
in India assembled together to think over the deteriorated condi-
tion of their motherland. A great force was born eventually to
challenge British Imperialism, a force that was the first of its
kind in Asia. The first session of the Congress was presided
over by W. C. Banerjee. Tilak did not attend this Congress.
His colleagues Agarkar and Apte did.

Indian newspapers welcomed the Congress and congratulated
its leaders on the bold step they had taken.

11

The Malbari proposals gave a fresh impetus to the question
whether social reform should take precedence over the political.
At a Bombay mecting K. T. Telang, who was a profound thinker,
a Napolcon of scholarship, an eminent lawyer, and a matchless
orator of his day, gave in an eloquent speech his opinion on
the controversy. He observed that Shivaji and subsequent
Mahratta rulers were examples to show that the theory that
a nation socially low could not be politically great, was not
supported by history. He, however, added that it was not pos-
sible to sever political from social reform altogether and hence

1 W. Wedderburn, Allan Octavian Hume, p. 77.
28. S. Washikar, Hindi Rajkaran, p. 28.
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the two must go hand in hand although the march might not
in the case of both be with absolutely equal cclerity.

Just at this time Tilak read a paper on the age of consent at
the annual gathering of the Deccan College in which he scath-
ingly attacked all the supporters of the Malbari proposals.  On
the eve of the gathering some friends knew that he had used
violent language in his paper and so they requested Mahadeo
Chimnaji Apte 1o persuade Tilak to tone down his invective.
Apte dedined point-blank saying that nobody could persuade
the obdurate man. For somce duys past Ranade and his
licutenants had given up their evening sittings at the Sarvajanik
Club and instead met at a certain dub in Budhwalpcth One
day Tiluk happened to visit that dub and had a hot discussion
with Ranade. There was a scene and cach party called the
Ieader of the other a demagogue!

The tension created by the Malbari proposals was growing.
The opposition was taking active steps to compcl Government
to abandon them. The orthodox and conservative sections of
the public in Bombay called a meeting at Bombay on September
5. 1886, under the presidentship of Rao Saheb Mandlik. The
meeting condemned the age of consent proposals on the ground
that they interfered with their religion.  Tilak and other oppo-
nents had sent a letter to the leaders of this meeting, supporting
their stand. A few days after this the orthodox leaders called
on the Governor at Poona and stated that even if the majority
of the Hindus demanded the proposed reform it should not be
allowed, as it was against the spirit of the Queen’s Proclamation.

While this question was being hotly discussed, Gokhale joined
the Deccan Education Society as life-member in June 1886. He
concurred with Agarkar in opinion. The question of the revision
of the salary of life-members was coming to a head. The differ-
cnces now degencrated into heart-burning and sharp repartees,
and ultimately led to an acrid controversy.  Tilak now shifted
his residence from Tambe's Wada where Mr. Agarkar also stayed,
to Mandc’s Wada at Narayan Peth.

As Professor of Mathematics ‘Tilak had a place of his own
in the college. An expert mathematician and reputed Sanskrit
scholar, he displayed thoroughness, originality and profundity in
his teaching. He had a natural aptitude for mechanics. Mr.
Gole, Professor of Science, constructed a small balloon but his
theoretical knowledge could not succeed in flying the balloon.
To the amazement of all Tilak corrected the mistake and the
balloon flew up. There was, however, one defect that marred
Tilak’s great gifts as a teacher. He sometimes could not adapt
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the range of his tcaching to suit the understanding of average
students. It swept over them like a hurricane. Like Chiplunkar,
he taught them, not how to remember, but how to develop their
powers. He had no love for tasteless repetitions and tiresome
reiterations.

Tilak was quite indispensable to the Society from another
point of view. Tilauk mecant boundless energy, and he worked
untiringly for the Socicty and was largely responsible for its
rapid development and success.  Taciturn, grave and efficient,
he was a tower of strength to the Society.  There was something
imperious in his air which suggested that he regarded no onc
as his superior and few his equals.  Nature had blessed him
with a personality which had limclight, panache and power
sufficient for the work of all the members of the Society.  The
practical bent of his mind and his quick grasp of the intricacies
of any problem made him the fittest man to carry on negotiations
on behall of the Society. 1le successfully dealt with legal
matters and set right the financial affairs pertaining to the
Society.

Yet signs of discord were appearing onc after the other. Owing
to growing differences over the policy regarding the management
of the institutions, Tilak's personal defects and deficiencies
were attacked at this time. He was somctimes late in going to
classes and was not punctual in leaving classes at the sound of
the gong. Neither did he, his collcagues grumbled. check exer-
cise books in time. Apte and Agarkar expressed their dis-
pleasure at this irregularity on the part of their collcague. Tilak
never took things lying down. He retorted that it might be
that he was somectimes late in going to and leaving the dassces,
but his teaching did not suffer in any way in quality and quantity.
It compared well with that of those who boasted of their
regularity.

In February 1887 Agarkar brought forth a draft of byelaws
intending to increase the pay of the lifeemembers by Rs. 5 a
month. Tilak was opposed to these proposals which demanded
that pay should be regulated according to necessitics. He held
that members should stop outside work and if they worked out-
side such income should go to the common fund of the Society.
The meeting ended in confusion as the members demanded an
apology for Tilak’s “disorderly and disrespectful conduct towards
the other members.” He, however, refused to give it on the plea
that the Chairman was not a duly elected one. These episodes
led to deep estrangement. The recess time was also punctuated
with sharp digs and bitter words. When the life-members sat
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together during the recess, at the Gadre Wada, Tilak criticised
Ranade and other reformers. He shouted that it was not given
to Ranade alone to serve the people and be in the limelight.
He would also do that. In May 1887, at an elocution prize
distribution ceremony a youth criticised the social reformers for
having failed to practisc what they preached. Ranade, who was
presiding at the function, asked the youth to kecp to the point.
Heckling began.  Tilak, who was in the audience, roared: “Rao
Saheb, let the young man have his say. You cannot gag him
like that!”

After the meeting of 18th February, Tilak informed his
colleagues that it was not possible for him to devote his attention
to the work of the Society unless matters were set right. There-
upon Agarkar said that Tilak wanted to defy the majority, set
rules at naught, and cow down opposition by threats of resigna-
tion. A compromise, however, was effected in January 1888, and
Tilak was authorised to conduct the institutions; but the com-
promise broke down in April 1888. It was patched up by
appointing the junior members to look after the management.
In June 1888 the Managing Board prescribed an arithmetic book
by Gokhalc as a text-book. This was a new point that added
to the growing discontent, because the Board had not called for
arithmctic books from other members.

From the middle of 1886 the Deccan Education Society severed
its connection with the Kesari and Mahratta. On Agarkar's
refusal to take over the ownership of the press and newspapers,
V. B. Kclkar accepted the responsibility and took them over
with the help of H. N. Gokhale. This naturally restrained
Agarkar’s pen, and it was announced in the Kesari in October
1887 that Tilak would be responsible for the publication of the
Kesari. Still Agarkar wrote in the Kesari, but the replies to
his articles were also published in the same or in the next issue
of the Kesari. This was rather inconvenient for Agarkar. So
he thought it wise to start his own paper, and he launched the
Sudharak, the Reformer, an Anglo-Marathi weekly, the English
section of which was penned by G. K. Gokhale.

Agarkar’s fearless articles in his new paper against the oppo-
nents of social rcforms widened the gulf between Tilak and
Agarkar, the Kesari now replying to Agarkar with the same
vchemence. In December 1888 further estrangement followed.
Maharaja Shivajirao Holkar of Indore called for Agarkar and
Tilak, and presented them with a gift of seven hundred rupees
for being distributed among the life-members for their dresses.
On their way home, Tilak went to some other place. Agarkar
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handed over the sum to the clerk of the Society. On the same
day when Agarkar learnt that the Maharaja was going to pur-
chase books for distribution amongst school boys, he submitted
300 copies of his book Vakya Mimansa and 39 copies of Vikar
Vilasit to the Maharaja. He was mightily pleased with Agarkar’s
books and so he, instead of remunerating Agarkar independently,
ordered Gupte, his personal sccretary, to present Agarkar with
a dress of honour and to write to the Socicty to pay Rs. 400
out of Rs. 700 to Agarkar as an appreciation of his books and
to divide Rs. 300 among the other members for their dresses.
Gupte carried out both the orders. It, however, appears that
Tilak kept the lctter in his possession for some time. Mean-
while, the clerk of the Socicty at the instance of Tilak made an
entry in the Account Book that the money was handed over to
the Society by Tilak and Agarkar jointly. In reply to Gupte’s
letter Tilak said that the amount had been already distributed
among the members of the Socicty.

According to Agarkar both the statements of Tilak were false,
and so he was mad with righteous anger ai this distrust. He
wrote to Tilak that his statement was a downright falsehood
and unworthy, he must say, of a gentleman of honour. Even
Tilak’s friends did not side with him in this affair. Agarkar,
however, did not touch a pic from that gift. Agarkar, who in
his previous letter ' had said to Tilak that *“I know it is your
way to denounce everybody who goes beyond you,” now in
righteous indignation hit harshly Tilak back saying that Tilak
was playing on words to cover his mean despotic and selfish
conduct under a cloak of Jesuistical casuistry or legal sophistry.?
A wounded mind, like broken glass, is never mended!

Now a rupture was inevitable. The fecling of bitterness was
too much for Tilak, and he consulted his friends like Bapusaheb
Athalye whether hc should resign. Athalyc persuaded him to
pull on for some time. He, thercfore, proceeded on leave for
six months from January 1889.

The first thing Tilak did after proceeding on lcave was to
go to Chikhalgaon, his native village in thc Konkan, for about
a weck to look into the affairs of his estate and to make some
arrangements, and to renovate the village temple of Laxmi-
Keshav. His family was with him. It may be mentioned here
that by now his wife, who was illiterate at the time of marriage,
had learnt thc rudiments of Marathi at the house of her hus-
band’s uncle with the help of the latter’s school-going children,

1 Agarkar’s letter, 24 December 1888.
2 Agarkar's letter, 25 December 1888.
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and her self-study cnabled her to read the Kesari. In those
days it was not customary with an educated man to teach his
wife when there were clderly persons in the house.

On his return from Chikhalgaon, Tilak devoted the remainder
of his lcave period to public service. The Poona leaders were
intent upon holding the Congress session in Poona.  They found
in Tilak the proper leader to conduct negotiations with the
Bombay leaders regarding the venuce of the Congress.  Accord-
ingly, Tilak and his friend Namjoshi went to Bombay and
extended an invitation to the Congress leaders. The Bombay’
leaders were particularly enthusiastic about holding the session
in Bombay, and as in the meanwhile Bombay’s veteran leader
Rao Sahceb Mandlik passed away, the Poona leaders gave up
their attempt; for it was their intense desive to see Mandlik
installed in the Gadi of Congress Presidentship.

I

Just then an cevent occurred which gave Tilak an opportunity
to make his mark in Maharashtra as an dg,ntaun and an inde-
pendent leader. It was the Crawford Case in which he played
a leading part in defending certain unfortunate Mamlatdars who
were thrown out of employment, as a result of an inquiry insti-
tuted by Government against Mr. Arthur Crawford. This
former Collector of the Ratnagiri District had by now risen to
the post of a Revenue Commissioner.  His reckless and squander-
ing habits had brought him to the verge of ruin. For a con-
siderable time there were rumours that he accepted illegal
gratification for appointing Government servants to the posts of
Mamlatdars and Deputy Collectors.  Crawford's encmies moved
in the matter.  So Government suspended him and launched
a prosccution against one Hanamantrao Jagirdar, who was his
agent.

During the course of Hanamantrao’s trial at Poona, Tilak
wrote some articles on the Crawford affair, and urged Govern-
ment officers to come forward to give evidence before the District
Magistrate of Poona since Government had promised not to take
any action against those who would give such evidence in the
case.  Accordingly a few Mamlatdars and Deputy Collectors gave
such evidence in which they deposed that they had given money
to Hanamantrao for sccuring promotions at the hands of
Crawford.

Hanamantrao was found guilty and sentenced to two years’
imprisonment.  Alarmed at this, Crawford tried to cscape from
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India incognito. He was, however, arrested at Bombay; was
taken back to Poona, and an Inquiry Commission was set up to
investigate all the charges levelled against him. But the Com-
mission, nervous about the declining prestige of a Britisher,
found Crawford guilty of extracting money only in the form of
loans, and acquitted him of the other charges of corruption and
bribery. The confessions given by Mamlatdars on solemn assur-
ances, however, recoiled on them. Twelve Mamlatdars were
dismissed summarily; a few of them werce demoted and others
were threatened with the same fate.

About this time the second Bombay Provincial Conference
was held at Poona under the presidentship of Rao Bahadur
G. H. Deshmukh.  The first Conference was also held at Poona,
but Tilak had not waken part in it. These Provincial Confer-
ences were, in fact, Congress sessions in miniature. At this
Conference, at the instance of Tilak a resolution was passed,
congratulating Government upon doing its duty by instituting
an inquiry into the Crawford affair. In a speech at this Con-
ference Tilak appealed to Government to consider leniently the
cases of the Mamlatdars. 'This was Tilak's first important
public speech in the true sense of the term. Tilak, Namjoshi
and Gokhale were appointed Secretaries of the Provincial
Conference to organisc its next session.

For a whole vear Tilak led a furious agitation against the
injustice inflicted upon the officers. In September 1889 he
convened in Poona a mecting at which resolutions were passed,
urging Government not to break their promise to the
Mamlatdars. Tilak further tried to bring the case of the
Mamlatdars before the British Parliament through Mr. William
Digby, Secretary of the Congress Agency, in London, and Charles
Bradlaugh, who was a Member of Parliament. They appre-
ciated Tilak’s work, promised to move Parliament but finally
nothing came out of it, there being an cqually strong counter-
propaganda against Tilak’s move. Ultimately an Act of
Indemnity was passed by the Government of India under which
the officers were saved from further prosecution and persecution.
The Mamlatdars, however, expressed their gratitude to Tilak
for having championed their cause untiringly. At a meeting
they publicly honoured him and presented him with a silver
watch and a scarf.

It may be noted here that although Tilak defended the
Mamlatdars valiantly, he also condemned them roundly for
resorting to corrupt methods for securing their promotions. He
sadly observed that it was a painful fact that however highly

4
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Indians might boast of their advancement in education, their
qualities of truthfulness and honesty which elevate a nation
were not up to the mark.

Mecanwhile Tilak had returned, in July 1889, to work in the
College when there was some sort of compromise regarding the
question of outside work of the life-merabers. In October 1889
Mr. Gole was appointed the sole authority, but the permission
granted by the University of Bombay for starting the Ist B.A.
classes put an end to this arrangement.  All were gladdened by
the news for a while and matters looked improved. In the last
week of December Tilak and Gokhale went to Bombay to attend
the fifth session of the Congress.

This session of the Congress was indeed an epoch-making
event in Indian history. So far the Congress had held four
sessions. ‘I'he sccond session was held in 1886 at Calcutia in
the Town Hall under the presidentship of Dadabhai Naorvoji.
The Chairman of the Reception Commitice of the Congress
declared in no uncertain words that * We live, not under a
National Govermuent, but under a forcign burcaucracy.” The
President of the Congress, Dadabhai Naoroji, said that the
Congress should concentrate on political matters on which they
were united and should not deal with social problems on which
they were not united.

“A national Congress must confine itself to questions in which
the entire Nation has a direct participation, and it must leave
the adjustment of social reforms and the class questions to class
Congresses.”  The Viceroy received some of the delegates of the
Congress and also invited them to a garden party, not as dele-
gates but as distinguished visitors to the capital. The Times,
London, however, described the Congress merely as an affair
of discontented place scekers—men of straw,. with little or no
status in the country.” For the third session Congress had met
at Madras in the last week of December 1887. It was presided
over by Badruddin Tyabji who laid stress on the representative
character of the Congress. He endorsed the view of Dadabhai
to keep aloof from social problems. B. C. Pal made his first
speech at this Congress.

The fourth session of the Congress was held at Allahabad in
December 1388. Sir Auckland Colvin, the Governor of the
United Provinces, tried to prevent the Congress leaders from
holding the session at Allahabad and the Viceroy, Lord Dufferin,
branded it as seditious. Sir George Yule presided over the Con-
gress session. He was the first Englishman to preside over the
Congress. In his presidential address he pleaded for the right
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of representation in the administration of India. During the
course of a speech Mr. Eardley Norton said that as an English-
man he was ashamed of England’s broken promises to India.
It was at this Congress that Lajpatrai made his first speech.

But the Congress of 1889 was very important. Charles Brad-
laugh, M.P., who was contemptuously called in England a
Member for India, was a guest of the Congress, and Sir William
Wedderburn who was associated with the Deccan Education
Socicty was to preside over the Congress. It was in this session
that Tilak and Gokhale took an active part for the first time.
Tilak made special arrangements for the publication of the
Kesari in Bombay during the Congress session. Speaking for
the first time in the Congress, Tilak moved an amendment to
the Resolution on the personnel of the Imperial and Provincial
Legislative Councils demanding that the Imperial Council
should be elected by the Provincial Councils instead of by the
clectoral colleges.  Gokhale, seconding the amendment, made
his maiden speech in the Congress.  Bepin Chandra Pal, Lajpat-
rai, G. Subramania Iyer and Malaviya made speeches supporting
the resolution.  This was the first and last occasion when Tilak
and Gokhale concurred with each other in the Congress proceed-
ings! The amendment, however, was lost.

A lively little incident then occurred, when one of the Muslim
delegates, making a violent speech, claimed that Muslims should
be clected in Couuncils in equal numbers with the Hindus
although the Muslim population was smaller. This amendment
was, of course, lost.

Tilak was now more and more attracted to public activities.
Early in the new year a committee was set up at Poona to
commemorate the services of His Royal Highness the Duke of
Connaught, the Commander of the Bombay Forces, who was
about to retire. The proposed memorial on the occasion was
to take the forn of a military school for training Indian youth.
A dcputation consisting of somne Sirdars with Tilak and Namjoshi
as its Sccretaries was clected to wait upon His Royal Highness.
The Deputation accordingly waited upon him on March 12,
1891. He was presented with an address when he accepted the
offer to name the school after him. A representation was conse-
quently made to the Government of India in the light of the
address presented to His Royal Highness. The scheme, how-
cver, was not approved by the Government of India, and ulti-
mately it was dropped.

Tilak also took an active interest in the third Provincial Con-
ference which was held at Poona in May 1890, under the
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presidentship of the Hon'ble Kazi Shahbuddin. In this Con-
ference Tilak moved a resolution attacking Government Excise
policy and demanding the application of the principle of local
option. e felt happy over the progress achicved by Temper-
ance Associations in the country but at the same time asserted
that the very existence of such organisations in India was re-
prehensible since riotous drunkenness was unknown in India.
Tilak and Gokhale were again clected Sccretaries.

The agitation made by Tilak for securing justice to the
Maml.ud.m had already had a far-reaching effect on the Sarva-
janik Sabha.  Mr. Sitaram Chiplunkar, .Scuel:us of the Sarva-
J.lmk Sabha, being on friendly terms with Crawford, refused to
say or write anyvthing on the Crawford affair, and was, therefore,
pulled down by the members from the Seorctaryship.  And
G. K. Gokhale, who was taking lessons in politics and public
problems at the feet of Ranade. was clected Secretary of the
Sarvajanik Sabha in place of ("hiplunk;n' Tilak now came for-
ward as a public figure and a vigorous independent agitator
who rebelled against all \«mngs, .md his boundless devotion to
whatever cause he championed was witnessed by an admiring
public.

The clevation of Gokhale 1o the Searetaryship of the Sarva-
janik Sabha proved to be the last stroke in precipitating the
crisis, and the relatons of Tiak with the Deccan Education
Society broke down. ‘Tilak requested the Sceretary of the
Managing Board to hold a mecting to consider Gokhale's
acceptance of the Sceretaryship of the Sarvajanik Sabha. The
mcctm;, was called but it ended in angry scenes.  Another mecet-
ing was called on October 14, 1890, at which after a hot discus-
sion the Managing Board puss‘cd a vote of censure against Tilak.
Tilak tcn(lcud his resignation while the mecting was going on
and left. On (_)(lubm 22 the I\Lll‘ld"an Board accepted his
resignation ** recording their sense of the irreparable loss which
would be sustained by the Society by the severance of his con-
nection with the Socicty, and of the high value of his services
for the last ten years.”

On December 15 'Tilak submnitted to the Deccan Education
Society a detailed statement explaining the causes that led to his
resignation. It contained thirty-two articles which spread over
thirty-three pages.  From the text of the resignation of Tilak it
seems that there was nobody amongst the Managing Board “ who
by virtue of his personal character commanded respect from
the rest”. They were all equals. The second thing was that
the principles of Jesuits were not laid down specifically
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articles of faith. As regards the charges levelled against Tilak
that he was haughty and violent, and that a cloak of divine
disinterestedness and stoicism, sclf-assertion and self-glorification
had been his aim throughout, Tilak said: “1 have alienated the
sympathy of almost everyone and rendered myself extremely un-
plcasant; so much so, that 1 am regarded almost an obstacle in
the way of others and every fault of mine, however trifling, is
at once caught hold of, and magnificd to an incredible extent.
I should not have cared for this, but ¢ven when my capacity
had come to be questioned, and a vote of censure passed against
me, it was impossible to pull on any longer; and T was obliged
to resign. I might be haughty or violent . . . but for all that,
if the Board had armived at some final settlement of the great
questions at issue, T should not have minded the charges at all.”
“T'he chicf fault,” he continued, “that T am awarc of mine is
my manner of expressing myself in strong and cutting language.
1 am, I think, never violent in the beginning; but being a man
of verv strong feelings, T often fall into the error of giving
sharp and stinging replies when aroused, and of being unsparing
in my criticism.  Sharp words do cause an amount of mischief;
but I can assure, as I have done before this. that I spoke strongly
because 1 felt sirongly for the interest of the Institution.”

However disagreeable it might be, he said, he could not do
better than ask their permission to part company. ‘I assure
vou,” he proceeded, that it was only after a great struggle
with my own feclings that T have come to this resolve.” In fact
I am giving up now my life’s ideal: but the only thought that
by separating myself from it 1 shall serve it best, is my
consolation.”

“In the end I bid vou,” Tilak concluded pathetically, “my
dear colleagues, a good-bve, with my heart burdened with a
load of sorrow: but in the hope that by severing myvscll from
you. I may perhaps be able to help you in preserving harmony,
so very essential to the welfare of our Institutions, as it is for
the sake of that harmony T am making this sacrifice of mysclf.
With my best wishes for the continued prosperity of the Insti-
tutions with which I had the honour of being connected for
the last cleven years . . . 1 remain.”

The resignation affair went on for some time.  Dr. Bhandar-
kar had taken a serious objection to a remark made by Tilak in
his resignation imputing dishonesty to his colleaguces, who, Tilak
had stated., were prepared to show worked-up accounts to suit
the Grantin-aid rules! In February 1890 the Managing Coun-
cil passed a resolution condemning Tilak’s charges imputing
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dishonesty to thc members of the Society as baseless. Tilak
again replied but the managing committee confirmed its pre-
vious resolution.

Chiplunkar conducted Chitrashala and Kitabkhana of his
own and nobody complained that it was a breach of rules.
Tilak himself had written a book on Mcchanics, had taken an
active part in the election propaganda of his friend Namjoshi,
had taken an active lead in the defence of the aggrieved Mam.-
latdars, and had worked for the Congress also. It was Tilak’s
devout wish to run the Institution on the principles of self-
sacrifice, self-negation and Jesuistic ideals which were not laid
down on paper. Tilak himself had written in his letter of
resignation that “ our aim, as has been declared so many times,
is to make liberal education indigenous”.  But he expected his
colleagues, who had their families and relatives, to lead, with-
in their meagre means, the life of Jesuits. It is a well-known
fact that the Jesuits have no family responsibilitics. Tilak's
collecagues had not in the least deviated fromn the principles of
self-sacrifice, but they perhaps thought that the rigours of the
strict and stringent Jesuistic principles would be impracticable
for married Hindu men and feared that it would involve the
Socicty into a life of constant inquisition. Tilak felt unhappy
over this and resngncd But from the recollections of his son
Shridharpant, it appears that Tilak repented in his heart of
hearts for having lost his hold on a big institution.” Tt is diffi-
cult for a man to regain a position which he loses in his thirties,
and never could Tilak do so. However, the spirit of sclflessness
shown by Tilak was praiseworthy. When the Deccan Education
Socicty offered him his insurance, he stoutly refused to touch it!

Tilak was hardly thirty-four then, and he had played a lead-
ing role in the ficld of education. One of the founders of the
foremost educational institutions in India when he was twenty-
four, he had unceasingly worked for it for cleven years!

1S. B. Tilak: Maza Vyasang, p. 145 (Marathi).



CHAPTER V

WAR ON SOCIAL REFORMERS

AVING resigned the life-membership of the Deccan Education

Society, Tilak was now free to cnter upon a life to his
liking. The principle of Jesuistic poverty had now to be set
aside; for he had to serve the people and in the world of poli-
tics and public life it keeps your backbone straight if you are
not dependent upon others for the livelihood of the members of
your family. A man of Tilak’s obliging nature must neces-
sarily possess some such mcans of livelihood as would provide
for all his activities and his family.  Some of his admirers and
friends suggested that he should practise at the Bombay High
Court, but he refused to do so. A few ambitious souls approach-
ed him with a proposal for starting a rival college to the Fer-
gusson College, but he silenced them by saying that no sensible
man would cut down the tree which he had planted.

The thought of becoming a professional lawyer was of course
out of the question. He never appeared in any Court cxcept
perhaps once in the CGourt of the District Judge of Poona in
connection with a civil suit, and that too he conducted free of
charge. He, thercfore, started from June 1891 at his residential
quarters a Law Class, a new idea in the Bombay Presidency, for
the purpose of preparing students for the High Court and District
Pleaders’ Examinations. This created a great opening for the
middle class intelligentsia to cke out an independent living.
From this class sprang some of Tilak’s lieutenants who after-
wards rose as leaders in mofussil areas.

One Mr. Waknis was Tilak’s assistant at the class.  The class
met in the morning from 7 to 9 o’clock. This class brought
him an income of about one hundred and fifty rupees per men-
sem. Tilak taught the dass Hindu Law, Equity, Law of
Evidence and Law of Contract with special intercst. One
morning, while he was tcaching FEquity to the class Ranade
cntered the class unnoticed from the other end and sat on one
of the back benches.  ‘Tilak was so much absorbed in his lecture
that he did not notice his arrival. When somebody drew
Tilak's attention to it, he stopped the lecture; but Ranade
asked Tilak to continue the lesson. The great legal luminary



56 ILOKAMANYA TILAK

in Ranade expressed satisfaction at the proficiency with which
Tilak dealt with the subject.

Partly to augment his income and partly to promote the
Swadeshi industry Tilak invested moncy in a ginning factory
which he started at Latur with the help of two other partners.
Latur was a cotton centre in the Hyderabad State.  For further
investment in this enterprise he could secure a loan of five
thousand rupees through the influence of his friend Mr. V. S.
Bapat, who was an influential officer at Baroda.  Bapat arranged
for it through a money-ender’s finn in Baroda. Tilak sent his
nephew Mr. D. V. Vidwans to Latur as his representative o
look after the management of the factory.

Tilak was now free to utilize his phenomenal energy and his
unswerving industry for solving the problems of his country.
A man of strong views and a lover of traditions and ancient
history, he decided to Jaunch a vigorous campaign against those
who were concentrating their energies on social reforms. At
this time news came that Malbari, who had been to London a
few months carlier to win support for his proposals, was success-
ful in bringing sufhcient pressure to bear upon the Government
of India to consider his proposals. The Aesari warned the
prople against the imminent danger to their religion and tadi-
tions, and appealed to them not to give their support to the
Malbari proposals.

Some of the Malbari proposals were:

(1) Cohabitation by a husband with his wife, under twelve
years of age, should be made penal;

(2) in case of infant-marriages, the wife should be entitled
to cancel the marriage, if she liked, on attaining
majority;

(3) suits by husbands for the restitution of conjugal rights
should not be allowed; and

(1Y a widow should continue to hold her first husband's
property even after her remarriage.

This problem of reform was, however, given a fresh impetus
by an event that happened in Bengal. A grown-up man com-
mitted rape upon his child-wife and she died. This event im-
pressed upon the Government the necessity for moving in the
matter of the Age of Consent, and the result was that considera-
tion of one part of the Malbhari proposals was accelerated.

It was the confirmed opinion of the orthodox Hindus that
raising the Age of Consent struck at the very root of Hindu
society and nullified at onc stroke the sanctity and indissolu-
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bility of the marriage tic. Their leader Tilak challenged the
right of a foreign burcaucracy to sit in legislative judgment on
Indian socicty. He asserted that a foreign ‘Government should
not be trusted with the power of making social changes. In
his view social conditions could not be improved until political
conditions were bettered. He held that slow and spontaneous
action by socicty would bring about the desired result; educa-
tion and consciousness of social evil would eradicate the defects.

The spokesman of the orthodox Hindus had at the beginning
of thc controversy, written in the Kesari, deprecating Govern-
ment interference in social customs: “If we want Acis and
Resolutions to regulate child-marriage, why then, not have
‘Dinner Acts’, * Sandhya Adoration Acts’ and ‘ Bathing Time
Acts 2"t In short, it was the confirmed belief of the opponents
of social reformers that because the latter laid too much stress
on India’s inferiority, they were trying to imitate English life,
diet and habits.  They wished to Westernise India and hence
they said that women should be educated, widows must remarry
and castes must go! Instead of fighting for their political
independence they were pining for social reforms!

Ranade. the leader of the reformers, replied to ‘[ilak and his
party on all counts. He observed: “ Whenever there is a large
amount of unredressed cvil suffered by people who cannot
adopt their own remedy, the State has a function to regulate
and minimise the evil.” Those who welcomed the State regu-
lation of Sati and widow marriage, of infanticide, of the sclf-
murder of Jogees on the Ganges and hook-swinging before idol
shrines, observed Ranade, should not object to this regulation
of the Age of Consent because the regulation of marriageable
age had been a part of national jurisprudence in all countries.
The old argument that sufferers themsclves did not complain
of the evil was no defence. It was urged as an argument
against the abolition of slavery. It was urged that a forcign
Government could not be trusted with that power. This
objection would have a meaning and significance had the
forcign interests overridden native interests. But in social
matters the foreigners had no interest to serve. So the inter-
ference was not of foreign initiation but Indian.

The history of the suppression of Infanticide and of Sati
showed, Ranade asserted, that those institutions were checked,
and could be checked, only by the strong arm of Law, and once
they were denounced as crimes, they disappeared from the face

! P. M. Limaye: The History of the Deccan Education Socicty, p. 102.
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of the country. The sharp surgical operation, and not the
homeeopathic infinitesimally small pill, concluded Ranade, was
the proper remedy for the first class of disorders.!

K. T. Telang was of the opinion that * We must and ought
to devote the greater portion of our energy to political reform

. let us keep alive our sympathies with social reform and
those who undertake them and let us all help them to the ex-
tent of our powers . “At all events for God’s sake,” he con-
tinued, *“let us not set oursclves in antagonism to social reform.
In this way only, shall we best discharge the whole of the duty
which lies upon us, the duty of reform in social as well as poli-
tical matters.” “1 entirely agree,” he observed, *that the
remcdy for removing India’s social ills does not lic in Angli-
cising India.  But to say or suppose, as so many at present do,
that those who desire social reform want to Anglicize the coun-
try socially. is at least as great and as injurious a misapprehen-
sion as to say that those who want political reforms want to
Anglicize the country politically.”

The opponents of the Age of Consent Bill held a meeting at
Tulsibag in Poona in October 1890 when the Tilak party-men
rather purposely put forth their counter-proposals which were
to be brought into force by law for the reformers alone, who
clamoured for the Age of Consent Bill.  They were as follows:

I and 2 Girls and boys should not be married until they
reached the age of 16 and 20 respectively.

3 and 4 Unless they were prepared to marry widows, men
should not marry after they were 40 years old.

5 There should be absolute prohibition of liquor.

6 Acceptance of dowry in marriages should be pro-
hibited.

7 Disfigurement of widows should be forthwith
stopped.

8 Onc-tenth of the monthly income of every reformer
should be devoted to public purposes.

It was very strange that those who opposed a little thing like
raising the age of consent from ten to twelve now themselves
offered to confer a greater benefit on society!  But their action
belied their intention! As thesc proposals were meant for a
few persons and were not to be applicable to the Hindus in
78181:lzswllam'ous Writings of the Late Hon’ble Mr. Justice Ranade, pp.

28. N. Karnataki: Namdar Nyaymurti Kashinath Trimbak Telang
(Marathi), pp. 438-439. :
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general, they were not considered at the meeting. At this stage
it appeared on the surface that Tilak, their leader, did not
want the foreign Government to interfere in social matters and
that he objected to social reforms being enforced by law. He
had roundly condemned Malbari's suggestions for Indian Mar-
riage Laws as absurd and as involving an interference with
Hindu religion. As mentioned above, by signing the above-
mentioned proposals Tilak was willing to break Shastric Laws
himself, but he did not bear the idea of Ranade and Bhandar-
kar agitating for the enhancement of the age of consent from
10 to 12 years. Tilak made a spcech at this mecting showing
how ruinous would be the consequences of the Age of Consent
Bill on the Hindu socicty, and then the mecting decided to
appeal to Government not to legalise it.

Another meeting was held in November to discuss Tilak’s
proposals. At that mecting Tilak asserted that there had been
much tall talk but little action in bringing about social reform,
and that the reformers did not consider what reforms were re-
quired and practicable.  They must carry public opinion with
them and secure sanction of rcligion for their reforms.  Ranade,
who was present at the meeting, said that they found that there
was no support for Tilak’s proposal. He was, however, glad
that Tilak had brought himself to accept legislation for himsclf.

I

December 1890 came and that year the scssion of the Con-
gress was held at Calcutta. It was on the cve of this session
that Government had issued the Risley circular prohibiting
Government officials from attending the Congress session.  This
arrested the patient and silent work of M. G. Ranade who had
been the real power—and in spite of this circular also, was for
many years—behind the Congress and was the one source of
inspiration to Congressmen, preparing and drafting its resolu-
tions, going over its presidential addresses, and guiding its
procecdings. The Congress vigorously criticised the Risley
circular.

Tilak attended this session of the Congress. He was then an
ordinary delegate, and Gokhale was advancing gradually in the
Congress hicrarchy. The only thing Tilak did in this session
of the Congress was to convey to the Congress President,
Pherozeshah Mchta, a resolution passed at a Poona meeting by
the Poona Shastris requesting the Congress President not to
allow the Social Conference the use of the Congress pandal for
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its session.  Tilak did nothing morc than to hand over the reso-
lution to the President.  The Social Conference had been held
in the Congress pandal since the second session of the Congress
without any break. No province had taken any objection to
the holding of the Social Conference in the Congress pandal.

It was wrue that leaders like Dadabhai Naoroji and Pheroze-
shah Mchta never took an active interest in the activities of
the Social CGonference, but thev never opposed or discouraged
the social reformers.  Dadabhai Naoroji and Mehta did this
for two good reasons.  Firstly, they sprang up from a minority
community and so they slnu«(ll\ took the precaution of not
interfering in the social reformers’ activities which were mainly
discussed with a view 1o reforming Hindu society.  Secondly,
they, in public life, favoured the principle of division of work,
but to them division of work did not mean opposition.  So no
leading Congressman took note of the message of the Poona
orthodox IHindus. Tt might be that Tilak was not then in-
dined to create a crisis over this issue. Theie had appeaved
also a note of disagreement in the Kesare over the resolution
passed by the Poona Shastris.  Notwithstanding this Tilak took
part in the proceedings of the Social Conference, and supported
the resolution on child-marriage and widow remarriage.

During the days of the Congress session Tilak and  his
friends had taken lodgings at the premises of the i Bazar
Patrika and the proprictor, Mr. Motilal Ghose, provided accom-
modation for the Poona guests. In those davs delegates to the
Congress used to carry their own utensils, cooked their own food,
took their meals in the orthodox manner even at these distant
places, and the Poona delegates were no exception to this
practice.

The Congress session over, Tilak and his colleagues visited
Gaya, Raniganj, Prayag, Lucknow and Agra, sceing holy places,
and industrial centres from the poiut of national growth. At
Agra Tilak came to know that the Age of Consent Bill was
coming up for consideration in the Central chis‘luturc With
an cager look he told his colleagues that he was going direct
to P()on.l as agitation over the '\ﬂc of Consent Bill was to be
renewed with greater force and cnthusn.mn.

On January 9, 1891, the Age of Consent Bill came up for
considcration  before  the  Central  Legislative  Council.  Sir
Andrew Scoble, Law Member, in moving for leave to amend
the Indian Penal Code and the Code of Criminal Procedure,
said that it was considered an offence of rape when a man had
sexual intercourse with or without the consent of the woman



WAR ON SOCIAL REFORMERS 61

when she was under ten years of age. It had been the law in
India under that Code for more than thirty ycars. The pro-
posal in the Bill, he observed, was to raise the age of consent,
both for married and unmarried women, from ten to twelve
years. le did not suppose, he added, that anyone would ques-
tion the right and duty of the State to interfere for the pro-
tection of any class of its subjects where a proved necessity exist-
ed for such interference.

He observed that the object of the Bill was two-fold. It was
intended to protect female children 1) from immature prosti-
tution and (2) from premature cohabitation.  The Bill affected
all classes of children, Europeans as well as natives.

As regards the sccond aspect of the proposal, he said that the
sages enjoined and the institution of many castes vequired that
a girl should be given in marriage before she attained puberty;
and the second, that the Shastras denounced in the strongest
terms and awarded the most terrible punishments, both here
and hereafter, to the sin of connection with an immature girl.
He, howcver, pointed out that the question of child-marriage
was left untouched by his Bill.

“I am justified in saying that the tcachings of the sacred
books of the Hindus ave not in conflict with the proposals of
the Bill. To put it crudely, 1 shall say that a law which per-
mits a full-grown man to violate with precaution a little girl of
ten years' age cannot be considered sufficient, except from the
ruffian’s point of view.”' Speaking on the Bill, the Hon'ble
Mr. K. L. Nulkar supported the Bill, saying that it simply
sought to remove a glaring defect in the Criminal Law of India.
Sir Ramesh Chander Mitter, the solitary oppounent of the Bill
in the Council, said that the Bill interfered with Hindu reli-
gion, and it was against the spirit of the Qucen’s Proclamation.

On his return to Poona from Agra, Tilak sounded a warning
to the opponents of the Bill of the impending danger. He
declared now a war on Ranade, Telang and Bhandarkar, the
leaders of the social reformers. T'elang expressed his opinion
that those who broke scriptural rules for the advancement of
political power could not object to the breach of such rules for
saving Hindu women from inhuman cruclty. They should be
compelled by law, asserted he, to do away with evil practices.
He cited an example saying that because it was the tradition
of a thief to rob, he should not be allowed to rob and preserve
his tradition. As regards protection granted under the Queen’s

1 'The Times of India, 13 January 1891.
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Proclamation, he stated that its rigid application would involve
a condemnation of all political and educational regulations, and
lead them nowhere.  Just at this time Bhandarkar published a
pamphlet replying to the objections raised by Sir Ramesh
Chander Mitter to the Bill. Referring to Tilak’s interpreta-
tion of certain scriptures, Dr. Bhandarkar remarked that Tilak
was at sca as regards the meaning of some words. Ranade also
supported Bhandarkar in his scriptural interpretation and
defended the Bill vigorously. Tilak twok up the cudgels on
behalf of the orthodox Hindus and the battle was joined!

Replying to both Bhandarkar and Telang, in the Times of
India, Tilak observed that both of them had failed to grasp
the real meaning of the Hindu Law texts.  He stated that every
writer of note on Hindu Law, Raghunandan, Kamlakar, Vijna-
neshwar, Anantdeo and a host of others were on his side.  "Thus
both the written and unwritten law, he proceeded, enjoined
consummation of marriage on the first attainment of puberty,
and the Bill, if passed into law, would interfere with the reli-
gious custom. 1lle did not think that because certain excep-
tions were allowed in the Shastras, Government would be justi-
fied in going beyond them. Even though the precepts were
obligatory or recommendatory, Government had no right to
violate them. He asked Telang whether or not it would be
an interference if a foreign Government proclaimed in Fngland
that no girl should marry when she was below twenty-five, and
further asked him whether or not it would be a decar inter-
ference if Government were to abolish idolatry in India or res-
tricted it in favour of certain idols alone.?

Tilak further said that though their English education had
slackened their faith in the religious precepts, it ought not to
lcad them to speak in such derisive words of the feelings and
sentiments of the great majority even though they wished to
reform them. He concluded his letter by expressing regret at
the attempts made by the reformers to tune the shastras to the
wishes of the rulars.

Tilak, who believed in the direct forceful attack, doubted,
in the heat of the controversy, the depth of Bhandarkar’s knowl-
cdge of Sanskrit although it was Tilak who during the days of
this controversy over the Age of Consent Bill went to Dr.
Bhandarkar for refcrences and to get to know the meaning of
some technical terms in scriptures! He further said that
Teclang was a busy lawyer when, in fact, he was a judge and

1 The Times of India, 2 February 1891,
2 Ibid, 29 January 1891.
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so his scriptural interpretation was not correct! He did not
care to pay heed to the reply of his opponents who taunted
him on the fact that Yeshwant Wasudco Athalye whom Tilak
tried to range against Bhandarkar, was also a busy lawyer.
Moreover the authority of Athalye was cast to the winds as he
finally certified that the interpretation of Bhandarkar was
correct! The truth is that lcaders of positive and forceful
natures always drown their opponents’ replies and rejoinders
in the great din they create by their vociferous propaganda.

The controversy now reached a dimax. Mecting upon meet-
ing was held, some in support of the Bill, others in protest
against it.  On the opposition side were prominent pundits and
leaders like Pundit Sesadhar Tarkachudamani, W. C. Banerjea,
Babu Surcndranath, G. S. Khaparde and others. A meeting of
Hindu leaders in Bombay was called at Madhavbag, and it was
decided to hold a mecting on February 8. At Poona the
Shastris held a meeting which vehemently voiced its opposition
to the Bill, and dedared that it interfered with religion and
broke the solemn promise contained in the Queen’s Proclama-
tion. Such mectings were also held by the opponents of the
Bill at Nagpur and Banaras. It may be noted here that Mr.
A. O. Hume, who was for a number of years the Congress Secre-
tary, declared that he would sever his connections with the Con-
gress if he found that the majority of the Congress leaders were
opposed to the Bill. At the Bombay meeting held on February
8, 1891, Tilak was present and he congratulated the meeting on
behalf of the Poona orthodox Hindus on the bold stand they
had taken in regard to the Bill. At Shaniwarwada the Poona
opponents of the Age of Consent Bill held on February 8, 1891,
another meeting whercin they denounced the Bill.

Shortly after this a meeting of the supporters of the Bill was
held at Krida Bhuvan in Poona. It was sponsored by Dr.
Bhandarkar and others.  Admission to the meeting was confined
to the supporters of the Bill only. Tilak and his party leaders
had planned at a private meeting on the previous night to
capture that meeting. Accordingly Tilak and Wasukaka Joshi,
who acted as Tilak’s right-hand man on such occasions, and also
Tilak’s followers, turned up at the appointed time one by one
at the gate. Tilak was not allowed to go in, and he had to
wait outside for some time. But he got in saying that he wanted
to make arrangements for the reporter of the Kesari.'  His party-
men and students had entered under one or other pretext onc

1 T. R. Dcogirikar: Wasukaka Ani Tyancha Kal (Marathi), p. 213.
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by one. Soon the uproar from inside and pressure from out-
side increased terribly. This resulted in rowdyism, students and
other hooligans slinging mud and pelting stones at the meeting,
and cursing Dr. Bhandarkar in unspeakable terms. Despite
these attacks the meeting went on and extended its support to
the Bill. The meeting concluded and Dr. Bhandarkar the old
man had to seck shelter in a neighbouring house. The police
then cscorted him to his residence.

As a result of rowdyism, Wasukaka Joshi and others were
arrested.  Mahadeo Chimnaji Apte, a famous lawyer from
Bowbay, was bricfed to defend the accused.  The police failed
to produce proper evidence and all the accused were acquitted.
During the proceedings Dr. Bhandarkar was severcly heckled by
Apte, and he turned pale when Apte asked him to name the
man who had wired to the Times of India about the mecting!

Tilak and Namjoshi then attended a meeting of the opponents
of the Age of Conscnt Bill at Sholapur.  But despite this agita-
tion and opposition the Age of Consent Bill was passed on
March 19, 1891, by the Cex ltldl Legislative Council at Calcutta.
The Law Member, Sir A. R. Scoblc said, while winding the
debate, that the balance of arguments and authority was in
favour of the supporters of the Bill. “ Even if it were not so,”
he observed, “ were I a Hindoo, I would prefer to be wrong
with Prof. Bhandarkar, Mr. Justice Telang and Dewan Bahadur
Raghunath Rao than be right with Pundit Sesadhar Tarkachuda-
mani and Mr. Tilak.” !

Tilak did not leave the leaders of the social reform at that.
He wrote furiously in the Kesari that Ranade, Bhandarkar and
Telang were not the leaders of the people.  They were the men
who had brought destruction on the people. People should
not put their faith in such lcaders. They must be cut off, as a
deceased limb of the body is done away with!? With the help
of a Sanskrit quotation he described Ranade, Bhandarkar and
Telang as wicked men adorned with learning!?

This remark hurt Dr. Bhandarkar to the quick and he sadly
remarked: I have been carrying on literary controversies since
1864 but never did I hitherto meet with an opponent who
treated me with such studied discourtesy as Mr. Tilak has been
doing. This circumstance has rendered my task disagreeable
and even painful.” ¢ But these invectives of Tilak could never

1 The Times of India, 23 March 1891,

2 The Kesari, 24 March 1891,

3 The Kesari, 7 April 1891.
4S. N. Karnataki: Dr. Sir R. G. Bhandarkar, p. 256 (Marathi).
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provoke the men of balmy fragrance, Ranade, Bhandarkar and
Telang to use abusive epithets about Tilak.

Yet the opponents of the Age of Consent Bill in Poona made
a final attempt by appealing to Government to abrogate the
legislation.  They held a mass meeting at Shanwarwada, voiced
their opposition to the legislation and collected funds on the
spot to carry on agitation and to present a representation in
connection with the legislation.

In May of the same year the Bombay Provincial Conference
was held at Poona under the presidentship of Govindrao Limaye
where Tilak denounced Government for passing the Age of
Consent Bill against popular opinion. There was a spirited
discussion on  the dehinition of the expression * popular
opinion . The meeting passed a resolution expressing its dis-
satisfaction to Government for having passed the Bill against
popular opinion.  G. K. Gokhale, who had been upto this time
onc of the Secretaries with Tilak, resigned his post as Sccretary
of the Bombay Provincial Conference.

By the next month the agitation over the Age of Consent Bill
died down, and the acrimonious war of words ended. Strictly
speaking, it had nothing to do with religion. The orthodox
Hindus had dragged religion into it. It was concerned with
the Indian Penal Code. The age-limit was to be raised from
ten to twelve.  Government had already by law abolished Sati
and Infanticide and legalised widow-remarriage. Anyhow Tilak
fought against it, and therefore he came to the forefront as a
champion of Hindu institutions and traditions, and a group of
leaders in small towns was being formed all over Maharashtra
1o support him in his future campaigns.

Apart from the outdated nature and reactionary fervour of
its opponents the Age of Consent Bill exposed, it proved a
pyrrhic victory for the Government; for thereafter it never of
its own accord touched any social matters. The agitation over
it attracted the keen attention of the pcople and created a wave
of popular opposition to social reforms. Reformers arc always
in a minority. Traditionists are always in a majority! Tilak
preferred to be with the majority. He said he must respect
their prejudices and try to make the humblest of them feel
that he was one of them. “If I adopt the heterodox ways,” he
observed, 1 would not be in a position to influence them to
the same extent as I could do by keeping to my orthodox ways.” *

In private conversation Tilak often expressed to his friends

! Reminiscences and Anecdotes about Lokamanya Tilak, compiled and
edited by S. V. Bapat, Vol. 1I, p. 7 (English Scction).
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concurrence in the views of the reformers. But his friends were
surprised to hear Tilak opposing the reformers in public. When
once he privately endorsed the views of the reformers, his
daughter asked him why Dada!® then opposed the reformers.?
He replied that he was not prepared to go in the wilderncss!

Another feature of the agitation was that people appreciated
Tilak's courage in defying the British Government. Once again
Tilak's remarkable quality displayed itself, and it confirmed the
popular belief that when Tilak took upon himself any responsi-
bility or undertook any public work, he untiringly laboured for
it and carried it out, facing, struggling and overcoming all
difhculties.

I

In October 1890 Tilak. the defender of the orthodox Hindus,
got himself unwittingly involved in an affair which brewed
trouble for him for a year or two. The storm originated in a
cup of tea which he had taken along with forty-six men induding
Ranade and Gokhale. The prime mover in this affair was one
Gopalrao  Joshi.  This gentleman had served in the Postal
Department for some years. He was no doubt a man of pro-
gressive views, but was rather a turbulent social worker.  Queer,
daring and energetic, he sent his wife to school and later took
her to Philadelphia, a great educational and political centre in
America. ‘There he worked hard to make provision for her
cducation, and she obtained there the degree of Doctor of
Medicine. But unfortunately on her arrival in India she could
not live long to give the benefit of her education to her country-
men. After her death Gopalrao Joshi went to England, but
returned soon to Poona. Having travelled in foreign countries,
he was now accustomed (o the ways of other religions and
customs. One day he decided to tease the Poona Christians by
proving that the sprinkling of water and reading a chapter of
the Bible could not convert one to Christianity. He received
baptism at the hands of a pricst, and a few days after he per-
formed some rcligious rites and averred, to the surprise of the
people, that he was still a Hindu.

Not satisfied with this achicvement, Gopalrao Joshi devised
a mischicvous plan to cxpose the raw reformers and to twit
rabid rcactionarics. He engineerced through the Panch Howd
Mission at Poona an invitation to local leaders like Ranade,

! Tilak was called Dada by his children.
2 Ibid, Vol. II, p. 30.
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Tilak, Gokhale and others to deliver lectures at the Mission.
The leaders came and spoke. After the lectures were over, as
previously planned the leaders were served tea! Hindu leaders
taking tca publicly at a Christian House was in those days a
monstrous idea! 'The whole gathering was embarrassed! All
were trapped and nobody suspected that it was a trap laid
with great care.  Ranade did not drink tea, but took a sip in
a spoon! Tilak, the boldest of them all, said that he would
take it if a Brahmin served it! And the brother of Gopalrao
Joshi served him tea in a cup from the mission kitchen!
G. K. Gokhale and some others took tea without a word. Some
Hindu women were also present, but they did not even touch
the cup. Just imagine their consternation! The names of all
thosc persons were published in a Poona weekly in January
1891 as the perpetrators of sin!

Though the sensational news was read by the orthodox leaders,
they could not take immediate action against those violators
of their religion! The Age of Consent Bill had taken the time
of the defenders of the Hindu religion, and Tilak was fighting
their battle. When the Age of Consent Bill became law, this
new event came up before the public for discussion.  Balasaheb
Natu, the leader of the Sanatanists, referred the case to the
Ecclesiastical Court of Shri Shankaracharya. Fortunately for
the reformers and unfortunately for the orthodox, this time their
defender and spokesiman Tilak was thrown on the side of the
reformers.  During the discussion he attacked in his usual
vitriolic way, Natu the orthodox leader, saying that the man
who came of a family that was responsible for the ruin of the
Peshwas and therefore whose seven generations were condemned
to hell, was not the proper person to teach him what was and
what was not conducive to the good of the nation; what was
religion and what was duty!

At the aforesaid Court it was proved beyond doubt that Tilak
had taken tea, but then he said he had undergone an expiation
for his rcligious deviation.  When he was attacked for his con-
fession, he replied that the tea affair was not before his mind
when he performed prayaschitta.  Gokhale did not carc for the
curses of the orthodox leaders and treated them with scant
notice. So the arm of their Ecdesiastical Court did not
rcach him. The Ecclesiastical Court gave its judgment in
the case in May 1891, pronouncing various punishments
on those who were found guilty of transgression of Shastric
laws. A few days after, to the astonishment of the orthodox
and to the consternation of his admirers and lieutenants, Ranade,
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the leader of the reformers, too, on a mature consideration,
decided to bend down to the decision of the Court of the
religious Head.  Not satisfied with the decision Natu and others
made an appeal to Shankaracharya, and Tilak and Ranade put
up a vigorous defence at the Court. Tilak said that taking tea
at the hands of non-Brahmins did not amount to losing one's
caste! In oveturn e asked the orthodox leaders whether 1t was
propar on their part to cat potatoes which were never mentioned
i the seriptural texts! Ranade’s wife expressed disapproval of
her husband's unqualificd swrrender 10 the orthodox Hindus!
She resented it, she wept, she agitated in vain!  Ravade per-
formed pravaschitta in order to save his friends and Teutenants
from being harassed by their relatives. No doubt he did it as
a matter of policy and not ou principle. For this kind of
religious work he had patronised a Brahmin priest 1o perform
religious rites at the houses of his friends.

The clash between the orthodox rcactionaries and Tilak was
not of Tilak’s making. It was not due to any change in his
convictions, but duc to a chance. Had ‘'l'itak been as usual
on the side of the orthodox reactionaries, he would have made
Poona too hot for Ranade.  Indeed his opposition o Ranade
verged on hostlity. This storin in the tea cup did not soften
it: for, when the Nagpur Congress met in December 1801, he
vehemently attacked Ranade during the session of the Social
Conference.  He nearly collided with Ranade, the father and
leader of the Social Confeirence. Tilak had a tussle with
Ranade's licutenants in the morning and in the afternoon he
had a passage-at-arms with Ranade during the session. Against
Ranade he dashed with the force of the tidal waves of a rough
sea. But like a rock in the sea, Ranade was placable and
tranquil amid the raging billows!  The questions came on direct
like arvows, and the yeplies vepelled their attacks, Ranade giving
written replies through Dadasaheh Khaparde, President of the
Social Conference. 'The violence of the tone and tempo  of
Tilak irritated even Khaparde who threatened Tilak with bodily
removal if he did not observe decorum.  Yet Tilak persisted
in his questions and Ranade silenced him with smashing replics!
The bitterness evoked was so sharp that one of Ranade's
licutenants exclaimed that their differences would not vanish
during Tilak’s lifctime!

At the Congress session which, as stated above, was held in a
very beautiful pavilion in Nagpur, Tilak made a speech on a
resolution urging the Government to conciliate Indian public
opinion on matters concerning the defence of the country and
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to encourage and qualify Indians to defend their homes and their
Government by modifying the rules under the Arms Act.

As the British Government defended Indians, observed Tilak
in the course of his specch, some asked Indians why they wanted
arms. ‘The Government undertook to defend two hundred and
fifty millions of the people agaiust wild beasts and the wild bear
of the north. As their own returns showed, proceeded Tilak, they
did not defend the people against wild beasts and as for the
northern enemy, they would doubtless do their best when the
time came, but meanwhile their preparations were crushing the
life out of the country. "They did not wish the people to be
starved to death, because the Russians might make a raid twenty-
five years hence, he conduded.

As a result of the decision of the Appellate Court of Shankara-
charva Tilak was ex communicated.  Brahmin priests would not
perform religious rites at his house.  Tilak doggedly sat with
a sacred book in one hand and performed his rites with the
other. 'The boycott was so complete that even the playmates
of his childien boycotted them,  Tilak, in whose dictionary of
life the word surrender was not found, did not mind this social
hoyeott. At home there was no clderly person who could press
him to yicld to the social boycott. Sclf-respecting and unbending,
he did not vield. as was his wont, to the threat! The thread
ceremony of his eldest son and the marriage cciemony of his
daughter were occasions when Tilak, oo, felt the pinch of the
bovcott. A protége of Ranade was available for performing the
religious rites at those functions, but Brahmin cooks were not
available!  Oue of his friends serving in a State sent help from
his State and the difliculty was overcome!

It was quite stringe that Tilak was thrown on the side of
the reformers who blamed him for not being courageous cnough
to denounce the orthodox. while the orthodox leaders were
offended by the defence he put up on behalf of the men who
had taken tea at the bands of Christian Missionaries.  Agarkar,
therefore. deseribed Tilak as a bat hanging in an inverted posi-
tion between the reformers and the orthodox. More than that,
Agarkar wrote an articde in his Sudharak declaving that Tilak
had taken food at the hands of a Muslim at a railway station!
Tilak challenged Agarkar cither to prove his allegation or to
withdraw it unconditionally, and was about to take up the matter
in the court when Ranade intervened and a compromise was
arrived at.  Of course, Agarkar had to cat humble pie!



70 LOKAMANYA TILAK

v

The sccond occasion that led to a complete brecakdown of
Tilak's relations with the reformers was the bitter controversy
over an institution established by a lady named Pandita Rama-
bai, who was a Hindu convert to Christianity. She was the
daughter of a Chitpavan Brahmin, who conducted a Sanskrit
Academy at a secluded place. Her father was a promoter of
women’s education. He taught his wife Sanskrit and she too
became a Pandita.  After the death of Ramabai’s parents she
went to Calcutta with her brother and impressed with her
Sanskrit learning all those who came in contact with her. She
matricd a gentleman by name Meghavi in Assam and lived in
Assam with her husband. Soon after her husband died. She,
therefore, came back to Calcutta, and thence returned to Bombay
with her little daughter. Such was her courage and learning
that her name and fame had preceded her!

She soon removed to Poona and decided to give herself up
to the uplift and emancipation of women. For achicving her
goal she established an institution called * Arya Mahila Ashram '!
She was a poor woman and she found it difficult to run the
Ashram. The apathy shown by the Poona leaders to her insti-
tution totally disappointed her. By naturc she was an ambitious
woman and her ambition did not let her sit with folded hands.
She turned her cyes for sympathy in another dirvection. She
was favourably inclined to Christianity, and eventually she
turned to Christian missionaries for help.  She went to London
accompanied by her daughter and there embraced Christianity
in 1883. A woman of grcat moral force, she was endowed with
untiring energy and great organising ability. She joined
Cheltenham College to prosccute her studies.  She also served
as professor of Sanskrit in the same College. Her fame rcached
the farthest corners of Amcrica. She was thereupon invited by
the authorities of the Medical College at Philadelphia, to
attend its convocation ceremony at which Anandibai Joshi was
to receive the degree of Doctor of Medicine in 1886.  Accord-
ingly she went to America at the instance of Gopalrao Joshi and
Anandibai Joshi. There she secured the help of missionaries,
founded some institutions in Amcrica and then rcturnced to
India.t

With the solid support of American Missionarics she started
her welfare activitics in Bombay by cstablishing an institution

1 K. S. Thakare: Pandita Ramabai.
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called Sharada Sadan in March 1889. The Board of advisers
consisted of rcformers such as Ranade and Bhandarkar, and
influential men like Nulkar and Dandekar. Soon she shifted
her Sharada Sadan to Poona, the home of public institutions.
The Sharada Sadan was a residential school for Indian girls,
especially for widows. A Hindu lady converted to Christianity
and working for the uplift of Hindu women from uninterested
motives was regarded with suspicion! Tilak and his party did
not bclieve in her disinterestedness, and they kept an eye on
the activitics of Ramabai. A few months after some reports
appeared in American papers conducted by Missionaries praising
Ramabai’s missionary work at Poona. Tilak rcad one such
report in the Illustraled Christian Weekly of New York and he
threw a searching light on Ramabai’s missionary work by pub-
lishing extracts from those reports!

Meanwhile Pandita Ramabai went to Mangalore for some
days. In her abscnce carthen pots containing ‘Tulsi-plant were
handed over to a Christian lady, the acting Head of the Sharada
Sadan, for the use of the religious rites of the Hindu girls and
women in the Sadan. This was done purposely to test whether
the institution was giving religious freedom to its occupants.
It had the desired effect. On her arrival in Poona from
Mangalore, Pandita Ramabai kicked away those tulsi-pots.  This
was learnt from one Gadre, her clerk, who was a Prarthana-
samajist. Nulkar resigned his membership when it was proved
that Ramabai had converted to Christianity Gadre’s own
daughter who was also a student at the Sadan.

Tilak published a block of Ramabai’s letter which she had
addressed to Gadre, and there was a widespread uproar in Poona.
Wasukaka Joshi played a very useful role in all the manoeuvres
connected with the Ramabai affair. A man of robust common
sense, he was a ready help to Tilak in his day-to-day public
work and was a faithful collcague. Ramabai, with equal force,
retorted that because the Hindus did not care for her institution
she had to approach the missionarics on bended knees. The
Hindu lcaders should come forward, she added, to take charge
of the Sharada Sadan if they did not want the missionaries to
run the school. At this juncture Tilak published further extracts
from Ramabai’'s American speeches and from her books pub-
lished in America, and proved how she had promised the
American missionaries that she would throw open the door of
salvation through Christianity to the emancipated girls and
widows. Tilak likened her action to that of a woman who
locked her neighbour’s children and set fire to the roof, and
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who then said to God: “ Oh! Almighty, I have done my humble
part! Now it is in your hands to complete my mission!”

Tilak, editor of the Kesari, and V. B. Kelkar, editor of the
Mahratta, differed in their views on this affair of the Sharada
Sadan. When friends twitted Tilak pointing to the articles in
the Mahratta which favoured the stand taken by Ramabai, Tilak
wrote blundy that it was ingrained in his blood to criticize
fearlessly anybody from a judge to the editor of Subodh Patrika
disregarding the opinions of father, unde, maternal uncle, wife
and sons. The separation between the two cditors became
incvitable and Tilak took over the ownership of both the
Maliratta and Kesari accepting liability of seven thousand rupces
over the two papers. the Press being taken over by his two
partners, V. B. Kelkar and H. N. Gokhale.

Ranade and Dr. Bhandarkar pulled up Ramabai for her un-
reasonable attitude, but she set their authority at naught by
sccuring plenary powers from her Head Oflice in America.
Ranade and Bhandarkar protested against her unjust attitude,
but they failed to evoke in her any unbiassed feelings and to
make her eschew her ulterior motives.  So they severed their
connection with the Sadan. At last they declared that the Sadan
was conducted as an avowedly prosclytizing iustitution and that
Ramabai had departed from the lines of strict neutrality.  Guile-
Iess as they were, they came round at last to the views of Tilak
after being thoroughly disillusioned.

Later, Ramabai removed the Sharada Sadan from the purview
of the Poona lcaders to Kedgaon where she changed the name
*“Sharada ™ to ** Mukti "—salvation—and it became a Christian
Centre for proselvtizing activitics.  So complete was the meta-
morphosis Ramabai underwent that she refused to let her
daughter learn Sanskrit.!

Tilak rightly and ruthlessly attacked the Sadan because it
had devcloped into a centre for prosclytism.  Howtver, it must
be noted here that a notice was given in 1893 over the signatures
of Tilak and other leaders in the Kesari to the cffect that a
school would be opened for Hindu girls and widows, but nothing
came out of it. It had been the charge laid against Tilak by
his critics that Tilak made only destructive criticism and never
took up the consequential responsibility for constructive work.
Tilak had a genius for organisation and if he had a mind to
establish a school for girls and widows, he would have scen the
scheme through.  He had his own ideas about women’s cduca-

1 H. C. E. Zacharias: Renascent India, p. 21.



WAR ON SOCIAL REFORMERS 73

tion, but he had no time to give practical shape to them, and
so nonc knew exactly what they were like! Later Dr. D. K.
Karve, who started women’s education on the basis of Indian
traditions, too, could not win any support from Tilak!

\%

While engaged in the controversies over social reforms, Tilak’s
mind had been labouring patiendy for the previous three years
on determining the hoary age of the Fedas.  While reading the
Gita in 1889, one day it occurred to him that *“ we might derive
important condusions from the statement of Krishna that ‘he
was Margashirsha of the months”.”  This led him to put his
intcllectual telescope to the Vedic Calendar.  In those days the
Deccan College provided a platform for intellectual giants. A
few months carlier Tilak had made a speech ar the College on
“the saaed thread and the Thread Ceremony ™ in which he
suggested that the idea of the sacred thread must have originated
in the astonomical positions of the planets in the sky and
through various changes the idea must have assumed the present
form. This time Tilak read a paper on the subject of the
Antiquity of the T'edas at the Deccan College under the
presidentship of Principal Selby, and also dclivered a lecture on
the same subject in Poona.  Arriving at some conclusions, he
decided to submit a paper to the Ninth Oriental Congress which
was to be held in London in 1892, With that end in view he
took up the work in hand and shut himself for a month in a
room on the third Hoor of his residence at Vinchurkar’'s Wada
aud, dictating page after page, he completed the paper in one
month, working day and night, hardly having time to sleep.
As a rvesult of this continuous sleeplessness, his mouth and tongue
were covered thickly with red and sensitive spots, and he could
not take his usual diet for a month or so.

"I'he paper was submitted to the Conference and was published
in October 1893 under the title The Orion or Rescarches into
the Antiquity of the Vedas. The originality of the work lies in
the fact that so far the Western scholars had carried their
rescarch through purely language methods. Tilak abandoned it
and adopted the astronomical method.  The Western scholars
had come to the conclusion that the Vedas were not the most
ancient scriptures, and they hesitated to place the commencement
of the Vedic civilization earlier than 2400 B.c. Tilak pressed all
his knowledge of Sanskrit and astronomy, and traced the Greck
origin of the Orion and also the name of that constellation to
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Sanskrit Agrahayani or Agrahayan. The latter word mecans the
beginning of the year. Tilak, therefore, based his conclusions
on what is known as the precession of the cquinoxes, the pheno-
menon associated with the crossing of the meridian by the Sun.

He, therefore, concluded that all the hymns of the Rigveda
containing references to that word, i.c. the equinoxical point, or
the various traditions clustering round it, must have been com-
pleted before the Greek separated from the Hindus and at a
time when the vernal equinox was in the Orion, or, in other
words, when the year began with the Sun in the constellation
of Orion or Margashirsha, i.c. before 4000 B.c. In support of
his conclusion he quoted many of the Vedic texts and legends,
and showed how these legends were strikingly corroborated by
the legends and traditions of Iran and Greece.

As every new rescarch is subjected to a gruclling test before
it is accepted by scholars, Tilak’s new theory was also examined,
and gradually Western scholars like Max Miiller. Weber, Jacobi
and Whitney acknowledged the learning and originality of the
author. Whitney, with a thought-provoking article on Tilak’s
book in the journal of the Oriental Socicety, paid glowing tributes
to the author. Dr. Bloomfield of John Hopkins University, in
an anniversary address, described the book as *“ an event which
is certain to stir the world of Science and Culture.” He
applauded at the lconine way in which the author had controlled
the Vedic literature and other occidental works. ““ The book
is unquestionably,” opined the famous scholar, “the literary
sensation of the year; history, the chronic readjuster, shall have
her hands uncommonly full to assimilate the result of Tilak’s
discovery and arrange her paraphernalia in the new perspective,”

Long before, Dr. R. G. Bhandarkar and K. T. Teclang also
had unfurled the flag of Indian authorship and research.
Bhandarkar's different papers, Telang's great thesis on Shankara-
charya and his brilliant essay on the Ramayana, which he wrote
at the age of twenty and twenty-three respectively, had cast a
halo round Indian scholarship and resecarch. Their intcllectual
peer Tilak came forward now to carry on the torch of the light
with his great illuminating scholarship. The days of Tilak were
the days of scholar-politicians. These leaders Ranade, Bhandar-
kar, Teclang and Tilak were the peaks of erudition and research!
Government also could not resist its admiration for the great
work. It purchased some copies of Tilak's book to help defray
the expenses of its publication. It may be noted that H. Jacobi,
a German scholar, had at the same time sought to date the
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Vedic literature with the help of astronomical data. Both Tilak
and Jacobi independently and simultancously arrived at nearly
the same conclusion, just as Darwin and Wallace evolved the
theory of natural sclection without knowing of each other’s work.

A%

The fight in the social ficld being over, Tilak now turned
his attention to Congress propaganda. He had now much
leisure. He taught in his Law Classes in the morning, and
editing of the weckly Kesari would take him two days at the
most.  The rest of the week was utilised by him for public work.

The Congress leaders in those days were busy lawyers. Mr.
A. O. Hume was General Secretary of the Congress for many
years, and he worked very hard to attract able men to it.  After
the annual session everybody forgot the work of the Congress;
for the delegates made speeches and passed resolutions with the
eyes fixed towards Government quarters. It was Tilak who first
saw the futility of those appeals, and realised that the Congress
would be able to amcliorate the condition of the people if the
masses were attracted to it and their power was harnessed to
the chariot of the Congress. It was the main role in his life
to stir up the people against their poverty, degradation and
slavery.

Tilak naturally turned his attention to the peasants who had
been harassed by the constant visitations of famine. It was
the responsibility of the Government to look after the interests
of the peasants in times of famines. But Government was not
performing its duty properly. He thercfore began to criticize
Government policy fearlessly. He laid emphasis on economic
troubles, dwelt on the selfish policy of the forcign Government
that had dislocated Indian nascent industries and had hampered
their growth with a view to favouring the importation of British
goods.

Tilak pleaded that unlike America where there was fresh,
fertile and plenty of land for cultivation, the Indian soil was
worn out and had grown less fertile having been under cultiva-
tion for centuries. Heavy pressure on land further made the
life of the peasants poorer. The failure of rains drove them to
desperation with the result that their houses, lands and cattle
were encumbered with heavy debts. More than that, about fifty
millions of the population dragged on a miserable existence
remaining on the verge of starvation and in every decade millions
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died of starvation. Intensely sympathctic with the masses for
their unbearable sufferings, Tilak protested against the laws and
administration that were reducing the peasantry to hopeless
poverty.

It was at this time that Hume addressed a confidential circular
letter to the Congress leaders, saying that the cup of misery of
scores of millions of the Indian masses was wellnigh full and
that a terrible rising was at the door. He, therefore, warned
the leaders that Government would not be able to protect the
people or itself.  The circular created an uproar.  Some Indian
journals and Englishmen described Hume’s circular letter as a
symbol of treason, and Mr. Maclean, Member of the British
Parliament, declared that under a less mild rule than the British
Hume would be hanged or shot as a traitor. Some of the
Congressmen took fright and dissociated themselves from that
circular.

‘Tilak’s own articles bore the title: *“Will the Peasants have
to revoltz” Pointing out that the people were burdened with
taxcs, that the population was increasing and trade was dcdmmg,
and that Government was becoming costlier and land growing
less fertile, he emphatically remarked that these factors presented
a very horrible picture, and it was not impossible that there
would be a revolt!

Tilak's articles in those days were full of anxiety about the
futurc of the Congress 01g1msauon, although he was surc that
the Congress would go down in history as a monumental insti-
tution. But to make it a power he said it should bc organised
on a firm basis so that it might grow from strength to strength.
He was restless over the indifference on the part of moneyed
men and educated classes to the Congress. In its carly stages
the Congress organisation always suffered from want of men
and money. Tilak persistently wrote that Congress must con-
tinue to hold its annual sessions with greater enthusiasin.  He
urged the rich classes to subscribe to the Congress fund and
Iend support to the Congress, and appealed to the educated
classes to lend liberal support to the Congress. He was, however,
glad that the movement was gradually sprcading and hoped that
the ignorance of the people about the Congress would be de-
creased with growing propaganda.

In November 1892 the Bombay Provincial Conference was
held at Poona. The successive successful sessions of the Pro-
vincial Conference now attracted the bosses of the Congress like
Pherozeshah Mchta, and he presided over that year’s Conference.
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Lively interest was taken by the delegates in discussing the form
and constitution of the proposed Councils under the New Act
of 1892. Tilak moved the important resolution on this subject
and suggested that the Municipalities and such other institutions
should be the clectorates of the proposed Legislative Councils.
This Conference was important from another point of view.
Delegates from other parts of the Bombay Province attended it
for the first time. At the end of the Conference Tilak was again
clected Joint Sccretary of the Provincial Conference along with
D. E. Wacha and Chimanlal H. Sctalvad.



CHAPTER VI

A NATIONAL AWAKENING

I

DURING the first quarter of the year 1893 Tiluk was busy with
two problems. ‘T'he first was the demand for the extension
of the system of trial by jury. The Congress had been voicing
that demand through its resolutions since its second session. The
jury system was introduced in India in 1862, but it was almost
nullified by Government in 1872 I)) dcpunng the verdicts of
juries of all finality, and by investing the Sessions Judges and
High Courts with the power to sct aside the verdicts of acquittal
by the juries.

At this time K. T. Telang, giving his opinion on the issue,
said that the system of trial by jury in murder cases should
not be applied to areas like Belgaum, Ahmedabad and Surat.
Tilak severcly criticised Telang's stand and declared that how-
cver cultured a man might be by learning and gentlemanliness
these qualitics might not necessarily inspirc him with confidence
and courage to express his opinions fearlessly and would not
lcad him to any substantial achievement. And Telang was an
example of this. That Telang the Judge, the first Indian to
be appointed Vice-Chancellor of an Indian University, the orator
and the author should have cxpressed such an opinion was very
strange. Tilak, thercfore, said that it would indeed be a great
day when people began to understand the difference between
an able and learned executive and a leader of the people. The
title of Tilak’s article was a sharp Marathi proverb used to depict
a traitor: “One who assists the enemy in injuring his own
people.”

The second problem that occupied Tilak’s mind this year was
the resolution of Government modifying the Public Service
Commission’s Report. All Congress leaders opposed it vocifer-
ously. Dadabhai Naoroji, who was now an M.P., pressed upon
the attention of the British Parliament the injusticc done to
India by not holding simultaneous examinations in India and
England for the Indian Civil Service. It was the consensus of
opinion among Indian leaders that, as the service was to be
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performed in India, the examinations should be held in India
alone.

Tilak also wrotc in his weeklics asking people to send petitions
to Parliament, and himself submitied a memorial defending the
natural right, the inalienable right, of Indians to serve their
motherland. He explained to the people how the Government
policy of employing Europcans in the higher ranks of the public
services was responsible for draining away India’s money and
was the cause of the growing poverty of India. He told the
people that it was a pity that the sons of India should be
required to serve the British masters in the capacity of sub-
ordinate officers, such as assistants, deputies and sub-officers.
The appellation ““ Head ” could be connected with Indians only
when they were police constables and teachers. Tilak added
that the popular belief that under the British rule even a blind
man could travel from one end of the country to the other with
gold ticd to his staff without being robbed was no longer truc,
as the prevailing regime itself had rendered them paupers.

Speaking on simultancous examinations before the Congress,
Gokhale, too, had indignantly remarked that if the rulers did
not carry out their promiscs, they should openly and publicly
fling into the flames all those promises and pledges as so much
waste paper, and should tell their subjects once for all that,
after all, they were a conquered people and they could have
no rights or privileges. Thereafter Gokhale was looked upon
as an encmy of the Government, and was followed by police
spies!

While this propaganda was going on, an event took place that
proved to be a turning point in Indian politics. Ou August 11,
1893, communal disturbances occurred between the Hindus and
Muslims. Communal disturbances had occurred before this,
but there was a difference now in that the recent disturbances
had a method in their madness. Sudden outbreaks of great fury
broke out between the Hindus and Muslims when temples and
mosques were stormed; localitics were given up to pillage and
slaughter, and peace was restored only by military troops. Such
riots had taken place at Banaras in 1809, at Bareilly and other
places in the United Provinces in 1871, and in 1885-87 serious
clashes took place throughout the Punjab culminating in the
great Delhi riots of 1886 when there was an overlapping of
festivals.

To understand the background of these disturbances it is
necessary to go back a little. The birth of the Congress was
not taken to happily by the leaders of the Muslims. At
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Lucknow, on December 28, 1887, while the National Congress
was holding its third session at Madras, Sir Syed Ahmed Khan
warned the Muslims of the evils which they would suffer from
majority rule and of the bloody consequences of political
agitation.!

The wave of these communal clashes spread from Prabhas
Pattan in the Junagadh State to Bombay, although grave out-
breaks had already occurred in the Azamgarh District of the
United Provinces because cow Kkilling was allowed on  the
Bakri-Id day near temples, and at Rangoon scrious riots had
broken out between the Hindus and Muslims because cows were
not allowed to be slaughtered near the temples. The Junagadh
State was in those days ruled by a Muslim Prince. There the
Muslims broke the idols of the Hindus and poured boiling ml
on innocent saints and hermits, gosavins and pilgrims.*

Gujarati Hindus in Bombay held a mceting 10 cxpress
sympathy for the oppressed Hindus at Prabhas Pattan: Muslims
in Bombay also held a meeting and expressed their support to
the Muslims at Prabhas Pattan. This created tension, and the
Muslims in Bombay started a riot on August 11, 1893, at
Hanuman lane breaking the temple of Hanuman. "t he Muslims
in neighbouring localities simultancously sprang out at the
appointed time and pounced upon the Hindus, who were taken
unawares. Such was the ferocity of the rioters that guns had
to be fired to quell the rioters.

Next day, at the instance of Laxmidas Khimji, a Bombay
millionaire, who was a very influential man well known for his
magnanimous heart, the Mahratta Hindus attacked the Mustins
and literally reduced them to a position between the devil and
the deep sea, the Muslims from some localities seeking shelter
at the scaside mosque at Mahalaxmi. In order to 1estore peace
in the city the Police Commnissioner took a round in company
with the leaders of both the communitics.

The news of the riots spread to Poona and Hindu lcaders
there were perturbed and the masses were disturbed.  Tilak took
up his pen and attacked the British ofhcials holding them
responsible for the butchery. The main point of his attack was
that Government was partial, and was not performing its duty
in a just and fearless, impartial and ruthless manner.

When Tilak took up the question, a controversy started. The
Anglo-Indian newspapers and Govermnent spokesmen attributed
these riots to the cow-protection socictics established by the

1 Political India, edited by Sir John Cumming, p. 89.
2 N. C. Kelkar: Life of Lokamanya Tilak (Marathi), p. 395.



A NATIONAL AWAKENING 81

Hindus. Some said mischievously that the Hindus were safe
under British rule, otherwise Muslims would have harassed
them. This anti-Hindu propaganda carried on by interested
groups provoked Tilak, and he replied that nobody so far had
heard any complaint made by any Muslim that because of the
work of the cow-protection societies there was paucity of beef.
Tilak observed that there was a ban on cow-slaughter in the
pre-British period also, and repudiating the charge that the
Hindus were safe from Muslim attack under the British rule,
he stated the fact that the British captured India not from the
Muslims, but from the Mahrattas and Sikhs, who had brought
the Muslim rulers to their knees.

Elucidating these points, he further observed that the false
notion that Government was afraid of the Muslims gave rise
to these riots, and its partiality emboldened them to attack the
Hindus. He held that because Government could not curb the
aggressors, the Hindus had to resort to violence in sclf-defence.
The Hindus had no other alternative but to beat back the
Muslim aggression when Government protection failed. In his
opinion the Hindus were a tolerant people; they were not rude
and wild like the Muslims. They had resort to violence only
under provocation. He was glad to note that the Hindus had
not so far fallen a victim to the spirit of the adage, “ resist not
but yicld to the aggressor.”” He was glad that the Mahratta
Hindus had not devcloped that cowardice which would ask them
to suffer mcekly the miseries inflicted by others without
retaliation!

Immediately after the Bombay riots, the Poona Hindus led by
Tiluk called a meeting of the Hindus to represent their case
to the Government. Ranade and Mehta asked Tilak to drop
the idea of the meeting as they feared that such Hindu meetings
would aggravate feelings. It was not that they did not believe
in the justness of the Hindu side. The Dnyanprakash, the
mouthpiece of the Ranade Party, said two weeks later: “ Some
of the Government officials may think it to be an agreeable
pastime to put onc race against another and to make political
capital out of the whole affair. But how dangerous this pro-
cedure is can now very well be realised when we have experi-
enced this year a frightful succession of disturbances.”

Tilak replied to the Ranade Party that if Government were
to be plainly told that Muslims rioted because of its partial
attitude, the meeting should be a purely Hindu affair. Ranade
had sent a written message to one of his lieutenants advising
him to root out the idea of a Hindu meeting in its early stage.
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But the meeting did take place, as Tilak was determined to
hold it. Another feature of the meeting was that not only the
Ranade Party, but also those who had supported Tilak’s agita-
tion against the Age of Consent Bill were now on the opposite
side.  So ‘Tilak took cvery precaution not to give any chance
for misteport or misrepresentation of the speeches that would
be made at the meeting.  Every speaker read his speech before
the audience.

Tilak made a viwiolic attack on Ranade and his Party and
wrote with ostentatious piousness that had Ranade the sweet-
ness of ‘T'elang he would have been installed into judgeship long
ago; had he onefourth of the courage poss(*»scd by Mandlik or
Mchta he would have been huudlcd times more uscful than
what he was. Tilak acknowledged the vastness of Ranade's
intellect and its sharpness, but, he proceeded, it did not mean
that Ranade had been born with a charter of righteousness and
infallibility.

In this attack on Ranade Tilak explained his theory of leader-
ship.  His first principle was that leaders were not masters, but
servants of the people.  As long as the views of the leaders did
not differ much from those of the people, the leaders deserved
their homage. When they differed, there was bound to be a
divorce! He pointed out that Government valued the opinion
of the Sarvajanik Sabha not because it was the mouthpicee of
Ranade, but because it represented public opinion.

In another artide in the Aesari Tilak observed that differences
on political and social problems were bound to prevail, and such
differences were welcome to some extent; just as it was dangerous
to say that God was reachable by only one particular way of
worship, so also it was very dangerous to plead that one parti-
cular method or one particular opinion alone was conducive to
national progress. Everyone was more or less proud of his
views and depended on the people for their support. Naturally
one whose views captivated the masses at a particular time must
be regarded as a lcader of the people. He concluded that
Ranade’s views would have been people’s views had the leaders
of different groups accepted them.

This was how Tilak influenced public opinion.  According
to those principles it was easy, his critics held, 1o rouse the
people, but those principles were not useful for controlling,
educating and guiding public opinion as the leader who followed
such principles would not show courage to dilfer from the
people!  No other leadér was a better or more perfect symbol
of this philosophy of lcadership! By his agitation over the Age
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of Consent Bill Tilak captured the sympathies of orthodox
Hindus and the haters of British Raj; by his agitation over the
Crawford affair he won the hearts of many others. Tilak was
now coming to the forefront as a leader of the Hindus in
Maharashtra, overcoming all opposition to his leadership offered
by the Ranade Party.

These controversies could not distract Tilak’s attention from
the session of the Bombay Provincial Conference. Its sixth
session was held at Ahmedabad in the first week of November
1892, where he moved a resolution opposing the increased land
assessment in Maharashira,  The Conference put on record its
opinion that the separation of the Exccutive and Judicial
functions should be effected as carly as possible, and it appointed
a committee under the Hon'ble Mr. Pherozeshah Mchta to work
out a scheme for the various districts in the Presidency. Tilak
was a member of that Committee. At this juncture Hume paid
a visit to Poona. Impressed by the zeal, sacrifice and sincerity
of Hume for the uplift of India and his ability in active propa-
ganda for bolstering up the Congress, Tilak praised Hume
as the Mabatma who showed the Indian leaders the key to
political progress, and he hoped that some Indian leaders would
come forward to carry on vigorously the work of the Congress.
A few days later Tilak was clected Fellow of Bombay University
by the students, and Ranade, genial and placable had supported
his candidature.  About this time Dadabhai Naoroji, who had
been clected to the British Parliament in 1892 by the electors
of Central Finsbury, came to India on an invitation by the
Congress leaders 1o preside over its Lahore session which was
to be held in the last week of December 1893. He was given
a great ovation on his arrival in Bombay on December 16, and
next day Poona accorded him a grand welcome at a public
mecting which was held at Hirabag.  Paying glowing tributes to
Dadabhai, Tilak said that they had reccived the guest in as
fitting 2 manner as they could and added that those of the
Bombay fricnds who had come to see how the Poona people
performed their duty would take favourable news to Bombay.
Upon this Pherozeshah, who in response to a call from the
audiencce rose to make a speech, said amidst laughter that he
had not come to Poona as a spy as stated by Tilak but as an
Indian (o join in co-operating with them at the national gratifi-
cation for the clection of Dadabhai.

Soon after this function Tilak went to Amritsar to attend
the annual session of the Congress. In this session he spoke
on the resolution asking Government to fulfil their thirty years’



84 LLOKAMANYA TILAK

old promise to grant permanent settlement in land revenue in
India. He pointed out that the increase in land revenue
amounted to thirty per cent in the Bombay Presidency.

Just then riots between the Hindus and Muslims occurred at
many places in Maharashtra, disturbing intermittently the
tranquillity of the Province for over two ycars. During the
course of the riots idols were broken and cows were killed in
temples.  In February 1894 Tilak visited Akola where riots had
broken out for a second time, and brought to light the mischicf
of Government ofhicers, blaming the Government of Lord Harris
for not taking proper precautions in the matter. Riots had
been threatening to break out in Poona since June 1894, but
were averted. At last a riot broke out at Poona also in
September 1894 during the Ganesh festival which Tilak had
started as a means of propagating nationalism among the masses
and in which people enthusiastically participated.  "The Hindus
at Poona retaliated scverely, and as a result some Hindus were
arrested and prosecuted; but later were acquitted in November
1894 by Mr. Jacob, the judge in the Sessions Court, Poona.
Mr. Jacob was thereafter privately honoured by Poona Hindus;
and while he was presiding over a school function, the Poona
Hindus showered flowers on him! At a public mecting the
leaders were publicly congratulated on their acquittal, and
Government was blamed for wrong prosccutions and for their
negligence in the matter. Tilak demanded an apology from
Lord Harris for running down the Poona Brahmins.

Tilak said there should be a peaceful and just settlement
of the issue. With that ¢nd in view Muslims should not be
allowed to kill cows ncar Hindu localities, and Hindus should
be allowed also to carry on cow protection in Muslim localities.
Muslims should not object to the playing of music by Hindus
near mosques and should carry on their prayers as they did
when in trains and steamers!

As regards the advice tendered by the Christians, who asked
the Hindus to have brotherly relations with all, he replied that
it would happen when all other people also behaved well towards
the Hindus. He further declared that it would be good if the
Hindus and Muslims understood that they would not be profited
by rowdyism and brutalities. The third party, the Government,
was dividing them and setting one against the other.  He further
pointed out that the Britishers took sides with the Muslims not
because they loved the mosques more than the temples, but
because it helped them to perpetuate their rule by creating
divisions among Indians.
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These views led the British officials to belicve that Tilak’s
agitation was directed more against the British Government than
against the Muslims. Indeed, his leadership did not aim at
opposing the Muslims or at arousing the animosity of the Hindus
towards them, but he opposed vehemently their fanaticism. To
foster opposition to British rule, to bring people into conflict
with Government, and to make Government unpopular was the
sole aim of Tilak’s speeches, writings, and leadcrship, although
the inner man must have felt sure that the view that communal
differences were deliberately fomented by the British on the
principle of divide at impera was not wholly truc. Yet Tilak
would not have missed an opportunity to win over Muslim
sympathy and direct the Muslims against the Government had
they shown such a gesture.

Out of this tension and trouble, some good, however, came
out. Tilak utilised the enthusiasm and vigour of the people
for keeping up their pride in the doings of their ancestors, and
used it as a means of educating the common people. The
Hindus, who had been so far participating in the Moharram
cclebrations, now gave it up. Tilak harnessed their energy for
organising the Ganesh festival and thus people got a substitute.
Before the advent of ‘Tilak, the Ganesh festival was not a public
affair. It was a private one. It was his organising ability and
lead which transformed it into a public festival. He aroused
in the pcople a sense of corporate feelings. Ganesh festival
socicties were founded all over Maharashtra.  Youths organised
themsclves into bands of singers. Gymmastic societies were
encouraged, and deeds of self-denial and valour were put forth
for emulation before the young by fiery speakers and priests
during the days of the festival. For some time a band of Hindu
youths acted as bodyguards of Tilak to protect him against
any possible attack by Muslim -ruffians.

Tilak rcalised that the British rulers took sides with the
Muslims because their policy turned upon selfishness and self-
aggrandizement! They sided with the Muslims because they
saw a danger in the Hindu majority who were gradually awaken-
ing. The Muslims thought that they werc in a minority and
backward in education, and they feared that because the Hindus
were going ahead in every ficld, they would capture all political
power! :

The Act passed by the British Parliament in June 1893 on
the civil service was not less responsible for confirming that belief
of the Muslims. A few cnlightened Muslims like Badruddin
Tyabjee took part in the Congress movement. The Congress
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leaders were taking steps very cautiously and lact[u]ly Jest they
might wound the susceptibilitics of the Muslims. That is why
a proposition on cow-protection was dropped during the Madras

Congress ' when Badruddin Tyabjee presided over the Congress

in 1887. Despite such caution, now the Muslims were showing

signs of a slight departure from the national stand. 'The Aligarh

school of thought ushered in by Syed Ahmed to preach boycott

of the Congress was gradually gaining ground. At the time

of the last Provincial Conference, which was held at Ahmedabad,

some Muslims there had held a separate meeting and declared

that they had nothing to do with that Provincial Conference.

While the Congress was holding its session at Lahore, at Aligarh

Sir Syed Ahmed and Mr. Beck, the Principal of his College at -
Aligarh, were exhorting Muslims to keep aloof from the Congress

and impressing upon the Muslim mind the importance of estab-

lishing a separate organisation for the British and the Muslim

to counteract Hindu domination.  Tilak watched these activities

and wrote an article in which he described Beck as an enemy

of Hindusthan. A few months before, the Bombay Provincial

Conference had met at Bombay under the Presidentship of a

Muslim gentleman. and Tilak therefore felt great relief.  He

expressed a hope that the nationalminded Muslims would not

fall a victim to communal feelings.  When, therefore, two years

later the Muslims held a scparate conference at Karachi while

the Bombav Provincial Conference was going on in that city,

Tilak deplored the move and the object behind it.

"

During the last quarter of the vear 1894 Tilak was engaged
in the defence of his friend V. 8. Bapat who was an Officer in
the Land Alienation Deparument of Baroda. While the
Maharaja of Baroda was on a tour of Furope and the British
officer who was the well-wisher of Bapat had proceeded to
England on leave, the British Resident at Baroda, the Land
Alicnation Settlement Commissioner and the Dewan of Baroda
cecided to bring an action against Bapat for corruption. Bapat
was suspended and a Commission was appointed to try him.
Bapat was brought to Bormibay by Wasukaka Joshi by giving
the police the slip, and Bapat lay for some time in hiding. A
few days later he was produced at Baroda through his legal
advisers.  He was charged with having received thirty-six bribes.
It was the allegation of the prosccution that in fifteen of the

I'D. V. Athalye: The Life of Lokamanya Tilak, p. 76.
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original charges Mr. Bapat had himself received the bribes, and
in the remainder agents had been employed.

Tilak, who was as ruthless in crushing his opponents as he
was sincere in helping his friends, went to Baroda to defend his
fricnd. It was his belief that Bapat was absolutely innocent
of the charges laid against him. Tilak and Mr. M. C. Apte
defended him. ‘Pursue an object with all your might, with
all the power of your mind, with all the force of your will’
was Tilak’s motto.  Tilak sat day and night preparing all papers
of the case, arranging cvidence and doing clerical work also.
On the other side was a Yuropean Barrister, Mr. Branson, and
for some days Mr. Pherozeshah Mehta also worked for the prose-
cution. Apte was an experienced lawyer and he was powerful
enough to make even Pherozeshah Mehta uncasy on the other
side.  Tilak, the cditor and lawyer, sometimes suggested some
points which were not relevant or appropriaic!  And Apte said
to Tilak with a meck smile: * Balwantrao, this is a court affair
and not a matier 10 be howled after in an editorial!”  While
the proceedings were going on, Apte died and his place was
taken by Tilak's friend D. A. Khare.

Tilak worked at Baroda under many disadvantages. Bapat,
who had full power to do a good or an evil turn to anyone
who had dealings with the Alicnation Office, found now that
his influence had totally waned. Tilak could not get even
accommodation for his office at Baroda.  Police spies dogged his
footsteps. and he had to write to the Dewan of Baroda that if he
50 desired he would send his day-to-day diary for his perusal.

Tilak returned to Poona after recording the statement of the
accused, and rcopened his Law  Class from March 1895,
Engrossed in the proceedings of Bapat case, he could not find
time to attend the Bombay Provincial Conference which was
held in Bombay in November 1894, nor could he attend the
Madras Congress which et in December 1894, Although Bapat
was originally charged with having received thirty-six bribes,
only twelve of those charges were investigated.  Finally he was
sentenced by the Commission to six months’ imprisonment, and,
in addition, was fined ten thousand rupecs.

His Highness the Maharaja of Baroda just then returned to
Baroda. He called for the papers of the Bapat case, and took
counsel with his judges and ministers. On the unanimous
advice of those officers the Maharaja tosk a deécision. He
“freed ” the accused of the whole cleven charges of which the
Commission had found him guilty, but ordered that Bapat's
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services be dispensed with. Bapat, however, was pensioned off.
Some papers highly criticised the decision, asking why the
Maharaja did not use the expression * acquitted " instead of
“freed .

In serving his friend, Tilak had served the Maharaja of Baroda
also whose administration his ill-wishers wanted to censure.
Tilak had indirecly defended the administration of Baroda and
on many points frustrated the plans of the clique that wanted
to cast aspersions on the Maharaja! 'The Maharaja called Tilak
and requested him to translate a work for his State. Tilak was
a symbol of self-respect, and he was confident that his pen and
power were meant for higher achievements.  He, therefore, did
not stoop to conquer. When he returned home, he told his
nephew that he had flatly dedlined the offer of the Maharaja,
and added: “T am not born to earn my bread by making mere
uanslations for others. T am actuated with the spirit of some
century work for the age I live in!”?!

No sooner did Tilak return to Poona than he was drawn into
another controversy! It was the tme of retirement of Lord
Harris, the Governor of Bombay, and his admirers wanted to
erect a public memorial to him.  Lord Harris had said that the
leaders of the Province needed more commonsense and had also
called them mcan-minded. So Tilak expressed his indignant
disapproval of the remark and was grieved to see that people
had grown so devoid of self-respect as to erect a memorial to
a ruler who had insulted them and had failed in performing
his duties. He attacked the servile attitude of those leaders
who had developed the habit of flattering the rulers by ervecting
a mcmorial to every retiring Governor or Viceroy, just as they
performed ecvery year the anniversary rites of their deceased
fathers with studied regularity! The result was that the idea
of a public memorial was given up! Nobody but Tilak could
write in such a ruthless manner. Tilak was a synonym for
courage! He despised the cowards and loathed the abject
flatterers who fawned on the Governor.

It was the practice of Tilak to congratulate and encourage
anyone who faced or pulled up bureaucrats for some reason or
other. He bestowed his hearty praise on Pherozeshah Mehta,
who had attacked the Government in the Council in connection
with the Police Act Amendment.

L Reminiscences and Anecdotes about Lokamanya Tilak, Vol. I, p. 200,
compiled and cdited by S. V. Bapat.
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I

Tilak’s friends and admirers now strove to raise their leader
to a still higher status in his political career. The time for the
elections to the reformed Legislative Councils, which were
cxpanded under the Indian Councils Act of 1892, had come.
Under that Act, the Bombay Presidency got six seats for its
clected representatives, Madras seven and Bengal also seven.
Tilak had not contested a seat at the time of the first election.
Six Districts in the Bombay Presidency then were not given
clective rights, the Poona District being one of them, but now
the Districts were invested with elective rights. Tilak decided
to contest a seat and cntered the arena; and it turned into a
battle.

There were two rivals. One was Mr. Garud, who was a
well-connected and well-to-do young man.  Another rival, Jathar,
was also a very influential man. He was a Rao Bahadur and
former Dircctor of Public Instruction in Berar, and was sup-
ported by the Runade Party. Government servants who
abhorred Tilak were on the side of Jathar. However, some
Government officers who were Tilak's friends worked for him
silently.  The propaganda on both the sides soon reached a
climax. Tilak was now an outstanding leader in Poona, and
Ranade was the only leader in Maharashtra whom he could not
outshine so far.

In the meanwhile Tilak stood for the Poona Municipal elec-
tion also. Till then he had helped his men to capture muni-
cipal seats. Now he desired to do it himself. It was easy for
him to top the successful candidates, and he stood first among
them. He served the city in that capacity for about a year’
and a half. He was now riding the popular wave. Triumphs
camc onc after another as the reward of his selfless service in
the public causc. Tilak succeeded in the election to the Legisla-
tive Council, routing his formidable rivals. This victory of
Tilak must have made Government and the Anglo-Indian news-
papers very uneasy. Tilak was not yet in open revolt against
Government, and thosc officers who came in contact with him
were surprised to know that he was an extraordinarily intelligent
and very straightforward man. The Anglo-Indian papers were
nervous about the whole affair, and some suggested to Govern-
ment to cancel Tilak’s election on the plea that he was a
journalist! Notwithstanding the cdamour and ill-will, Tilak
received the appypygl of Government to his election on June 12,
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1895. This was indeed a victory of the people, a victory of the
principle of election. )

Tilak's success was an event of joy to all patriotic-minded
men. The Brahmin Sabha of Bombay held a meeting at
Bombay to congratulate Tilak on his victory. Presiding over
the function, Sir Bhalchandra Bhatavdekar proudly narrated
that it was Tilak's complaint that a day’s time was not sufficient
for his daily work. His activities were spread over a vast field,
and it would be better, said the President, if he were blessed
with a day lasting for more than twenty-four hours.

It was at this time that the idea of a Shivaji Memorial was
being discussed by the public. The origin of the Shivaji Festival
was in Mr. Douglas’ Book of Bombay which was written in 1883,
in which he referred to Shivaji, saving that people had neglected
him. The Governor of Bombayv some time thereafter paid a
visit to Raigad and saw the tomb of the great liberator of the
Hindus in a dilapidated condition. With grecat generosity he
sanctioned a grant of five rupees a month for the upkeep of
the tomb. Then somcone wrote in the Times of India about
the condition of the tomb. This gave an impetus to the ques-
tion of a Shivaji Mewmorial at Raigad. Tilak's Kesari supported
the idea of a mewmorial, and in May he held a mecting in Poona
to find ways and means to give the idea a practical shape.
Similar mecetings were held at important towns all over Maha-
rashtra, and a Memorial Fund was collected.

When Tilak was thus working and shining with a lusue of
his own, his one-time colleague G. G. Agarkar, who had risen
to the Principalship of the Fergusson College, wound up his
mortal coil when he was thirtv-nine. He had been suffering
from poverty and asthma since his early youth. Many took in
the past a vow of leading a life of extreme poverty for the uplift
of their nation, but few stuck to it as nobly and valiantly as
did Agarkar. Tilak was moved at the death of his whilom
colleague. A few days before Agarkar's dcath, Tilak had been
to his residence to have a last glimpse of his former brilliant
and brave collcague but the dying man turned his face asidel
He had turned into an inveterate opponent! They had merci-
lessly attacked cach other in their papers, and when feelings
ran high, both had written crude and often censorious articles
about each other. During the last five or six years Tilak and
Agarkar were not even on speaking terms! When the news fell
on Tilak's ears that the great man had passed away, he was
filled with memories of his youth, and he sobbed as he dictated
an obituary in which he paid glowing tributes to his great
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ability as an editor and appreciated his solid contribution to
Indian journalism. He praised Agarkar for his selfless aim in
life and asked the youth to cmnulate his example.

In August 1895 Tilak led a deputation to wait on the Maharaja
of Kolhapur and discussed the question of a Shivaji Memorial
with him. It must be noted here that the Shivaji festival was
first started by men like Ranade as ecarly as 1885, but when
Tilak transformed it into a national festival they opposed it
thinking perhaps that it would estrange the non-Hindus and
possibly bring the promoters into conflict with the Government,
although apparently they said they were against idol worship!

Meanwhile the fight between the Ranade Party and the Tilak
Party had come to a head over the management of the Sarva-
|.m1k Sabha, and Tilak was making preparations for administer-
ing the final blow to the followers of Ranade. In July 1895, at
the annual meeting of the Sarvajanik Sabha, the Tilak Party
captured it, clecting their own office-bearers and retaining the
Sccretary Prof. G. K. Gokhale, who was allowed to remain in
the hope that heing stifled in his voice he would in course of
time voluntarily send in his resignation!  Another outcome of
the new leadership was that the Muslim members of the Saiva-
janik Sabha resigned.

Gokhale eveutually resigned in August 1895, and Justice
Ranade founded the Deccan Sabha when he went to Poona
during the Diwali vacation.  In order to give Gokhale an oppor-
tunity to work independently and to have a rallying centre for
the Moderates to work smoothly, Ranade founded this institu-
tion. It was a queer freak of destiny that compelled Tilak to
resign from the Deccan Fducation Society, whereas it was now
Tilak who drove the Ranade Party out of the Sarvajanik Sabha.
According to some critics, this attitude did not become Ranade
to start another rival institution to Sarvajanik Sabha through
which he had done uscful work for many years and which he
had himsclf brought up.

This gave an opportunity to Tilak, who ferociously attacked
Ranade. saving that Ranade had done it because his senses had
ceased functioning in his old age. The idea of starting an
institution was discussed by Ranade at a garden tea-party, and
Tilak rctorted that it was surprising that the idca of starting a
new institution should have occurred to Ranade during his
discussion with his followers on the day of the new moon, and
that too under toddy trees!

This time Tilak surpassed his vitriolic performances in the
past. ~ As Ranadec tried to kill what he had himself brought up,
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he compared Ranade with Bacon and said that Bacon was a great
but mcan-minded man. He further described Ranade as a
Kautilya and a Shukracharya. But the last twinge of conscience
gripped Tilak’s mind, and he expressed a hope that there might
not arise an occasion for him to denounce Ranade so caustically.
When feelings run high, even great men lose their balance and
sense of proportion.

Tilak was never satisfied until his rival went down reeling.
He would not shrink from lacerating his enemy cven if he was
half dead! He was a queer combination of hard-heartedness
and softness. Later when someone reminded Tilak that his
attacks on Ranade were cruel and sordid, unbecoming and un-
charitable, he would point out that the Anglo-Indian papers
too had attacked Ranade, and nobody complained against them.!
How can one bad thing justify another? He defended himself
saying that it was modern warfare, and as he believed that in
such a warfare success rested with those who could use guns of
longer range than those of his encmies ®; and so he gave no
quarter and asked for none! Ranade, who, while grounding his
disciple, told Gokhale that there should be more light than
heat, thus experienced the sting of Tilak’s tongue and the
scorpions of his bitter pen. This attack, however, failed to
provoke Ranade. Ranade was called a Socrates; Tilak the
Blunt, not in vain! What of Ranade, in fact, no contemporary
Indian leader entirely escaped the wrath of Tilak’s pen!
‘When arguments fail, try abuse’ goes an adage. And Tilak
sometimes used both, arguments and abuse!

With the foundation of the Deccan Sabha, Poona had now
two Sabhas, two symbols for two schools of thought, two Partics,
two clubs, two types of lcaders, Moderates and Extremists—two
appellations or nomenclatures that were soon to divide India
politically into two groups. The Party of Ranade remained all
along radical in social reforms and moderate in politics.  Tilak’s
Party remained to the end of his life extremist in politics and
conservative in matters of social reforms.

v

Poona was going to hold the Congress session in December
1895, and the preliminaries were being discussed. A new issuc
was now developing around it. ‘The opponents of social re-
formers in Poona declared that they would oppose the Congress

1 Tilak-Paranjpye Controversy, p. 19
2 Ibid., p. 3.
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allowing the Social Conference the use of its pandal. They
raised a huc and cry against the Social Confcrence. The ortho-
dox reactionaries organised a crusade against the reformers and
it was declared through leaflets that the promoters of the Social
Confercnce were the corruptors and destroyers of the Hindu
religion. Some educated men also allied themselves with them
to cry down the social reformers. The opponents of the Social
Conference said they would not subscribe a pie to the Congress
unless the leaders promised them that the Social Confercnce
would not be held in the Congress pandal, whereas the friends
of the Social Conference said that they would not subscribe a
pie to the Congress unless they were promised that the Social
Conference would be held in the Congress pandal. At first
Tilak denounced both, and said they both were enemies of the
Congress.

The Reception Committee was manned mainly by the Ranade
Party, and the Tilak Party was in a minority. Tilak, Gadgil
and G. K. Gokhale were Sccretaries. Tilak appointed sub-
committees without the sanction or the knowledge of the Work-
ing Committee, and when the Working Committce suggested
somc names to be added to the personnel of the sub-committees,
he left that body and convened a meeting to explain his stand.
The requisition of that meeting was signed by Tilak and his
party-men, and not by his co-Secretaries.

A bid for compromise having failed, the mceting then was
held as decided by Tilak. It was a big meeting and was attended
mostly by orthodox Hindus, green-grocers, and school-boys. 1t
was addressed by the Hon. Tilak, Mr. Namjoshi and by others.
The meeting was very disorderly throughout, and the police had
difficulty in maintaining order. It was proposed by ‘Tilak that
the work in connection with the meeting of the eleventh National
Congress should be entrusted to persons who had its welfare at
heart, and therefore a Reception Committee of sixty-five persons
was elected. Another resolution was moved by Namjoshi
dcclalmg that as the gencral opinion of Poona inhabitants was
against the Social Conference, the time had arrived to sever the
connection of the Social Conference with the National Congress.
This was also passed.

At the mecting Tilak said that the Congress work should be
entrusted to those persons who were prepared to work for the
Congress and for the Congress alone. As regards the Social
Conference, he said that he was not himself in its favour, as it
stood then, and cared little where it was held. He exhorted
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the people to work for and support the Congress irrespective
of the other questions.

But the new Reception Committee was not recognised by the
Working Committee, and so the point was referred by G. K.
Gokhale to the Bombay Standing Committee.  Accordingly a
meeting of the Bombay Standing Committee was held at Bombay
on October 26, in the rooms of the Bombay Presidency Associa-
tion under the Chairmanship of Mr. Pherozeshah Mchta.
Printed representations submitted by Tilak and Gokhale werc
read by the Chairman of the meeting. Then Tilak addressed
the meeting in L\pl.m.mon of his representation.  The meeting
did not recognisce the Rucplu)n Committee formed by Tilak
at the Reav Market meeting, and they said that they recognised
only the existing Congress Committee.  Tilak acquiesced in the
propriety and justice of the circumstance. He was, howcever,
allowed to continue by the Bombay Standing Connnittec as a
joint Secretary to the existing Committee, and D. E. Wacha,
Daji A. Khure and Chimanlal H. Setalvad were requested to
work as additional Secrctaries.  Tilak asked the Committee that
he should be allowed a day to consider whether he should con-
tinue as Scecretary or not.  Defeated, Tilak returned to Poona.
The Bombay leaders did not know what they were doing!  "They
were sending back a leader who was, as his opponents them-
selves called, a living god of the Poonaites. The lion of
Bombay was running down the lion of Poona!

Some letters appeared in the Times of India against Tilak's
move in connection with the Congress session.  One said that,
like an ambitious man, Tilak sacrificed principles at the altar of
popularity and organised an agitation against social reformers
whom he wanted to crush by forming an unholy alliance with
the orthodox and ignorant pc(splc and that the crusade was
fomented by a few educated men.  Another said that Tilak was
at once the apostle and leader of the reactionary party in the
Deccan and the writer of that letter was sorry that the man who
called the Social Conference an imposture or a farce should be
allowed to take a lcading part in the Congress.

Tilak rcplied to these critics in the Times of India saying
that the Party which opposed the Social Conference being held
in the Congress pandal, though not very strong, was certainly
stronger numcrically than the social reformers’ Party. It was
his main complaint that the friends of the Social Conference
worked for the Congress in such a way as would accord best
with the interests of the Social Conference, and their predilec-
tions for social reform necessarily limited the scope of their work,
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because they served two masters. Hence their work for the
Congress did not receive undivided attention. * Personally, I
do not approve of the method of social reform adopted by the
promoters of the conference,” he continued, ““ nor am 1 prepared
to admit that any want of supreme admiration for this conference
means, at least so far as I am concerned, opposition to real
social reform.” ** We only wish that whether orthodox or hetero-
dox, reformers or reactionaries, all should join in and support
the Congress movement as cvery inhabitant of India is entitled
to do. No efforts, in my opinion, should be spared to induce
the large masses of Poona and other places in the Presidency to
take interest in the forthcoming session of the Congress and thus
to place the Congress on a popular basis.”

“If masses are drawn to the Congress,” he explained, it is
possible that they may not lend their support directly or in-
directly 1o the Social Conference. It is this apprehension that
makes the friends of the social reform restrict the scope of their
work for Congress within a safe narrow circle.”

He, then, stated that if the Congress aimed at being a Congress
of the pcople, the object could not be achieved unless they
approached the artisans, the working men as well as the
educated classes.

In the end he promised all the well-wishers of the Congress
that he would not persist in claiming recognition of the views
of the majority of the public and hamper the Congress work.!

So he resigned on November 4, and then openly attacked the
social reformers and the Social Conference in the Kesari. This
strengthened the hands of the reactionaries like Balasaheb Natu
and S. V. Datc, the latter of whom had advanced money for the
Congress to kecp up Tilak's prestige if he were to accept the
responsibility of holding the Congress session. Balasaheb Natu
and S. V. Date were ultra reactionaries. Natu had more hate
for the Social Conference than love for the Congress.  S. V. Date,
a dismissed Mamlatdar, was a rich man with a ribald tonguc and
was an admirer of Tilak. All the opponents of the Social
Conference held a mass meeting where the passing of every
resolution was declared in a crude and riotous way—Dby blowing
trumpets! At this meeting Date gave the Congress leaders the
rough side of his tongue and added threateningly that, if they
did not pay hced to what they said, the Congress pandal would
be burnt, and Poona would repecat the scenes it had created
during Dayananda’s visit to Poona; and with the Social Confer-

1 The Times of India, 1 November 1895,
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ence would go down its supporters and protectors! As regards
the Social Conference, he said it was a discase, a lap-dog, and
if kicked out of the Congress pandal at this stage, the other
cities would be freed from its poison. S. V. Date soon visited
the Congress pandal and said to the passers-by pointing his finger
at any part of the pandal, that it could be easily burnt down
from that corner.

The Presidentelect Surendranath Banerjee informed the
Congress leaders that he could not agree to preside over the
Congress unless the dispute was settled.  He, however, wrote to
Ranade that the request of the other side was very unreasonable;
but they had sometimes to submit to unreasonable demands to
avert greater evils. Ranade thereupon declared that the Social
Conference would be held in a scparate pandal although the
majority of the Standing Committees, of course, being manned
by followers of Ranade, had supported the proposal for holding
the Social Conference in the Congress pandal.

It was the policy of Tilak to show up the leaders who, in his
opinion, adversely criticised the people.  In one statement issued
on behalf of the Congress, Gokhale charged ‘T'ilak with capturing
the Congress with " brute force ". Tilak at once twisted the
expression, and, putting it beforc the public, said that Gokhale
stigmatized the people as brutes; and gentle Gokhale felt nervous
about it! He approached Selby, the Principal of the Deccan
College, for the meaning of the expression, and the latter said
to Gokhale: *“To say that in attributing to certain people a
desire to carry their measures by ‘ brute force * you intended to
call them brutes, is nonsense.” Yet Tilak wrote an editorial
under the caption “ Who arc the animals?” on the subject
defining ““ popular opinion ”.  He observed that popular opinion
meant opinion of the pcoplc who werc wecll-to-do or of those
who could read and write and maintain their families by work-
mg hard and honestly, irrespective of their high or low qualifica-
tions, wealth or authority. He added that the xcall) educated
man who was interested in the uplift of the nation should win
over to his side the merchants, sirdars, landlords, inamdars,
peasants and workers. True leadership lay in doing that, and
not in calling them brutes!

It may be remembered that it was Tilak himself who had
handed over to the President of the Calcutta Congress in 1890
a resolution passed by the Poona orthodox requesting that the
Congress should not lend its pandal to the social reformers for
the use of the Social Conference. Thus the Poona reactionaries,
who had launched the opposition to the Social Conference being
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held in the Congress pandal, at last succeeded in their objective.
Shortly after this, Tilak declared in one of his articles in the
Kesari that the very idea that the Social Conference could be
national was ridiculous.

Another by-product of this Congress muddle was that Tilak
was going to bring an action against Subramania Iyer, the editor
of the Hindu, for publishing a report of a Poona meeting under
the title “ a disgraceful squabble ” in the issue of the Hindu of
the 2Ist October 1895, in which it was said that the students
from the Law Classes of Tilak were riotous at the mecting which
elected the delegates to the Congress. Tilak’s master technique
in capturing a meeting or institution was to ask his party-men
to outnumber his opponents and spring on them a surprise.
This technique he always usced, and he had used it at this meet-
ing to the embarrassment of Gokhale, although he himself did
not attend the meeting. It can be secen how Morley later on
correctly judged Gokhale when he said that as a party manager
Gokhale was a baby. Tilak was supreme as an organiser and
party boss! There was nothing wrong in Tilak’s winning his
object in a democratic way. Still according to Tilak the report
in the Hindu misrepresented the Tilak Party. It seems the
motive behind this proposed legal action was to teach a lesson
to Subramania Iyer, because being a man of broad views and
a social reformer, the latter was disposed to agree with Gokhale’s
views. The suit, however, was not filed in the court.

The Congress pandal was erected in Poona at a convenient
spot on the road leading to Ganeshkhind. Three pandals were
erected for serving meals, with kitchens belonging to the various
castes! Tilak received the Congress President Surendranath
Banerjee just two stations short of Poona while the official
reception awaited him at the Poona station! The Congress
was held with great enthusiasm. The Social Conference pandal
was put up near the Fergusson College.

Surendranath Banerjee, who was India’s first political leader
to make a political tour of India as early as 1876, delivered his
address for more than three hours. Physically and intellectually
it was a marvellous performance. He went through the whole
solid speech without a mistake, without hesitation, altering no
fact, changing no figure, never for once looking into the printed
copy of his specech. A brilliant editor and a first-rate orator in
India, he was capable of addressing thousands of his countrymen
at an open air meeting in pre-microphone days. Surendranath
declared that it was the Congress of a united India, of Hindus,
of Muhammedans, of Christians, of Parsees, of Sikhs, of those

7
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who would reform their social customs and those who would
not. They stood on a common political platform, and had
agreed o bury their social and religious differences.  “ We have
called forth this Congress into existence,” he added, with a
view to safeguarding and extending our rights and redressing
our grievances.” The Social Conference met and Ranade deli-
vered an address in which he said that as time and tide wait
for no man, so also Social revolution would not allow the people
to rest where they were. He observed that the existing fiiction
had proceeded through the method of the social reformers in
Maharashtra under which, unlike the social reformers in other
parts of India, worked on all lines with others, and above all
they wanted not to break with the past and cease all connection
with the socicty.

Tilak spoke at the Congress on the resolution concerning Civil
and Medical services and the fixity of land tenuve. The Con-
gress session over. Tilak's friend, Sardar Baba Mahawaj, gave
a party in honour of the Congress Prcsident and Congress
delegates. Then Tilak took the President and delegates to a
Shivaji Memorial meeting where Babu Surendianath and Pandit
Malaviva delivered speeches praising the role of Shivaji as the
liberator of the nation.

Yet the impression many Congress leaders canried  with
them was that Tilak was a leader of great ability and courage,
but was a defender of the reactionarics and a deadly opponent
of the social reformers.

A small incident that h.lppcncd during the Congress session
is worth mentioning. A picture of a faminestrichen man hold-
ing a placard in his hand stood before the Congress pandal.
The placard asked the congregation whether there were at least
twenty men who were really interested in the welfare of the
peasants.

Tilak expressed great satisfaction at the grand success of the
session which just concluded amidst great rejoicings and an
inspiring atmosphere, but he alone took notice of that picture
and the placard. He wrote that the resolutions passed by the
Congress during the last ten years indicated what political re-
forms were required in the administration; but the time had
come when the Congress should have a definite programme for
the next ten years, and think out ways and means for bringing
the peasants and workers under the Congress fold. and sec with
their backing and support how best its resolutions could be giver
effect to.

Tilak was now busy with the Shivaji Mcmorial work. In
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April 1896 he organised the celebrations of the Shivaji birthday
anniversary at Raigad on a grand scale. Governmment was
hesitating to grant permission to hold the function, but the
Hon. Mr. Tilak had a personal interview with the Governor,
who was then at Mahabaleshwar, and obtained the necessary
permission.  British statesmanship must not have naturally been
happy over this revival of the memory of this Great Saviour of
India.

Statesman that he was the Governor must have granted per-
mission with great difficulty; for Tilak wrote in the Kesari on
the eve of the celebrations that people should be moderate in
their speeches at Raigad! .\ notable point about the states-
manship of the British ralers was that it was their unwritten
policy to neglect all Hindu emblems of heroism and glory and
keep intact the historical  places of Muslim  association  or
domination. So Government did not show any interest in
the Shivaji Memorial.

People of all classes and castes assembled to celebrate the
anniversary.  Collateral descendants of Tanaji Malusare and of
other famous Sirdar families were invited to the function. Youth
of all cults, gymnastic and patriotic, forming choirs, sang
inspiring songs. Fervent speeches were made, and therc was an
exciting atmosphere.  People took meals in files of hundreds.

It was very sad and rather surprising that the reformers belong-
ing to the Ranade Party should have dissociated themselves from
this festival and taken an unfavourable view of it.  Mass contact
was their bugbear! With 'T'ilak it was the breath of his life.

T'o Maharashura, said Tilak in a brilliant article, Shivaji was
a symbol of courage, sclf-respect, heroism and nobility, and a
great figure in modern history who immortalised Maharashtra
and India. It was not in the hands of human beings to create
such extraordinary men of great talents, great courage
and great aims, in cvery generation! Another aspect of the
Shivaji cclebration was that the revival of Shivaji's memory
was an attraction to all communities in Maharashtra as no other
force was as unifying in Maharashtra as was the name of Shivaji.
Tilak wanted to arouse pride in the people about the great
patriots in their history and to enkindle their minds with patriot-
ism and love for freedom.  The Ganesh festival and the Shivaji
festival were the most important celebrations that provided the
Maharashtrian Hindus, high and low, a common platform for
work, unification and organisation!

Nations that live and nations that survive never forget their
heroes.  Those heroes provide every generation with inspiration,
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patriotism, and courage! This is how Tilak connected the
worship of great men and the revival of religious festivals with
the slumbering hatred in the people’s minds against British
rule! He was awakening the dormant spirit of nationalism in
the peasants and other lower classes. Tilak may not be an
originator of new ideas; he may have, according to some critics,
favoured cultural revivalism and by-passed social reforms; but
he was doubtless the one great leader of his generation who gave
practical shape to idcas and transformed them into active
volcanoes by his extraordinary zeal, sublime courage and sclfless
work!

It may be said here that Shivaji celebration was in keeping
with the spirit of the age.  During the last quarter of the nince-
teenth century, throughout the civilized world anniversary
celebrations of great men and great events were held.  Catholic
Europe celebrated the Jubilee of its Pope: Protestant Europe
celebrated the quartercentenary of Luther's birth.  Portugal
commemorated the fourth centenary of Vasco da Gama's tr mmph
in the East; Spain and America did the same for Columbus.
England held the centenary celebrations of Johnson and Fdward
Gibbon.

As a Legislative Councillor, Tilak took the customary oath
of allegiance to Her Majesty, the Queen Empress, in August 1805,
He could do nothing extraordinary in the Council. The Act
of 1892 gave the Members the right to discuss the annual finance
statement, the major portion of which would be brought into
force by the time the Council opened.  The Members often said
that making a spcech on the Budget was doing post-mortem
dissection or flogging a decad horse! Another notable feature
was that the forcign Government had just shown gestures of
generosity by offering the Indian representatives the democratic
privilege of interpellations during the ten days in a year when
the Council met.

In many ways Tilak's presence in the Council was unique!
He was elected against the wish of those persons who called
themselves politicians. The Governor had confirmed his election
to the Council despite the suggestions made by the Anglo-Indian
Press to the contrary. Above all, Tilak was a leader who had
foiled the attempts of the élite to raisc a public memorial to
a Governor, the representative of British rule over a Province.
Councillor Tilak wore strictly Indian dress; his peculiar flowing
long coat with strings, his dhoti and his crimson-red turban, and
red shoes on his feet. Hc always kept his shoes outside the
entrance. When taunted by his friends that he had to keep his
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shoes outside, he rctorted with a smile that he was the first
Indian whosc shoes were looked after by an English guard. He
refused to wear the Western type of dress. He was the most
simple but the most fearless, outspoken, drcaded and detested
Member in the Legislative Council.

At the time of the Budget discussion Tilak asked for the
Advocate-General’s notes and he was told to refer to the Printed
Budget and to the statement of accounts. Tilak criticised the
Government saying that it had raised the taxes by 5} crores
during the last twenty-five years, but was spending a very small
portion of the revenues to alleviate the miseries of the people
and on the material improvement of the Province. The right
of Interpellation also was exercised by him. During August
and September 1895 the Council met for one day each. Tilak
asked questions regarding the number of licences granted or
rencwed cach year under the Arms Act in the Districts of
Belgaum and Karnatak and asked why the clection of the Vice-
President of Wai Municipality was disapproved when he was
chosen by clection.  He asked Government whether they would
be pleased to direct the District Officers to take the initiative in
bringing about a sctdement of the question of music before
mosques as had been done in the Aundh State!  He. inquired
whether Government would make an industrial survey of the
Province as was done by the Kolhapur State and why the rate
of perennial irrigation on the Krishna Canal was raised. He
brought to the notice of Government that in some criminal cases
undue delay occurred causing harassment 1o the people.

Tt was not easy to work in the Council; for the representatives
of the bureaucracy were still rough and they wreated the Members
with scant respect. Some Members were told that they were
riding their hobby horse and turning the house into a circus;
onc was told to submit a printed copy of his speech so that it
might  be  taken as  read! Tilak neither flattered  the
burcaucracy, nor did he spare it.

v

In the vanguard of Indian politicians Tilak had now reached
a position which no other Indian politician of his generation had
drcamt of. India’s first full-time politician, he made his mark
in Maharashtra by his sclfless work and sublime courage, but
these great qualities were sharpened and his personality was
rendered more invincible by his great journalism. His editor-
ship was as ficry as his leadership. Tilak was India's foremost
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editor, who was the exponent of the new spirit in India. He
had now crecated a political force behind him.

A loud, daring, scathing critic, Tilak was a terror to burcau-
crats and to his opponents.  He had the four chief qualities of
a great journalist: readability, irreverence, individuality, and
courage!  He wrote an impc(‘(‘nl)lc prosc, simplc, direct, clfort-
less and clear, and made it attractive by the hmpress of his vast
learning.  He courageously used his resourceful eradition.  He
fearlessly exposed  Government  officials by uncarthing . their
secrets and by ruthlessly attacking their high-handed policy!
He irreverently attacked the weak points of those who toadicd
Governors and burcaucrats and who spoke or acted against
people’s interests.  His stinging notes, his cchoing phrases, his
selfless service, his spotless patriotism, and the note of defiance
in his speeches and writings made his position unrivalled in the
world of journalisu.

Journalism in the native languages being then a new type
of literature in India, Tilak had to coin Marathi words and
phrases in political terminology.  He thus made Maiathi rich,
pulsating with new vigour and power. Here and there his
arrowy writings sometimes smacked of crude iuurnulimx hut
every pioneer has his ways and weapons imperfect in some way.
Tilak's pen had such a destructive powcer that with one stroke
of a short heading he would shoot his opponents!  Dirvect and
picercing, it struck the target, like a bullet!

His vast learning, the carefully treasured cuttings of important
informative articles and commitments of his opponents were
pressed into service, and his head saturated with ideas for a
week was relieved at the end of the week when he poured down
his thoughts in an editorial.

His advice to his young assistant editors is worth mentioning.
He asked them to read important hooks.  Party spirit in an
cditor, he observed, was more an asset than a defect. The
article should be free of any unwonted commitments and an
cditor’s views should be definite, unfailing and straight, and
must hit the target like a bullet.  An editor in his chair was
like a judge in his court. He must therefore assume perfect
knowledge like a judge who decides his case confidently.  An
editor’s chair was a place where the decisive voice was more
cffective than the nature of a doubting Thomas!

On another occasion he said to a young journalist: “ Whocver
has something to achieve in this world must brush aside or run
down the opposition of his opponents.  An arm-chair thinker
can do his thinking without having any occasion for wounding
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the feelings of others or without disturbance to or from anybody.
He can tender advice on a higher plane in high-sounding phrases
and with philosophical gcnialitv; but it is impossible for a man
of mission or man of action to assume that sort of geniality
and perfection when he is at grips with those who strive to
blow up or annihilate his cherished goal. It is difficult, if not
impmsih]c to have dealings with a person who opposes your
mission which has been the breath of your nostrils!”

Although now a formidable leader and a public figure, Tilak’s
mode of living remained unchanged.  His dress and house were
as simple as bhefore.  Neither English games nor English imita-
tion in any ficld was tolerated in the house. His eldest son,
who was now a high school boy, one day secured a badminton
net and a racket.  Young N. C. Kclkar, who was a good player,
became his companion at the net. But when Tilak noticed it,
he asked his servant to remove the net and told his son to
abandon the game. Such games in his opinion were to be
played by women! He asked his son to take manly exercise
as he himself had done in his u)ll(gc davs! In those (ld\s Tilak
himsclf did not take any exercise.  He usually went to see
persons on business, and his long walks scrved him as an exercise.
His favourite posture was to lic and relax in an casy chair,
cutting and chewing betel-nut while having a chat with his
friends or visitors.  He never cared to handle his purse, not even
his own things. Yet his guest chamber hospitality was widcly
known! He had a special liking for soda-water and in summer
he took it with a liule ice.

There was sometimes a lighter side to the grave scene.  Tilak
was hard of hearing. He had contracted that defect through
an excess of quinine he took during one of his illnesses when
he was down with high fever! His loud talk was the subject
of jokes among his friends and admirers.  One day somebody
suggested different voles for different politicians.  Pherozeshah
Mchta to play the Rakshas, Shridhar Date a dare-devil, Gokhale
to play a female role, Gopalrao Joshi to play a buffoon, Wasu-
kaka Joshi to be in charge of curtains!  But nobody mentioned
Tilak in his presence. It might be because drama was a subject
he disliked or because they had a great respect for his status;
but the hesitation was overcome and Wasukaka Joshi said that
Balwantrao, i.c. Tilak, was a promincent politician and it would
not be proper to exclude him! Thereupon one Mr. Hardikar
remarked that if it was announced that Tilak was to play a role
in a drama, people would not purchase tickets because his voice
could be casily heard from a distance!
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So far Tilak's admirers or friends mixed freely with him,
and he also did not prevent them from enjoying his company!
His orthodox friends sometimes also observed their Holi tradi-
tions in his compound. In those days the native princes enjoyed
his hospitality. On occasions there were close and confidential
talks between him and his friends! If fits of cutting humour
or country jokes emerged during the talk, Tilak did not pay
attention to them, but he never uttered foul words himself. His
house was always open to anybody and the visiting room was
always alive with the presence of a lingering visitor! At dead
of night Tilak's real work began when his personal assistant
was almost tired out or was dozing. He then dictated an article
chewing betel-nut, striking the right arm of the chair with his
fist: or stroking the crown of his hcad with the palm.

It would not be out of place to state here that Tilak had no
time nor love for drama. Yet at the instance of the famous
Kirloskar Theatrical Company, which he held in high estcem,
he prevailed upon Narayanrao Jogalekar, then a student of his
Law Class, to take to acting, and Jogalckar became a famous
singer-actor!



CHAPTER VII

INDIA'S FIRST MASS LEADER

aiLk the Ganesh festival and Shivaji festival were utilised

for organising the middle and lower classes and rousing in
them a sense of national self-respect, Tilak now resolved to con-
nect the poverty of the peasants with the patriotism of the middle
classes, 1o creatc a powerful public opinion in support of their
gricvances, and to make them feel confident that they would
some day be able to regain the power of governing themsclves!

Tilak caught another opportunity to rouse in the middle
classes a sense of self-respect and self-reliance and to encourage
them to fight against the oppressive laws of the Government.
Excise duty on Indian cloth was raised in order to balance the
customs duty imposed on British doth. Tilak, therefore, raised
a storm of criticism against the new tax and appcaled to the
people to boycott foreign cloth and to use swadeshi cloth. He
cited examples of Americans who threw tea-boxes into the sea
and refused to pay taxes to the British Government! In a
moving appeal he further observed: * People must fight for the
vindication of their rights. If we are unmoved at the sight
of injustice and high-handed policy of the Government, we
should not be regarded as human beings. The days are gone
when the other cheek was turned to the aggressor if the right
was smitten! If you arc fit to be called human beings, if you
are really perturbed at the injustice at the hands of Government
or anybody, if your hearts do flutter at insults, if you truly wish
the country well, if you really take pride in your brave ancestors
and herocs, then boycott foreign cloth.” * If you want to teach
a lesson,” he continued, “ to the merchants of Manchester, if
you have self-respect and qualms of conscience, carry this into
efficct. Government will not pay heed to your grievances unless
you show grit, courage and resolution. Government will not
respect your representatives in the Council unless they are backed
by action!”

Meetings were held at Bombay, Poona, Satara, Nagpur and
Amraoti, and resolutions were passed exhorting people to take
a vow of using swadeshi cloth. Tilak said that most of the
cducated men were consumers of foreign doth, and it was they
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who must take a vow not to usc foreign doth. He cited the
example of Ganesh W. Joshi alias Sarvajanik Kaka who had
taken a vow to use swadeshi cloth twenty years earlicr.

‘There were people who, on this plea or that plea, did not
like Tilak’s idea of boycotting foreign goods.  Mr. D. E. Wacha,
a well-known Congress leader and an economist of repute, wrote
a letter in the Times of India that the vow of swadeshi and
the movement against forcign cloth were not practicable because
India could not produce cloth sufficient for her people. Reply-
ing to Wacha, Tilak said that Wacha's argument was based on
unsound understanding. ‘The Congress movement and  the
Industrial and Social Reform movements were not given up
because they could not fructify immediately. Another mistake
committed by Wacha was that he assumed that all the people
would take to using swadeshi cloth from the next dav. Tilak
said that the popular demand for swadeshi cloth would induce
Indian Millowners to produce more cloth, and this would pro-
motce the national nascent industry.

The economic condition of the people had vastly deteriorated.
There was acute and widespread poverty.  The British Govern-
ment had dislocated Indian industries and had destroved Tndian
fine arts in order to favour the import of cheap foreign goods.
The British Government had neglected irrigation and sanitation.
The land revenue was high and the indebtedness of the agri-
cultural classes increased day by dav.

After the Provincial Conference which was held at Karachi
in May 1896, Tilak said that it was high time that the Provincial
Conference was galvanized into action. The same tyvpe of
resolutions were moved cvery year by the same set of leaders;
Gokhale moving and Wacha seconding them. He thercfore
tricd to impress upon the organisers of the Provincial Conference
at Satara that it was necessary to attract the agricultural classes
to the Provincial Conference and expressed the hope that the
next Provincial Conference which was to be held at Satara would
attract the peasants and help them solve their problems in
respect of land revenue, salt, forest and cexcise duties under
which they had been crushed. They should be taught what
those rights were, and how they should get their grievances
redressed.  This was the way to increase the influence of the
Congress and the Provincial Conference with the illiterate and
common pcople.

In the last quarter of the ycar 1896 a famine broke out in
Maharashtra. This was not, however, the first visitation of
famine. Faminc had followed the British Rule in India, and
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there had been twenty famines from 1770 to 1880 and four since
1880. Sir William Hunter had obscrved that forty million
people in India went through life with insufficient food, and Sir
Charles Elliot had declared that half the agricultural population
in India did not know from one year’s end to another what
it was to have a full meal. In twelve years twenty million
people had perished.  The British blessed India with peace, but
had killed her prosperity.

As a real representative of the people, Tilak put questions
to Government in the Council in October 1896 asking them
whether in view of the impending famine the Government had
watched the condition of the crops, had any idea of rainfall,
had maintained any records of the accumulated store of grains
in the arcas likely to be affected by famine, and what mcasures
they were contemplating for giving relief in case of the occur-
rence of an actual famine. He further asked Government
whether they were contemplating to grant suspension of revenuc
in regard to the hrst instalment of land revenue which fell
due, and whether they were going to throw open the protected
forests in each village for the usc of the villagers!  Government
said they had no idea of the accumulated stores, and added that
the Famine Code contained explicit directions regarding the
suspension of revenue instalments which could be put in force
as soon as occasion arose!

In 1896 famine played havoc also in North India and the
peasants 1ioted and looted property at places like Kanpur, Agra
and Nagpur.

‘The agricultural classes in the Konkan deserted their homes,
sold or gave away their cattle, and became incurably depressed
in body and estate. The Governor had made a frank admission
at Surat that the famine was alrcady upon the Deccan and the
distress was likely to increase and not decrcase in the Deccan
and Southern Mahratta country: and he thought that it might
possibly invade the Konkan. He had also declared that no
cffort would be spared to relicve the distress of the people so
far as it was in their power to do so.

Tilak dccided to secure the agricultural masses an exemption
from or remission of land revenue. The Kesari roared that in
accordance with the Famine Code it was the duty of Government
to mitigate the sufferings of the peasants. He seriously but
sarcastically explained in his terse and plain language that,
when the Queen-Empress had pronounced that none should die
of starvation, when Government was going to perform its duty
by helping the people and when there was money deposited
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with Government in the form of insurance, it would be the
people’s fault if they died of starvation. They should only sce
that Government acted up to its promises.  He pointed out that
the Famine Code contained certain provisions under which it
was laid down to what extent and when the assessment was
to be reduced, when forests should be thrown open, and what
should be the daily wages of workers.

They should also bear in mind, said Tilak, that they had a
moral daim upon the Government for theiv livelihood. In
these matters if the subordinate officers behaved with high-
handedness. they did so because they had been acting in that
manner in the p':m and people tolerated their doings.  Another
important fact Tilak asked them to note was llmt the Famine
Code dearly stated that laud revenue should not be collected
by making people sell their cattle or land.

Tilak dcplored and denounced food viots, and  exhorted
people to give organised resistance to hooligans.  He warned
them against fighting amongst themsclves, against looting Banias
or merchants, or bazaars. That would lead them to disaster.
But he purposely published news of food riots so that the
altruistic impulses of charity might move the rich, at least
through fear of safety of their life and property, to help the
people who were in great distress.  They should boldly approach
the collector whose duty was to provide them with food and
work. He said the Government was their own, its money was
their own, and if remission in land revenue was granted them
now, they would make it up next time!

“I you have money to pay Government dues,” declmed he,
“pay them by all means. But if you have not, will vou sell
your belongings only to avoid the bupp()scd wrath of subordinate
officers?  Can you not be bold even when in the grip of death?
We can stand any number of famines, but what shall we do
with such shecpish pcople?  Had such a famine broken out in
England and had the Prime Minister been as apathetic as Lord
Flgin, his Government would have, in less than a week, col-
lapsed like a house of cards!”

i

A similar famine had visited Maharashtra in 1876 when
Ranade had tremendously helped Government by making con-
crete  suggestions through the SarvaJamL Sabha about the
methods of relief. Hce had sent his emissarics to different famine-
stricken places and culled and collated the information received,
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finally editing it under the title * the Famine narratives ” in the
Quarterly of the Sarvajanik Sabha.

Tilak's work was on the same lines, but on a broader basis.
By pointing to the Famine Code he pressed Government to do
their duty by the faminestricken people. He sent forth a
Meamorial on behalf of the Sarvajanik Sabha appealing to
Government to declare the famine-stricken districts to be famine
districts and (o undertake relief work as directed in the Famine
Code.

A reply came from Government to the effect that all practi-
cable mcasures were being taken for the preservation of agri-
cultural cattle, that the Famine Code then in force made no
provision for an official dedaration of famine, and that the
question of the extent to which land revenue should be sus-
pended or remitted was one to which the fullest attention would
be given at the proper time.

Tilak then published on behalf of the Sarvajanik Sabha a
pamphlet containing a summary of the Famine Codc in Marathi
and requested the District Collectors to distribute the copies
among the general public.  They did not like "T'ilak to interfere
in their work, and so some of them returned the copics without
any rcemark. Tilak addressed meetings of the students, who
had buen to Poona for the University examination, and advised
them to drive their villagers to clamour for food and fodder.
He. therefore, sent the representatives of the Sarvajanik Sabha
to dilferent places in the Thana, Kolaba and Ratnagivi Districts
to infuse courage into the people. They advised the peasants
to claim remissions of land revenue and to withhold the pay-
ments of taxes. They explained and distributed the pamphlets
among the peasants, acquainted the people with their rights,
and impressed upon them that it was not necessary for them to
sell away their lands and cattle to pay off Government dues.
These licutenants supplied their reports or people’s applications
to the Sarvajanik Sabha, and they were forwarded to Govern-
ment.  Furthermore Tilak published translations of Govern-
ment notes and explained in his papers various rules relating
to the problem for the use of the people. He started a co-
operative movement for weavers, who could not do anything else
for their livelihood. He started also cheap grain shops in Poona.

Tilak bad attacked the Indian bureaucracy on several occa-
sions and also the Governor in his papers. So they replied to
his memorials, or queries, with great reluctance, and when they
did so it was a formal affair. Government were perturbed by
this propaganda, and more so when Tilak published their sccret
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orders to the Mamlatdars to interpret clauses in such a way
as to whitde down claims of sufferers for relief. Tilak wrote
furiously and fearlessly in his paper that the people should not
tolerate high-handedness at the hands of subordinate officers. He
observed that those were the days of Government by law and
not by high-handedness. He exhorted the local leaders to forin
local committees and to teach people how to fight for their rights
peacefully, but fearlessly and lawfully. It was the duty of
Government to make laws and the duty of the people to sce
that they were properly given effect to.

Tilak further stated that it was very likely that some of the
local leaders might be prosecuted for this propaganda, but they
should not be .1f1md of it! On the contrary they should not
mind suftlering unpuxonmcm for the good of the people.

This movement, svstematic and well ()IL,JIH\C(] had a wonder-
ful effect upon the peopk Thev took heart, attended mectings
organised by the Committees set up at the instance of the Sarva-
janik Sabha, and approached Government officers for relief. One
such meeting was held at Khattalwad in the Kolaba District.
Addressing that mecting, Prof. A. S. Sathe, emissary of the Sarva-
janik Sabha, made a ficry speech in the presence of the Assistant
Collector. The mceting was surrounded by a posse of soldiers
who had been stationed there to undermine the morale of the
people and to cow down the lecturer.

Lord Flgin was then making a tour of some Indian States.
Tilak felt cmdvcd at the apathy shown by Lord Elgin to the
sufferings and hndslups of the people. He scathingly criticized
the VI((.I‘()Y for choosing a time of distress in order to parade
before the States and the public the unjust grandeur of Her
Imperial Majesty. He censured the people who spent money
on the reception of Lord Elgin and remarked that they could
have better expended the money on charitable relief of the
starving millions! During Lord Elgin’s stay at Baroda some
people died at the Public Gardens as a result of an accident,
and still the State feasts and banquets went on.  Tilak wrote
in a challenging mood that fifty persons were lying dead, and
the Viceroy, without condescending even so much as to give a
moment’s thought to them, plunged himself into hearty cnjoy-
ment.  “ But the prevailing situation is such,” observed Tilak,
“that there is absolutely no one to bring the Viceroy, who is
practically the Empcror of India, to book!”

The Times of India, then Guardian of the British Empire
over India and naturally the sworn enemy of Indian nationalist
leaders, described this furious article of Tilak as the usual spurt-



INDIA'S FIRST MASS LEADER 111

ings of the disaffected and disloyal section of Mahratta politi-
cians. That was a tribute to the Mahratta politicians, the
champions of frecdom, who, though defeated, were never sub-
jugated and consequently constituted a real thunder under the
throne of the Times’ Imperial Majesty! The Times of India
suggested that the Governor should take a serious note of these
defiant and disloyal attacks by Tilak on the Viceroy, and taking
his record into consideration, set aside his future nomination.
And there was a rumour also at this time that Government was
scriously thinking of prosccuting Tilak for these fiery articles
which it considered seditious. The power of a newspaper is so
great that even Napoleon said that four hostile newspapers were
more to be feared than a thousand bayonets.  T'o leave the press,
Napoleon held, to its own devices, was to sleep next to a powder
keg.

How formidable a personality and leadership Tilak had by now
developed can be casily imagined by the cestimate which
Gandhiji formed about him when he went to Poona in the
middle of November 1896 with a view to organising a meeting
on the *“ grievance of Indians in South Africa ”.  When Gandhiji
called on Tilak he told him that there were two Parties in
Poona, one represented by the Sarvajanik Sabha and the other
by the Dcccan Sabha. If a man of the position of Prof.
Bhandarkar consented to preside, Tilak observed, then he was
sure that both the Partics would sec to it that a good meeting
was held. He assured Gandhiji of his fullest help in his struggle
in Africa. This was the first time when the two makers of
history talked to each other.

The meeting was held on November 16, 1896, under the
auspices of the Sarvajanik Sabha when Prof. R. G. Bhandarkar
presided. Gandhiji addressed the meeting, and it passed a re-
solution moved by Tilak sympathising with the Indians in South
Africa and authorising a Committee composed of Bhandarkar,
Tilak, Gokhale and six others to submit a memorandum to the
Government of India on the disabilities imposed on the Indians
in South Africa.!

Later, in his recollections, Gandhiji said that Tilak appeared
to him like the Himalayas, great and lofty, but unapproachable,
while Gokhale appeared like the holy Ganges in which he could
confidently take a plunge. To have evoked such a tribute
symbolising loftiness in a mighty heart was indeed a glorious
achievement. In his later life, Gandhiji, relating to Dr. Rajendra

1 The Publications Division, Government of India: The Collected Works
of Mahatma Gandhi, Vol. II, p. 136.
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Prasad his reminiscences of Poona of those days, said that Poona
was a place of pilgrimage for a person who wanted to devote
himself to the service of the people and added that no other
place in the country had so many public institutions run entirely
by a sclfless body of workers.!

Inr

Tilak then attended the Congress session of 1896, which was
held at Calcutta.  There pointed references were made to famine
as a recurring trouble and to impoverishment of the country by
excessive taxation and by over-assessment. The Hon'’ble Mr.
Tilak, who had published in the Quarterly of the Sarvajanik
Sabha an article on the * Decentralisation of the Provincial
Finance ” demanding  greater  fiscal  responsibility  for  the
Provincial Government, in a short but effective speech said that
the Supreme Government was like an intemperate husband who
came to the wife, the Provincial Government, asking her to
surrender all her savings. He, therefore, urged limiting the
power of the Supreme Government to draw on Provincial re-
sources to a fixed amount, levied on a definite and just basis.

Tilak’s movement angered the bureaucrats, and Government
launched a prosecution against Sathe and Apte, who were work-
ing in the Kolaba District, and against three other workers who
were agitating in the Thana District.

A telegraphic message was sent to Tilak’s Calcutta address
about the arrests of the representatives of the Sarvajanik Sabha.
He hurried to Poona, studied the cases and ran, like an cagle
to protect his little ones, to Pen where Prof. Sathe was being
tricd. The situation was tense and explosive. A mob had
surrounded the tent of the Magistrate, who requested Tilak to
ask his people to maintain order and peace. Tilak rose, and
the mob spontancously accorded him a thundering ovation. One
sentence from his lips and the mob was silenced. In the end
the prosccution against Sathe failed, and he was set free. Mr.
G. V. Apte, however, was sentenced to one year's simple
imprisonment and was fined two hundred rupecs. The prose-
cution against the representatives of the Sarvajanik Sabha in
Thana District failed when the District Magistrate referred to
an cxtract from the Kesari saying that though the writer was
very subtle, the statement that peasants should not pay off
Government dues by getting into debt was very likely to have
an undesirable effect upon the agricultural classes! The report

! Dr. Rajendra Prasad: At the Feet of Mahatma Gandhi, pp. 66-67.
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made by Mr. Logan, Commissioner, Central Division, observed:
“ Tilak had flooded the country with proclamations against pay-
ment of land revenue, urging resistance to any attempt to collect
it.”' He added that therc was a partial mutiny against the
police, and the village officers were almost passive or active
connivers with the disturbances. Maratha colleagues of Tilak
like Ram Rao Jambrc and the then Maratha Patil of Poona
also were in the bad books of Government.

While the representatives of the people were thus prosecuted,
the people themsclves fared as badly at the hands of the Govern-
ment. Proper relicf was not given to them. Undue and harsh
measures were taken to collect Government dues, and Magistrates
prosecuted and summarily punished men who were trying to
approach Government officers, not with weapons, but with
humble petitions.

While an intense agitation was thus being carried on in the
famine-stricken districts, the Hon'ble Mr. Tilak put questions in
February 1897 to Government in the Council on the same subject.
He asked whether the Government of Bombay was asking the
Linperial Government for a revision of their policy in respect of
help they were to receive from the Central Government in case
of a severe famine like the one prevailing, and whether their
officers inspected the conditions of crops preliminary to giving
relief by way of remission of land revenue under the Famine
Jode.  Government said they were unable to comply with the
request. He further asked whether Government intended to
grant any suspension of land revenue to superior holders like
Khots, mortgagees and others with directives to pass them on
to their tenants. Government said they had no intention of
granting any general suspension of land revenue to superior
holders with directions to pass it on to the tenants.

Tilak wanted to stir up the pcople against Government, and
to make the superior holders also conscious of their rights. He
wanted both the sections to stand up for their rights. In the
heat of the discussion he could not therefore forcsee how his
decmands would ultimately affect the harassed tenants. Tilak
further asked Government whether they were making provision
for paying compensation for dearness from the general budget
o the low-paid teachers in the vernacular schools in the affected
arcas who were refused so far any compensation for the dearness
of grain by local bodics on the plea that they had no funds.

1 Some Material of a History of Freedom Movement in India, Vol. 11,
p- 196.
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Government said that it was for the Local Bodies to decide what
they should do. He asked some questions also regarding the
information on the loss of cattle, statistics of relief work, about
the ill-trcatment meted out to a Bengali author by a Railway
servant and other questions.

Government was now secking an opportunity to break its con-
nection with the Sarvajanik Sabha, and when one of the repre-
sentatives of the Sabha at Dharwar distributed a pamphlet which
was based on rumours current in the city, Government asked the
Sarvajanik Sabha to prove the validity of the statements. Govern-
ment was also furious with ‘Tilak for publishing some of their
secret orders. The Sabha prevaricated, and the result was that
the Government withdrew the right of the Sabha to petition to
Government. Thercupon Tilak remarked that it was his firm
opinion that whenever Anglo-Indian papers and Government
officers expressed an adverse opinion of a leader, he should take
it for granted that he had rendered the best service to the public
and served the causc of the country properly!

Thus this splendid agrarian movement was the first of its kind
in India. It was full of new spirit, new cnergy, new leaders,
and new technique ‘ Pay the Government ducs if you have money,
but don't do it by contracting debt’ was its watchward which
almost amounted to a no-tax-campaign, and was compared by
some with the similar no-tax-campaign launched in Ireland by
Irish revolutionary leaders in their struggle for freedom.

The collision of the Sarvajunik Sabha with the Government
was not, however, in the opinion of old lcaders, a happy sign.
Dadabhai wrote in April 1897, that he was much grieved that
an institution built up by the efforts of the Poona people for
more than a generation should be swept away in a breath, and
he hoped that Tilak would do all he could to save the Sabha
from the blow that had come down upon it.!

Formerly when Ranade was the guiding spirit of the Sarva-
janik Sabha, he voiced through its memorials and petitions the
people’s gricvances. FExplaining the object of such memorials,
Ranade once said to Gokhale when the latter doubted their
effect: *“ You don’t realisc our place in the history of our country.
These memorials are nominally addressed to Government, but
in reality they are addresses to the people, so that they may
learn how to think over these matters. This work must be
done for many years, without expecting any other result, because
politics of this kind is altogether new in this land. Besides, if

1 R. P. Masani: Dadabhai Naoroji, the Grand Old Man of India, p- 450.
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Government notes the contents of what we say, even that is
something.”" !

Ranade taught public workers how to think over such matters,
and move Government in regard to people’s grievances. Tilak,
the man of action, went one step ahead and taught people how to
act fearlessly but peacefully and lawfully, and how to get their
grievances redressed by Government. He did not send memorials
for mere perusal, but to press Government to give effect to their
promises and laws. In fact he was preparing his people to
be bold enough to fight for their rights. The foreign yoke is
overthrown by such a type of leadership which is discontented
and rebellious; for, when people are awakened and discontented,
it is not possible for a forcign Government to hold them long
under its sway!

It is not that Tilak always gauged the problem of the peasants
correctly. Owing to his role of fomenting discontent against
the foreign domination he sometimes failed to support the good
laws cnacted for the amelioration of the peasants. There was
a legislation passed which precluded money-lenders from seizing
the immovable property of the peasants. Tilak misinterpreted
it, and said that because the power of the money-lenders was
made ineffective, the peasants were not given loans; and this
led to the worsening of the condition of both the parties. But
there werce few occasions on which Tilak wrote in this strain.

Tilak’s subtle, forceful arguments, the note of defiance and
the challenge in his spceches and writings, his spotless sincerity,
his untiring efforts in relicving the distress of the people, and
unflinching courage marked him out as the first militant mass
leader of modern India. He struck terror into the hearts of the
burcaucracy and instilled a new spirit and a new life into the

people.

1 Speeches of Gopal Krishna Gokhale, published by G. A. Natesan & Co.,
p. 929.



CHAPTER VIII

COCK’S CROW OF REVOLUTION

unk Tilak was thus engaged in the struggle for the
Wamcliorution of the agricultural classes, he had to plunge
himself into another vortex to save the people from a visitation
which followed in the wake of the fetid famine. Plague broke
out in the Bombay Presidency. It travelled a long way from
Galcutta to Bombay. The famine had exacted a heavy toll of
more than two crores. When plague broke out in Bombay in
the last quarter of the year 1896, medical men at first did not
take serious notice of it, nor did the Government worry thems-
selves about it. But when mortality increased and Furopean
trade languished, Government took drastic action to stamp out
the epidemic.  As the epidemic was new and its nature hitherto
unknown, the people could not gauge the enormity of its horrible
conscquences. Soon the plague stretched its  tentacdes over
Poona, and at other places it spread like wild fire!

In order to make amends for their neglect, Government now
gave a push to their belated steps against famine by investing
the District Collectors with military powers; and Plague C()m-
mittees werce specdily established.

Such a Plague Committee was established in Poona and Walter
Charles Rand was appointed Plague Commissioner in February
1897, and l.ieutcnant Owen Lewis was put in charge of the
Segregation Camp.

Prior to this appointment Mr. Rand was an Assistant Collector
in Satara and had acquired a sort of notoricty for prosecuting,
convicting and ruthlessly sentencing some Hindu leaders of Wai
in connection with a riot in that town. It was the opinion of
Tilak that Rand had wrongly convicted the Hindu leaders, and,
reminding the pcople of it, he wrote in his paper that the
appointment of such an officer in Poona was perhaps a significant
indication of the determination of Government to show no mercy
and no hesitation in cnforcing the preventive and remedial
measures. Rand was known to be a thoroughly firm and deter-
mined man who doggedly adhered to his orders irrespective of
public opinion.

Rand sent his soldiers round the city of Poona to conduct a
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house-to-house search. Terror-stricken and dumbfounded, the
people could not give the scarch officers proper information
about their plague-stricken relatives. Nor did they desire that
their relatives should be taken to the plague hospital and them-
sclves put into a scgregation camp.

British soldicrs were employed instead of native soldiers to
enforce the precautionary sanitary measures which were detest-
able to the prcjudices and customs of the people.  Tilak wanted
Goverument to move and improve the situation by taking the
people into confidence.  So it was his opinion that if the Muni-
cipality was left to adopt measures to eradicate plague, the people
would not dread the new machinery.

Tilak infused courage into the people. He himsclf took
rounds in the city with the soldiers who conducted the searches.
“1I went,” said Tilak later, * from house to house myself with
the scarch parties, sometimes with them and sometimes without
them, but mostly with the English soldicrs to sce that they did
not go to any excess, and when we found that they would not
heed our requests we gave up the practice of accompanying
them.” Tilak wrote articles in his paper censuring the people
for hugging their orthodox obscrvances in the matter of facing
the dangerous discase.  He said that their fear that going to a
plaguc hospital was departing this life was erroncous. He wrote
severcly about their slums and slovenliness in respect of hygicne.

Tilak’s fears came true. In their maddening zest for combat-
ing the plaguce the British soldiers took no notice of the sacred
places, kitchens and the privacy of the people. A healthy man
from the street, a woman in the kitchen, a child from the cradle,
were seized and thrown into the hospital on a mere shadow
of suspicion. ‘Thus the Government measures for stamping out
plague were carried out by the agency of British soldiers with
greater encrgy and ruthlessness than thoughtfulness, and were
instrumental in accentuating popular misery, discontent and
harassment.

Patients complained to the Hindu leaders that they were badly
and carclessly trcated at the hospital. In the scgregation camp
there was no proper arrangement for boarding. Prominent
people led a deputation to Government and to the plague officers
to explain to them how the rules should be modified and how
searches might be made. But nothing came out of it.

Pcople were now exasperated, and Tilak warned Government
week after week against harassing the pcople with the ruthless
measures. He criticized the plague administration and explained
how as soon as a patient was removed to hospital, his relations



il18 LOKAMANYA TILAK

were taken to the segregation camp; the property of the infected
was cither destroyed or his house was kept open without any-
body to take care of the property. Describing the pitiable con-
dition of the people under the plague administration, the
Mahratta, Tilak's English Weekly, observed indignantly:
*“ Plaguce is more merciful to us than its human prototypes now
reigning in the city. The tyranny of the Plague Committee and
its chosen instruments is yet too brutal to allow respectable
people to breathe at ease.” In a word, the people found them-
sclves between two menacing dangers!

Unlike other Poona leaders who ran away for their lives, Tilak
took a courageous stand, and stood irrevocably by a suffering
people, making efforts to rclieve them from distress.  He worked
unremittingly and selflessly. He was as dauntless as he was
daring in his energetic rounds in the localities where the fell
discase was raging.

At last the indignation of the people reached white heat, and
Tilak described Rand’s administration as a reign of texror. He
also averred that Government would not have dared act so
thoughtlessly and remorselessly had the educated men co-operated
with the workers in stamping out the cvil and had the people
shown a little courage and grit.

To alleviate the sufferings of the people Tilak started with
the help of other Hindu leaders a Hindu hospital where Hindus
were treated at their own expense.  He started a free kitchen
for the use of the poor in the segregation camp which he had
organised. This was a brave attempt at easing the tension and
allaying thc fears of the distressed people. Those leaders who
had clamoured to reform the people socially did not care to sce
whether people lived or perished in their agony; they left them
in the lurch! But Tilak stood unflinchingly at the burning
post! This is the differcnce between a leader and a pleader!

11

Since the first week of April 1897 plague began o die down,
and by May it disappeared from Poona. The Rand regime
endcd, the administration was dismantled, and amidst great
joy cables were sent to London declaring that they had achieved
success in the end! But the evils that Rand did lived behind
and lingered in the minds and ears of the people. At this
juncture Tilak paid his meed of praise to Dadabhai, who was
in London, and to D. E. Wacha and G. K. Gokhale, who had
been to London to give evidence before the Welby Commission.
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He said that all of them had done their best to serve the cause
of the nation. Tilak, however, scverely criticized Gokhale for
his statement in which the latter had said, “ I amn the Honorary
Secretary of the Deccan Sabha, an Association established in
Poona for promoting under British Rule the political interests
of the Indian pcople.” The object of this display of an un-
divided loyalty to British rule on the part of Gokhale was, Tilak
inferred, to insinuate that the other institutions at Poona like
the Sarvajanik Sabha subscribed to political views of a different
character. Tilak obscrved that the question before the people
was not whether independence, which the people were to achieve,
should be under British rule or whether it should be the full
splendour of the glowing and inspiring Sun of Swaraj! So there
was no occasion for Prof. Gokhale, he concluded, to lay empha51s
on loyalty or disloyalty to British rule! This was a pointer to
Tilak’s mind and goal. It was here that Tilak first used the
term “ Swaraj”

The Diamond Jubilee of Quecn Victoria of England was
shortly to be celebrated on June 26, 1897. Preparations were
going on everywhere.  Herc Tilak was busy making preparations
for the Shivaji festival.  The Kesari, however, was not indifferent
to the Diamond Jubilee Celcbrations. It eulogised in a series
of articles the greatness of Queen Victoria’s vast cmpire and
hoped that nothing would be done to mar the auspicious occa-
sion by reminding the rulers of any other thing than the Pro-
clamation of 1858. The Kesari applauded the meritorious career
of the Queen, and with great appreciation mentioned the expan-
sion of her Empirc.

The Shivaji festival began on Saturday the 12th June in Poona
at the temple of Vithal, ncar the Lakdipool.  The temple was
decorated in excellent style for the occasion. An image of
Shivaji on horse-back was placed thercin, and scveral pictures of
Shivaji Mahara; drawn by different artists were displayed.

This year's Shivaji festival had a special significance. Prof.
Karkaria read an essay at the Royal Asiatic Society, Bombay, on
Shivaji. It was published in February 1896, and the controversy
over the killing of Afzulkhan started. A reply to Karkaria was
expected at the Poona cclebrations. On the first day of the
celebration some students recited songs at the beginning in
praise of Shivaji, and Prof. S. M. Paranjpc rcad the Puran.
Paranjpe was another revolutionary leader who was coming to
the forefront in Maharashtra. He had for the text of his dis-
course two axioms from thc Mahabharata: * Discontent is the
root of prosperity, but contentment destroys prosperity.” He
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compared the Rajasuya sacrificc with the Diamond Jubilee of
Quecen Victoria, and said by way of an exordium that it was
not an attempt to lay before them what Duryodhan did, but
only “to lay before them the differentiating principles men-
tioned in the Mahabharata as to the potency of ambition which
inspires all beings and the innate power it has of clevating a
country or party.” He concluded that the two maxims were
the sum and substance of his discourse!

After the discourse by Prof. Paranjpe, Prof. Jinsiwale, in a
touching speech, said that the reason why Shivaji Maharaj should
be counsidered superior to Ceesar and Napoleon was that whercas
like Duryodhan, the great men of Europe were actuated by
ambition alone, the superhuman attributes displayed by Shivaji
were not enkindled by ambition or discontent, but were the
outcome of the terrible irritation at the ruination of his country
and religion by aliens.  Then followed the kirtan by the pious
Matange Buva. On Sunday morning there were athletic sports
at Vinchurkar's Wada where Tilak resided. Students of the
New English School and the Nutan Marathi Vidyalaya acquitted
themselves creditably in their performance with Indian clubs.

On Sunday night, a lecture on the ‘ Killing of Afzulkhan’ was
delivered by Prof. Bhanu, when Tilak presided.  Bhanu refuted
the charge of ** murder ” which the British historians had levelled
against Shivaji. How was it possible for Shivaji to imagine that
Afzulkhan, who had undertaken an oath cither to seize him
and bring him alive, or to kill him and bring his head to Bijapur
and who had on his way trodden under foot the image of the
goddess of Tuljapur and that of Vithoba of Pandharpur, really
meant to make peace with him? What trcachery did the
Maharaja commiit if he went to meet Afzulkhan after making
cvery preparation for the battle and for his own safety?

The English historians’ assertion, continued Bhanu, that
Shivaji was the first to strike was baseless. It was Afzulkhan
who first struck Shivaji. Even if they assumed for argument’s
sake that Shivaji was the first to strike Afzulkhan, what right
had any writer to call that man a murderer who had divine
inspiration in his early age not to bow before the Mussalman
Emperor? How could English writers who refrained from call-
ing Washington a rcbel. call Shivaji a rebel? How could they
have the audacity to belaud such men as Clive and Warren
Hastings who were incomparably inferior to Shivaji and whose
carcers were fraught with foul deeds, and yet call Shivaji a
rebel?  The history of Europe could not show even a single
upright man of Shivaji’s type. History might find fault with
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Shivaji but from the point of ethics his act did not merit censure.
How could the European system of ethics that had the greatest
good of the greatest number as the basis, condemn Shivaji for
abandoning a minor duty for accomplishing the major one? In
the Mahabharata a man of this type, he observed, was called a
“ Buddha.”

“ Every Mahratta, every Hindu,” procceded Bhanu, * must
rejoice at the Shivaji celebration.  We are all striving to regain
our lost independence, and the terrible load is to be uplifted by
us all with joint efforts.”  After this speech Prof. Jinsiwale said
that if no one blamed Napolcon for committing two thousand
murders in Europe, and if Casar was considered merciful, though
he necdlessly committed slaughter in Gaul (France) many a
time, why should so virulent an attack be made on Shivaji for
killing onc or two persons? The people who took part in the
French revolution denicd that they committed murders, and
maintained that they were only removing thorns from their path.
Why should not the same argument be made applicable to
Maharashtra?

Then rose Tilak, the President of the meeting, and in his
concluding remarks said, It was necdless to make historical
rescarches in connection with the killing of Afzulkhan. Let us
assume that Shivaji first planned and then exccuted the murder
of Afzulkhan. Was this act of the Maharaj right or wrong?
This question should not be viewed from the standpoint of the
Penal Code or the Smritis of Manu or Yadnyavalkya, or on the
principles of morality laid down in the Western and Eastern
cthical systems. The laws which bind socicty are for common
men like yourselves and myself. Great men are above the com-
mon principles of law. These principles fail in their scope to
reach the pedestal of great men.”

{ “Did Shivaji commit a crime in killing Afzulkhan? The
answer to this question can be found in the Mahabharata itself.
Shrimat Krishna's teaching in the Gita is to kill even our
teachers, our brothers. No blamc whatever attaches to any
person if he is not actuated by a desire to reap the fruit of his
decds.  Shri Shivaji Maharaj did not commit the deed for
mercenary motives. He killed Afzulkhan from disinterested
motives for the public good. If thieves enter a house and we
have not sufficient strength in our wrists to drive them out,
we should without hesitation shut them up and burn them
alive. God has not granted the mlenchas (a generic term for a
forcigner) a copper plate (sanad or charter) to rule India.
Shivaji was not guilty of coveting what belonged to others,
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becausc he strove to drive them out. Do not circumscribe your
vision like a frog in a well. Get out of the Penal Code, enter
the sublime sphere of thc Bhagwat Gita, and consider the
achievements of great men.’

Tilak then referred to Bhanu’s appeal for unity and said,
* A nation that can’t unite even on a few occasions should never
hope to prosper.  Bickerings will go on at all times, but it is
most desirable that on one day out of 365 we should unite and
respect one another.  For quarrelling are all other days. Rama
and Ravana felt no difficulty to meet in the same temple on
the occasion of worshipping Shiva.”

On this occasion a spirited youth sang a poem called * Shivaji’s
Utterances . The central idea of the poem was that Shivaji
observed that he could not bear the heart-rending sight of India
in which the cow, the mainstay of the agriculturists, the imparter
of strength to the people, the foster-mother of babes, was ruth-
lessly slaughtered; women wcere molested, native Princes were
deposed under flimsy pretexts, and still the Hindus brooked
those insults and injustice. In the imaginary message Shivaji
further asked the people to convey his message to the Britishers
that they should make their subjects happy and discharge the
debt of gratitude they owed to him for not having driven them
back to their country when it was possible for him to do so. In
the end Shivaji asked the people how they tolerated the ills
under the foreign Raj like imbeciles.

The youth who composed and sang this poem was Damodar
Hari Chapckar. A young man of twenty-seven, he was the
eldest son of a famous religious preacher. He was an out-and-
out orthodox Hindu, and to him religion was politics and vice
versa. He had assaulted in Bombay a Professor who had
embraced Christianity, and had thrashed Tilak’s reformist oppo-
nents also in a Poona street! He had tried to get himself en-
rolled in the army, but he could not succeed. He then founded
a sccret revolutionary organisation in Poona. His soul was
disturbed when he heard about the excesses committed by Rand’s
ruthless soldiers, and, therefore, he was seeking an opportunity
to take revenge upon Rand. To that end he had collected some
weapons. He had been dogging Rand’s footsteps for the past
two months and had shadowed him on his way to office, club,
church and gymkhana. Tilak knew Chapckar to be a spirited
youth. When the day's programme was over, Tilak took him
aside and remonstrated with him for calling the speakers
imbeciles at the meeting. He added that had the youth like
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Chapckar been themsclves brave and manly, Rand would not
have been alive in Poona! A caustic rebuke indeed!?

The report of the Shivaji festival was published in the issue
of the Kesari of the 15th June 1897. The poem and the speeches
appeared in that issue. The proofs of the article were seen by
Tilak although the report was from the pen of K. P. Khadilkar,
assistant cditor to Tilak.

About this time Tilak was again elected to the Bombay
Legislative Council in June, and the clection awaited confirma-
tion at the hands of the Governor. Anglo-Indian papers were
hinting that the Governor should disapprove of it!

I

On June 22 the Diamond Jubilee of Queen Victoria's rule
was cclebrated all over India, at all Government places, with
great pomp and jollity, without any mention being made of
the harvdships of the people, who were harassed by famine and
plaguc. The Jubilee was celebrated in Poona at the Government
House situated at Ganeshkhind.  All officers and title-holders
were invited to dinner by the Governor.  Tilak was of course
among the invitees, and he attended the function with his friend
Appasaheb Pendse. Among the visitors were Lieutenant Ayerst,
W. C. Rand, and Licutenant Owen Lewis, who were connected
with the plague administration. Crowds had gathered in the
neighbourhood of Government House to witness- the fireworks
and the illuminated neighbouring hillocks with heaps of en-
kindled hay. Tt was a scene of rare brilliancy.

At twelve o'dock Lord Sandhurst’s guests were making their
way home from the State Reception and Dinner. Ayerst and
his wife in a hurry occupied the carriage which had brought
Licutenant Lewis to the Government House. Then followed
the carriage which carried Lewis and his friend Sergeant.  And
the third carriage carricd Rand, who was in a very happy mood,
as no untoward incident had happened although he was given
threats through private letters! The two Chapekar brothers
with their friends Mahadeo Ranade and Vinayak Apte lay in
ambush. When Rand’s carriage began to trot down, Wasudeo
Chapekar who was following it, made a signal by shouting,
and Averst was shot by his brother Balkrishna thinking that
he was shooting Rand. Lieutenant Lewis, who was following
in another carriage, heard a shrill cry of a woman and her
groans in the carriage that was running before theirs. He

V. S. Joshi: Mrityunjayancha Aimayadnya, p.- 88 (Marathi).



124 LOKAMANYA TILAK

jumped down and overtook it. But he found Ayerst almost
dead and his wife horrified. He thought that there might be
a doctor in the carriage that was following. Yet Wasudeo was
making a signal! Damodar realised the mistake and understood
that Rand was coming down in the carriage that was following.
The carriage passed by.  He ran behind it, leaped on to it, fired
a shot at the man inside, and jumped down. Frightened

the shot. the horse galloped, and it reached the place where
Lewis was standing. Lewis anxiously stopped it and peeped
into the carriage hoping to find a doctor inside, but 1o his horror
he saw Rand fatally wounded. In the vicinity there were big
sounds of fireworks, and these coachmen could not distinguish
the sound of the pistols from the sound of the fircworks outside.

Averst and Rand were taken to hospital where the former
was found dead, and the latter, unconscious. 'The young men
parted in batches, and walked slowly back to their houses.
Crowds witnessing the fireworks knew nothing about it.

Next morning douds of horror spread over Poona. The wrath
against Indians reached its climax. Though murder of any
person is a horrible and despicable act, the people of Poona
thought that it was the proper punishment meted out by God
to Rand for his evil deeds.! The murderer was unknown. At
dawn Tilak got a message from Damodarpant Chapekar that
the Ganapati from Ganeshkhind had been propitiated the night
before! He at once grasped the meaning, and exclaimed, * Is
it sor Then be cautious now!”

The investigation of the murder of Rand was entrusted to
Mr. Brewin, Superintendent of Police from Bombay. He was
an Anglo-Indian known to be a very intelligent officer. On his
arrival in Poona he started the investigation. Houses were
searched, some streets blockaded, and a punitive police force
was imposced on Poona owing to the so-called misconduct of the
inhabitants.  Mr. Lamb, the Collector of Poona, summoned a
meeting and made a significant spcc(h He began by cxpxusmg
surprise and regret that no expression of abhorrence of the crime
had ¢manated from Poona. Having detailed the circumstances
connected with the murder, he said that the fact that the Jubilee
time was chosen pointed to a decliberate intention on the part
of the miscreants to darken the celebration and convert it into
days of mourning. He asked the citizens to be up and doing,
that the deeds of the sedition-mongers and murderers might be
held up to universal ridicule. He saw there was a tendency to

!N, C, Kelkar: Gata Gosthi (Autobiography), p. 274,
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misuse the liberty allowed under British rule to mislead the
young generation with crude and impracticable notions of
political liberty. He referred to the extravagant history of
Shivaji then being taught to the youth, to the dissemination
of a school-boy leaflet denouncing the Diamond Jubilee, and
to pctty insults to the pictures of Her Majesty the Queen-
Empress. He intended his words to reach, not only those pres-
ent, but those of a different character to whom he had alluded.
If the advice and exhortation he had given remained unhceded,
they would all find themselves undergoing an experience to
which they had not been accustomed!

The Anglo-Indian papers were scized with panic and despe-
rately raised a huce and cry against the Poona papers, and
especially the Poona Brahmins.  As the day chosen for the
murder by the murderer was the day of a worldwide rejoicing,
they thought that it was a deep-laid conspiracy hatched by the
Poona Bmhmms The Sccretary to the Governor-in- -Council,
however, wrote to Tilak on the next day of the murders that
his election had been confirmed. The Anglo-Indian papers
blamed Lord Sandhurst for having failed in taking their concrete
suggestions into consideration and vetoing the very recent clec-
tion of Mr. Tilak to the Legislative Council. They remarked
that such action on the part of Government would place good
citizenship at a discount and would creatc an impression that
disloyalty was no disqualification for nomination by Government
to places of honour.

Extracts from the Poona papers were published by malicious
Anglo-Indian papers through men who were antagonistic to
Tilak’s Party. One mischievous man, under a pen-name
‘ Justice ', with the venom of Junius, attacked Tilak through
the Times of India quoting cxtracts from writings that had
appcared in the Kesari, and asked whether or not those writings
amounted to preaching political murder.

Quoting the title of Tilak’s article * Futility of mere clamour’
the Times of India said: *“ Though we do not offer any suggestion
as to the view that a jury might take of the Hon’ble Mr. Tilak’s
discourse on the ‘futility of mere clamour’ against Mr. Rand
and his assistants, still someone with a pistol in his hand seems
to have been in hearty agreement with the Honourable Member’s
distrust in the cfficacy of * mere clamour '.”

The reaction of the English papers was mostly provocative.
The news of the murders caused a shock and sensation in con-
servative circles in London, and they were seized with a tremen-
dous feeling of popular uneasiness. The Times, London, declared



126 LOKAMANYA TILAK

that there were not wanting signs that the whole native com-
munity were well aware that a disaster of some sort would occur
to somc of the Europeans visiting Ganeshkhind that night.
There was an air of expectation and suspense, not unmixed
with certain triumphant aggressiveness of bearing towards
Europcans. The Daily Chronicle frankly blamed the Bombay
Government for imposing punitive police on Poona. The tecth-
less Arthur Crawford blossomed into a booklet and poured out
vials of his wrath upon Chitpavan Brahmins. The Englishman
of Calcutta said that if the object of the instigator of the murder
was to give a shock to the whole country, then he had certainly
succeeded.

Rand's death occurred on July 8, and it added fucl to the
fire. So panicstricken were the Anglo-Indians that they did
not allow men like Dr. Bhandarkar and some Parsees, who had
joined the funeral procession, to enter the cemetery.  They were
sent back. On Sunday the 4th of July under the Presidentship
of Bhandarkar a meceting of sirdars, merchants, servants and
pensioners residing in Poona cxpressed in the presence of the
District Collector its utter abhorrence and detestation of the
dastardly murder.

The Times of India, in an angry editorial, made a fervent
appeal to Government to give immediate effect to section 124A
of the Penal Code and to put on trial the editors of the Deccan
papers which had led a campaign of vituperation and cspecially
one of the Poona papers which said that the British Govern-
ment in India was the worst Government in the world; it had
charged British soldiers with deeds more cruel and cold-
blooded and its writings were an instigation to murdeious
acts.

Tilak was not cowed down at all! He was undisturbed
although he knew the storm was gathering over his head! He
wrote in the Kesari that as nobody thought that therc was any
possibility of such a horrible event happening, immediately it
came to the ears, it filled the hearts of all with sorrow and
surprise. As an editor he further obscrved that at such a time
every man must render such assistance as might be required by
the police in detecting the murderer; otherwise, for the folly of
one man a dark imputation and calamity would come over all
without any reason. He admitted that it was equally dangerous
and disgraceful to all that such horrible crimes should have
remained undetected.

And yet he thundered in an article against the punitive police
and asked whether ‘ Government’s head was on its shoulders’.
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He compared the Government with a mad elephant trampling
under foot everything to dust that came in the way. He wrote
another article in which he declared that ‘to rule was not to
revenge’. He denounced the Times of India and such other
papers and persons who attributed the murder to the Brahmins
of Poona and added that Lord Sandhurst should not condemn
or punish the whole society or community for the misdeed of
one man,

In the meanwhile the news of the Chitpur riots aggravated
the situation in London. Hindus and Muslims were reported
to be acting in sympathy and murdering or assaulting English-
men in India. Letters and articles appeared in the British press
saying that disaffection and disloyalty were rife in India. The
condemnation of the cducated classes in general and of the
Poona Brahmins in particular was for a time universal, and
suggestions were made to the British Government to undertake
repressive legislation immediately.

This anti-Indian propaganda provoked even the gentle
G. K. Gokhale, who was then in England. He granted an
interview to the representative of the Manchester Guardian with
a view to counteracting the malicious propaganda that harped
on the falschood that there was a deep-laid conspiracy of the
Poona Brahmins behind the murder. In the course of the inter-
view Gokhale rcmarked that the plague administration was
responsible for the Indian atrocities and added that two women
were violated by British soldiers forming the search party and
one of the women had since then committed suicide. This came
as a veritable bombshell on Britain. British newspapers and
leaders clamoured for an explanation from George Hamilton,
the Secretary of State for India. He demanded an explanation
from Lord Sandhurst, the Governor of Bombay. Lord Sandhurst
telegraphically stated that the accusations were a tissue of false-
hood from beginning to end. Thereupon the British House of
Commons condemned Gokhale’s remarks as malevolent
inventions.

A volley of questions was put to Lord Hamilton by Members
of Parliament. Sir E. Ashmead-Bartlett asked him * whether
the Governor of Bombay had confirmed the nomination of Bal
Gangadhar Tilak, and whether he was aware that the person,
besides publishing attacks upon the British authorities in his
newspapers, had himself made speeches inciting people to
rebellion, and if so, whether the Government of India proposed
to take any action in this matter.” Another Member Howell
asked Hamilton whether he was aware that “ Bal Gangadhar
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Tilak was some years ago sentenced to a double term of imprison-
ment for being concerned in a conspiracy to defame a
distinguished native statesman, Rao Bahadur M. Barve, Minister
of an influential Native State.”

In a studiously brief written reply Hamilton said that the
nomination of ‘I'ilak had been confirmed by the Governor of
Bombay. “ But the question,” he added, “ whether the articles
which appeared in those papers were seditious, and whether that
speech contained an incitement to rebellion, was a matter of
law as to which the Government of Bombay has not at present
arrived at any final opinion.”

British leaders wanted to punish Gokhale. So some asked
how he had secured the appointment of a teacher of political
cconomy in a college that reccived a grant from Government.

Tilak understood what these questions and replies meant for
him and, referring to them, he wrote an editorial under the
title * What is sedition?’. It was the duty of a paper to acquaint
the people with their rights and to educate them how to get
their grievances redressed lawfully. To bring to the attention
of the people that European culprits were let off without proper
punishment, that people could not receive proper velief in times
of faminc, that the native Princes were deposed on any pretext
without enquiry, that the Government expended moncey on the
Indian military although the army was engaged outside India,
was no sedition. It was mercly attracting the attention of the
people to the unjust state of affairs.

v

The Government had set the wheels of vengeance moving
against Tilak, and the time for an explosion was drawing neaver.
All the past clashes with burcaucrats had now accumulated into
a thundering storm, and the whole atmosphere was charged with
electricity waiting to burst forth any moment. There were
rumours that Tilak's imprisonment was imminent. Tilak
wanted to prosecute the Times of India for its mischievous
articles. So he went to Bombay on the morning of July 27,
to consult his lawyer friends in the matter and also to scent the
move of the Government as regards his arrest. It was also said
that he intended to publish some material in the Champion, a
Bombay English paper, supporting Gokhale’s statements,
although he had opined in his own paper the Kesari that there
was a little exaggeration as to two of Gokhale’s statements and
that there was no cvidence for the third.
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But on the very day of his arrival in Bombay a warrant of
arrest was issued under Section 124A of the Indian Penal Code
by the Presidency Magistrate, and the police went to serve it
on Tilak. Tilak was staying with the Hon’ble Mr. Daji Abaji
Khare in the latter’s house at Girgaum Back Road. Sirdar
Abdul Ali Khan Bahadur, Superintendent of the Criminal
Investigation Department, Bombay, experienced some difficulty
in identifying Tilak. So hec took with him Mr. James Guider,
who knew Tilak. He surrounded the house with-a strong police
party, and served the warrant of arrest on Tilak. Tilak asked
his servant for his bedding, and he quietly surrendered himself
to the police. He was arrested on a charge of exciting and
attempting to excite disaflection towards the Government by
law established in British India, by publishing inflammatory
articles in the Kesari. He was taken into custody and locked
up in a scparate ccll at the Esplanade Police Court Chowkey.
Khare immediatcly saw the Presidency Magistrate, but he refused
to release Tilak on bail. Khare returned to the cell and found
Tilak snoring! This gave proof of his extraordinary coolness
in danger. Khare, however, knocked at the door and he woke
up. Then they decided about the next day’s proceedings, and
Khare returned.

The news of Tilak’s arrest spread in Bombay with remarkable
rapidity, and the next noon the police court and all approaches
thereto were crowded as Tilak was to be produced before the
Magistrate. There was, however, no disorder, nor any
demonstration. An application for bail was made before Mr.
Sanders-Slater, Chief Presidency Magistrate. Mr. Russel, Bar-at-
Law, instructed by Mr. M. R. Bodas, appeared for Tilak. He
appealed to the Magistrate to let Tilak on bail as he occupied
a prominent place, and there could be, he added, little ground
for supposing he would not appear to take his trial at the proper
time. Mr. Nicolson, the Public-Prosecutor, opposed it on the
ground that the Magistrate had no power to grant bail if there
was sufficient ground to prove the accused guilty. Therefore
the Magistrate refused the application, and Tilak was removed
to Police custody.

Tilak’s arrest on charges of sedition was the first of its kind
in modern India after the birth of the Congress, and, therefore,
it came as a volcanic shock to Maharashtra and India! One
editor was prosecuted in Bengal under section 124A, but his
was an ordinary trial. Here the murder of Rand had made
the atmosphere very dangerous, and the arrest of Tilak made
the trial colourful and explosive! At Poona police arrested
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Keshav Mahadeo Bal, Printer of the Kesari. There was also a
warrant for the arrest of Hari N. Gokhale, the owner of the
Press, but he was not in Poona. The house of the Natu Brothers,
the elder of whom had sent written complaints to Government
agalmt forcible intrusion of soldiers during the plague adminis-
tration, was carefully searched, and arms and other things found
therein were taken possession of. They were arrested under the
very old Regulations of 1827 which empowered Government to
deal with political offenders. One brother was put in the Thana
Jail, and the other in the Sabarmati Jail. Morc arrests followed.
The Editors of the Poona 1'aibhav, Modavritta and Pratod were
arrested. The editors of the Dnyan-Prakash and Sudharak were
also arrested, but they were afterwards let off. Thus Lord
Sandhurst established a reign of terror by making Poona undergo
experiences of which they never had any taste since the British
rule began.

On July 29 an appeal was made to the High Court for the
release of Tilak on bail, and it was heard by Mr. Justice Parson
and Mr. Justice Ranade. Tilak's friend Mr. Daji Abaji Khare,
Mr. Chimanlal H. Setalwad and M. R. Bodas appeared for the
defence; the Advocate-General Mr. Lang appceared for the Crown.
Khare said that he would furnish bail to any amount for his
client and added that justice would not be served by keeping
his client in custody. Mr. Lang opposed the application for
bail and said that it was not a bailable offence. Mr. Justice
Ranade simply inquired if some corrections were made after-
wards in the original articles of the Kesari. Khare replied in
the positive. As the case was going to commence in the Presi-
dency Magistrate’s Court only two days after, Mr. Justice Parson
refused to release Tilak on bail. He, however, told Khare to
make a further appeal to the High Court in the matter if any
adjournment was made in that Court and his client was detained
any further.

Crowds had thronged the High Court, and some had expected
that Ranade would at least release Tilak, the leader of the
people, on bail, although Tilak was his chief opponent in
Maharashtra. They murmured that Ranade was afraid to grant
bail to Tilak. Ranade was known for his 1mpart1al judgment
and had once chastised his father for bringing undue pressure
on him in one case! Ranade was not free from British suspicion
either. During the trial of Tilak detectives were hovering about
the residence of Ranade in Bombay.

While Tilak was taking his trial, Gokhale arrived in Bombay
on July 30. The Police Commissioner of Bombay met him on



COCK'S CROW OF REVOLUTION 131

board the steamer and desired to have a talk with him in con-
nection with the charges he had made against the Plague Com-
mittece. Finding that the promised evidence was not coming
forward, Gokhalc soon tendered an unconditional apology to
Lord Sandhurst, stating that he withdrew all the allegations
unreservedly which he had made on the strength of letters
received from persons whose general trustworthiness he had no
reason to doubt. An infuriated public believed that the charges
were entirely true, and it was said that sulky, gloomy Gokhale
would not live down the retraction.

The hearing of Tilak’s trial was resumed on Saturday, and
it continued on July 31 and August 2, 1897, before Mr. Sanders-
Slater. Mr. D. D. Davar, Bar-at-Law, boldly complained in the
Court against the confiscation of the registers of subscribers of
the Kesari and Mahratta and said that the Government would
be charged with unlawful conduct and malicious vindictiveness
if they gagged the papers in that way! The Magistrate com-
mitted the case to the Sessions.

Mr. Davar made an application again for the grant of bail
on August 4. He pleaded his case with great force of argument
and told His Lordship that his client would be put to great
difficulties in the preparation of his defence. Belicving that
the accused would be handicapped by being kept in jail, Mr.
Justice Badruddin Tyabji let off Tilak on bail by directing that
two surcties worth twenty thousand rupees each and a personal
surcty of fifty thousand rupees should be furnished. As soon as
His Lordship rose, people assembled inside the Court and out-
side, commenced cheering Badruddin Tyabji for his independent
spirit and liberal attitude!

Mr. Annasaheb Nene, a big landlord, and Seth Dwarkadas
Dharamsi, a businessman, the latter at the instance of Laxmidas
Khimji, boldly came forward to stand surety for Tilak. Dr.
Bhajckar, who had expressed his willingness to stand surety for
Tilak cven upto five lacs, was nominated by Government to the
Council and his name was dropped. Tilak was made to wait
in the Prothonotary’s office till the bail amount was produced.
Annasaheb Nene and Dwarkadas Dharamsey produced the
necessary amount and Tilak was released on bail at night on
the 4th August. Next day Tilak went to Poona. Besides Mr.
Khare and Mr. Bodas, Dr. M. G. Deshmukh, Mr. Bhajekar, Mr.
Setlur, Mr. Keshavrao Deshpande, Mr. Gajananrao Vaidya, and
Wasukaka Joshi were the men who took keen interest in the
defence of Tilak. It was reported in the press that Mr. Erdley
Norton was coming from Madras to defend him.
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Two days after his arrival at Poona, Tilak, the protector and
defender of his friends, agreed to be an executor of the will
of a dying friend, Shri Baba Maharaj. He was a first class
Sirdar and also Raj Guru of the Kolhapur Maharaja. He had
established his claim on his property after strugglm;, in the Court
for a number of ycars and was now dying in debt. He was
dangerously ill and Tilak did not displease his dying friend. In
accordance with the wish of his friend Tilak agreed to be one
of the trustees. Had he not been rcleased on bail for two days
more, Tilak would have been spared the money, energy and
time which would have enriched the nation in many other
respects. For he had to struggle relentlessly through fire of
calumny for over nincteen years to fulfil the pledge he gave to
his dying friend.

During Tilak’s stay in Poona Mr. Harry Brewin, the officer
in charge of the investigation of Rand’s murder, had long talks
with Tilak. Suave and subtle, he was a man of charming
manners and could talk Marathi fluently. But his subtle
intellect failed to fathom Tilak's depth.  Great men are seldom
deceived by soft and gentle words. When at last Brewin asked
Tilak why he did not help Government in finding out the
culprit, Tilak bluntly said, “Well 1 don’t think that I can
help you in this matter. None is expected to give me informa-
tion. But, Mr. Brewin, you should rest assured that even if I
come to have such information, I will never pass it on to you.
Though I believe that an offender should be punished ade-
quately, never will T agree to be anybody’s spy and never will
I betray anyone in the world.  Certainly, I will not put obstacles
in your path. I resent Mr. Lamb's allegation that the murder
is a blot upon Poona. Yet I do not deny that the offender,
if and when found, should be sentenced according to the dictates
of law.” !

The time for departure to take his trial at Bombay came near,
and Tilak was deeply moved at the thought of his financial
difficulties. The Latur Mill was a burden on the income from
his law-classes, and he had hardly paid down the debt which
he had accepted with the ownership of the Kesari and Mahratta.
Conviction and sentence was a foregone conclusion. He had
his children to provide for, and his papers to be looked after.
In life money had no interest for him. Austerely contemptuous
of all personal advantage, he knew his financial position was
utterly unsound. Reluctantly he reviewed the position and saw

1 N. C. Kelkar: Life of Lokamanya Tilak, Vol. I, p. 659 (Marathi).
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that the other side of the ledger was not balanced even with
the heavy debts he had contracted. For a few moments he was
stung by a strange pang. He then dictated his will. Having
fixed, settled and arranged all things, he started for Bombay with
what money he could manage to borrow through the efforts of
his colleague Wasukaka Joshi.

Tilak’s friends and admirers knew this difficulty, and an
announcement for public subscription was made through news-
papers. All provinces responded well to the appeal and espe-
cially the Bengali lcaders Messrs. Shishir Kumar Ghose and
Motilal Ghose, cditors of the Amrit Bazar Patrika, and Babu
Surendranath Banerjee took keen interest in collecting the
defence funds. Tilak and Ghose had great affection for each
other! They stood by cach other in their journalistic attacks
and victories! The Bengal leaders raised the necessary funds
and engaged two leading barristers from the Calcutta Bar, Mr.
L. P. Pugh and Mr. William Garth, who were then to leave
for England via Bombay. The Calcutta solicitors Mr. Bhupen-
dranath Basu and Mr. Hirendranath Dutt established contact
with Messrs. Bhaishankar and Kanga, Tilak’s Bombay solicitors,
and the Calcutta leaders enthusiastically wired to the friends
of Tilak in Bombay their decision promising to take up responsi-
bility for the defence of Tilak! They added that they under-
took to pay the fees of Pugh and Garth! Mr. J. Chaudhari,
Bar-at-Law, tendered voluntary help and accompanied the
barristers.

Some persons hinted at an apology, and Motilal Ghose also
wrote in that vein. Tilak replied to him that Government was
bent upon humiliating the Poona leaders, and as the other side
expected him to do what amounted to pleading guilty, he was
not prepared to do so. He added that Government would not
find him a Kuccha reed as they did in some others. “My posi-
tion among the people entirely depends upon my character; and
if I am cowed down by the prosecution,—in my heart of hearts
I know the case for the prosecution is the weakest that was
ever placed before a jury—I think, living in Maharashtra is as
good as living in the Andamans.”

“ Such risks, however, we must take if we dabble in politics.
They are all the risks of our profession,” ' he concluded.

Mr. Pugh, Mr. Garth and Mr. A. Chaudhari, the barristers
from Calcutta, reached Bombay in time. Mr. Pugh was allowed
to defend Tilak. But Mr. Garth, who was a powerful cross-

1 All about Lokamanya Tilak, B. G. Paul & Co., p. 35.
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examiner, was not allowed to do so by the High Court on the
ground that there were many senior lawyers at the Bombay Bar.
Mr. D. D. Davar was cngaged as Pugh’s junior. Russell and
Branson were retained. Garth and Chaudhari were allowed to
sit next to Pugh to take down notes and instruct him. When
Mr. Pugh and Mr. Garth had long consultations with Tilak
and his solicitors, they were greatly impressed with the great
ability, keenness of intcllect, strong common sense, the spirit
of independence, and the remarkable knowledge of law that
Tilak displayed during the course of consultations. Curiously,
they asked Tilak whether he desired Self-Government for India
and not absolute Independence, and Tilak replied, ** Desire for
independence on the part of a subject people is nothing dis-
honourable and is no crime.”

\4

At last the day of the trial dawned. Tilak and the printer
K. M. Bal stood in the dock of the Bombay High Court before
Mr. Strachey on September 8 upon a charge of exciting dis-
affection towards the Government established by law in British
India.

The Court and the galleries were packed. On cither side of
the judge on the desks, accommodation was provided for some
prominent ladies and gentlemen. A swarm of pleaders and
representatives of vernacular journals occupied seats which were
set apart for those actually concerned in the case. Worried by
the demand for seats, the Clerk of the Court said amidst laughter
that those representatives of the vernacular press who could not
be accommodated might scat themselves in the dock!

And thus commenced the trial of Tilak upon which the atten-
tion of all educated India was concentrated and which was being
watched with interest, not only throughout the British Empirc,
but over a considerable portion of the civilized world!

Both the accused plcaded not guilty. Then the trial began
before a jury consisting of six Europeans, two Hindus and one
Parsee.

All reports on the Shivaji festival were taken as the objection-
able articles. The first article constituted Shivaji’s utterances,
the production of a poctaster, and the other was the report of
Tilak’s speech at the close of the function defending Shivaji's
killing" of Afzulkhan. The oriental translator and other wit-
nesses were examined regarding the correct meaning of the
scntences.  Rules of Grammar, denotations and connotations of
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words in Tilak’s sentences were discussed. At last Strachey
called on Tilak to explain certain words and their grammatical
relationship. The Advocate-General said that Tilak’s spcech was
calculated to impress upon the minds of the rcaders of that
article that the British Government had no right to be in India,
and that his hearers were perfectly justified in adopting any
means they liked, even murder, for the purpose of attaining that
object.

Mr. Pugh submitted to the jury that had it not been for the
murder of Rand, they would never have heard about this
prosecution at all. The persons were charged with certain
writings in Marathi, and it would have been monstrous to have
asked the jury for a conviction upon an offence for which the
accused was liable for transportation for life, relying upon the
mecaning of Marathi terms which the majority of the jury and
of the counsels did not understand. He also brought to the
notice of the jury that Government had confirmed Tilak’s nomi-
nation to the Legislative Council after the murder of Rand.
The Shivaji festival was cclebrated just in the same way as they
celebrated the memory of Robert Bruce and Wallace in Scotland,
where many things were said which outsiders might not think
justifiable and still the Scots were loyal to the British throne.
The same case was with the Shivaji festival. It was a résumé
of Carlyle’s Heroes and Hero Worship. Political assassination
was not thought of at the meeting, as was conveyed to the jury
by the prosccution, because there was no evidence to show that
there was any connection between the reference to the assassina-
tion of Afzulkhan at the mecting and the assassination of Rand.
If Government had thought that the murder of Rand was due
to the incident in question, they would not have brought action
against Tilak under section 124A, but they would have certainly
proceeded under some other section of the Penal Code.

The hearing of the case lasted six days and on September 14
the judgment was delivered. A large crowd assembled outside
before the opening of the Court; a holiday helped to swell the
throng. The Judge commenced summing up at eleven o’clock
and continued till five with an interval of three quarters of
an hour for tiffin. His Lordship explained to the jury the
meaning and scope of section 124A. He observed that he did
not wish to suggest in any way that there was the rclation of
cause and effect between cither of those articles and that abomin-
able murder, and he added that even the Advocate-General had
admitted that he could not prove that those murders were caused
by those articles. The question, then, before them was whether
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the accused had excited or attempted to excite feclings of dis-
affection towards the Government. Disaffection, he said, meant
hostility or ill-will of any sort towards Government, feelings of
ill-will, great or small, intense or mild, and any attempt to
excite such feelings brought the offender within the purview of
the section. It was not action but feeling was the test. The
attempt to excite feelings of hatred against or disaffection
towards the Government was cnough to constitute the offence.
Absence of affection, the Judge observed, amounted to presence
of hatred against the Government in a man’s mind. The jury,
in considering the articles, must always bear in mind the time,
the place, and the circumstances of the case. They were not
to take a philosophical view of those utterances, but were to
consider the intention that the prisoncr had in his mind when
he wrote the article, and the cffect he intended then to produce
on the minds of his readers.

At five o'dock the jury retired to consider their verdict, and
their return was awaited with keen anticipation. In the mean-
while an application was made to the Judge on behalf of Tilak
to reserve for the consideration of a full bench certain parts of
law arising from the charge to the jury but this was not granted.
At twenty-minutes-to-six they reappeared in the Court. The
foreman announced that six out of nine considered Tilak guilty
of attempting to excite feelings of disaffcction towards the British
Government, but they were unanimous in acquitting the Printer
Bal. The three Indian jurors returned a verdict of not guilty.
Then the Judge asked Tilak if he had anything to say before
the sentence was passed upon him. “In spite of that verdict,”
declared Tilak, “ I still maintain that I am innocent, and for
this reason 1 think the verdict has been arrived at owing to
the misunderstanding of certain Marathi texts. In fact, there
was not a single intelligent Marathi gentleman put in the wit-
ness box by the prosccution. Tt seems to have been lost sight
of, and not pressed on the attention of the jury, but whatever
it is I still hold that the writings themselves are not seditious.
They were not written with a seditious intention, and I do not
think they have produced that effect on the readers.”

The Judge then said that he concurred with the verdict of
the jury. The young British Judge said that in fixing the
sentence he bore in mind the good work Tilak had done in
conncection with the plague and attempted to enforce a reason-
able policy upon his countrymen. Furthermore he was
influenced by the fact that this was the second prosecution under
section 124A and that the absence of any proceedings under the
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section had led journalists to believe that there was no kind
of writing in which they might not indulge with impunity.

“You are not an ordinary obscure editor and publisher,”
continued the young Judge, “ but arc one of the lcading members
of your community, and being a man of influence many of
your people look for their guidance to you—a man of intel-
ligence, a man of remarkable ability and energy, and who might
under other circumstances have been a useful force in the State.
Instead of adopting the course which could have brought you
credit, you have allowed yourself to publish articles of this kind,
which, if persisted in, could only bring misfortune upon the
people.”

He, then, passed upon Tilak half the full-term of imprison-
ment allowed by the scection, namely, a sentence of cighteen
months’ rigorous imprisonment.

In the afternoon an cnormous crowd had gathered in the
precinets of the Court, and it was only by the aid of sowars
that egress could be obtained. Tilak was taken to the judges’
entrance to the Court. and was quietly driven away to the prison
in a private brougham. Meanwhile public attention was con-
centrated on the prison van which had been ostentatiously driven
up to the general entrance and it went away empty.

Writing on the judgment, the Times of India felt glad that
Strachey acquitted himself of the heavy responsibility with
ability and dignity, and added that the sentence did not err
on the side of severity. Tilak had, it remarked, a fair trial
and the punishment carried an impressive lesson with it for
those who had need for it.

The Times, London, also observed that Tilak had had a fair
and patient trial and, making a wrong statement that half the
jury consisted of Tilak’s countrymen, said that Tilak’s very able
and distinguished Counsel Mr. Pugh had no solid evidence.
The Times added that the purport and drift of the articles
were to impress upon the pcople that it would be justifiable to
overthrow the British Rule and to justify political murder.
“The Brahmins of the Deccan,” procceded the editorial, ‘* have
been adepts in the art of stirring up sedition and discontent
without committing themselves to phrases of so definite a kind.
The conviction of a man of Tilak’s birth and rank will probably
teach them to be a little more cautious for the future.” The
Times, London, concluded that if that failed, the Government
of India would be obliged to have recourse to more stringent
measures of a legislative order!
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A Furopean accused could have a European jury in India, but
an Indian could not demand an Indian jury! This was the
British Law in India. On top of it all the jurors were un-
acquainted with the Marathi language. The nationalist press
declared that the decision was a foregone conclusion. * The
case was,” said the Indian Mirror of Calcutta, “one of the
greatest importance and involved the settlement of a grave issue.
It was too much to expect so young and incxperienced a judge
as Mr. Arthur Strachey to rise equal to the importance of the
issucs before him. It seemed that the judge and the Advocate-
General had interchanged places.” Indced the Advocate-
General had made a very sober speech and it was a mild affair
between him and Pugh.

The Daily Chronicle of London highly criticised the new
definition of disaffection cnunciated by Strachey and observed:
“ We feel confident that such an interpretation of the law would
not be tolerated in England and if not speedily overruled, may
produce mischief in India.” For some days the interpretation
put on the word * disaffection ’ by Strachey as ‘ want of affection’
was a matter of jokes in the Indian High Courts. Sir Charles
Paul, the then Advocate-General of Bengal, laughed at Strachey.
Mr. William Jackson nicknamed Tiger Jackson, who was the
lcading lawyer at the Calcutta Bar, always chafed Mr. J.
Chaudhari, who had assisted Mr. Pugh at Bombay during Tilak’s
trial, about the Bombay canons of interpretation, and asked him
why he did not ask his leader Pugh to tell the Bombay Judge
that ‘ dissension’ might as well mean ‘absence of tension’.
Referring to the Tilak case, Dadabhai remarked in London that
gagging the Press was simply suicidal, that there never was a
greater mistake than to prosecute Tilak and that the British
Government was introducing the Russian system of Government.

The sentence raised Tilak in the estimation of the people.
What they loved most was that he preached with action and
not with mecre words. The millhands fasted spontaneously and
the student world was indignant. Newspapers published special
issues praising Tilak as the martyr to liberty. The Advocate
of India brought out a supplement giving a big photograph of
Tilak. C. Y. Chintamani wrotc later that he had framed that
picture and bowed before it every morning in those days! Efforts
were made by interested groups to bend Tilak before Govern-
ment, but he refused to tender an apology like Gokhale.
Government knew that he was a hard nut to crack. Government
had grcat powers and resources at its command while Tilak had
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courage, self-control, faith and sympathy of the people. Tilak
was changing now the idea of leadership in India. The role of
a leader in a slave country was being transformed or remodelled,
and a type of new leadership was being born with powers of
suffering and courage, driving politics from academical to practi-
cal methods. A dependent nation always marches ahead through
the trials and tribulations of her great men. Thus this trial of
Tilak proved to be the first cock’s crow of Indian revolution.

The Tilak Defence Committee did not lose courage. They
decided to move the High Court for lcave to appeal to the
Judicial Committee of the Privy Council.  Next morning Tilak’s
solicitors and counsels had a meeting at the Byculla Club. A
messenger was to see Tilak and bring his suggestions from Jail.
While they were discussing the transcript of the Judge’s charge,
the messenger brought a bundle of papers from Tilak with a
lot of writing on sheets in pencil.  On finishing their reading
of the charge, they opened the bundle of papers from Tilak.
Mr. Pugh went through it carefully from top to bottom, and
they all found to their unspeakable surprise that it was a draft
of the petition for leave to appeal to the Privy Council which
they had met to draw up. Tilak at once rose higher in their
estimation, and Pugh and Garth remarked that during their
professional careers they had not come across any layman or
even a lawyer who could draw up a petition of appeal so
accurately and exhaustively in absence of any notes or a copy
of the charge or judgment! Perhaps they were not aware that
Tilak was a tcacher and guide to law-students and a counsel
for lawyers!

The application was made to the High Court, Bombay, for
Ieave to appeal to the Privy Council against Tilak’s conviction.
A full bench of the High Court comprising the Chicef Justice,
Justicc Candy and Justice Strachey heard the application on
September 24. The grounds for the application, said Tilak’s
Counscl, Mr. Russell, were briefly that the sanction for prosecu-
tion was inadequate, and, therefore, the Court which tried him
had no jurisdiction, and that the learned judge had misdirected
the jury both as to the scope of the section and the meaning
of the word ‘disaffection’ and also as to what was mecant by
British Government.

The Chief Justice said that there was no misunderstanding
as to the jurisdiction or the construction put on the section or
to the meaning of the British Government, and added it was
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going too far to assert that the section could not be said to be
contravened unless there was a direct incitement to stir up dis-
order or rebellion.  Touching upon the objection raised to Mr.
Strachey’s summing up, the Court said that although ‘ contrary
to affection’ and not ‘absence of affection’ should have been
used in connection with reference to Sir Comer Petheram’s deci-
sion, the jury could not have been misled by it. On these
grounds thc application was refused.



CHAPTER IX

A NATION IS IN TEARS

I

THE grim scntence passed on Tilak was a grave warning to
all politicians and cditors, and to all those who had business
connections with him. The self-centred among his circle lost
no time in dissociating themselves from him and his activities.
Calamity is a mirror wherein we sce ourselves and our friends
reflected in true colours. Mr. Gokhale, one of the proprictors
of the Aryabhushan Printing Press, refused to print Tilak’s
papers. Tilak’s nephew, Vidwans, managed to get the papers
printed at the Vithal Press owned by a pensioner by name
Bhide. A declaration of both the papers was made in the name
of Mr. N. C. Kelkar, Tilak’s assistant editor, who was a young
man of twenty-five with an old head on young shoulders.
Another lieutenant of Tilak, Mr. K. P. Khadilkar, a brilliant
journalist, stood by Kelkar and they started the oftice of the
papers at Tilak’s residence by putting together two empty oil-
tins to serve them as a table! Amidst thc panic-stricken
atmosphere, the publication of Tilak’s Kesari, in the absence of
Tilak, made great news. Pcople felt glad to know that the
Kesari, the lion, continued to roar and the Mahralla, to show
fight! The Times of India, therefore, thought it to be an
important piece of news that Tilak’s papers were published in
the name of a young man named N. C. Kelkar. Time had now
arrived for Kelkar to prove his mettle on the touchstone of
difficulties, to prove himsclf worthy of the trust his leader had
reposed in him ; for when a year before Tilak offered him the
editorship of the Mahratta he had written to the young man :
“I want in you not a servant but a friend for the last days, as
it may be, of my life.”

The news of the sentence passed on Tilak rendered a severe
shock to his wife. She wriggled with pain on her bed for two
days without taking a morsel of food. This was the second time
she was facing such an affliction. She trembled at the thought
of the hard labour and the rigours of jail life her husband was
undergoing. It drove her to despair. Her soul writhed in
terrible agony. Amidst the crushing sorrow she groaned, “ Send
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in a petition praying the Government to put me also in jail
with him. I, too, am his co-partner.”

Tilak had not attended the session of the Bombay Legislative
Council which had met on August 4, 1897. His friend, Mr. D. A.
Khare, asked a number of questions which stood in the name
of Tilak. Threatened with imminent imprisonment. Tilak had
sent in his resignations of the membership of the Poona
Municipality and the membership of the Legislative Council.
He had not resigned his membership of the Senate of Bombay
University. Government seized that opportunity and struck
his name off the register of the fellows of the University. The
paunicstricken Anglo-Indian devils clamoured for the pound of
flesh, and they demanded cancellation of Tilak’s University
degrees also !

By now the investigations regarding the murder of Rand had
met with success. Damodarpant Chapekar was arrested in
Bombay on September 30, 1897, and he confessed that he had
shot Rand. The cluc to the mystery of that murder was given
by one Dravid who was undergoing imprisonment in the
Yeravda Jail for forgery. The Government offer of a reward
of twenty thousand rupees roused this criminal’s proclivitics and
prompted him to this treacherous act. After Chapckar’s arrest
detailed investigations were carried on in the case.

The Tilak Defence Committee had not given up their
struggle. They decided to make an application to the Privy
Council itself for leave to appeal to the Privy Council. It was
the penultimate stage, and if the application was granted, the
final stage would be the appeal to the Judicial Committee of
the Privy Council which had powers to revise, under special
circumstances, the operations of the Criminal Courts in India.
Tilak’s friend Khare sailed for England on October 2, on that
mission, with papers pertaining to the case, and Mr. Kanga,
solicitor, followed him. They engaged Mr. Umeshchandra, the
big gun at the Calcutta Bar, Mr. Blair, Mr. Pugh and Mr. Garth
to assist Mr. Herbert Asquith, then an eminent Liberal leader.
Asquith was known as a marvel of precision, and he argued
well without any enthusiasm. They had also engaged Mr. J. D.
Mayne, who was an authoritative text-writer on the Indian
Penal Code and a practised hand at the Privy Council Bar.

The case was prepared with great labour giving English
synonyms for Marathi words and phrases, and then the meaning
of the whole paragraph in English.

The application came up for hearing before the Judicial
Committee of the Privy Council, the highest Tribunal in the
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British Empire. The Tribunal consisted of the Lord Chancellor
Lord Halsbury, Lord Hobhouse, Lord Davey, and Sir Richard
Couch. They heard the application. Mr. Asquith laid great
emphasis on the interpretation of Section 124A of the Indian
Penal Code, dealt with Strachey’s meaning of the word dis-
affection, and tried to impress upon their minds the need for
going minutely into the proceedings of the case, especially the
meaning of Scction 124A as it was likely to hit badly the Indian
Press and Platform if the interpretation were not revised.
Counsel for the Crown, Mr. Cohen, who was assisted by
Mr. Spring Branson, simply read to the Judicial Committee the
latest resolution passed by the Privy Council as to when the
Privy Council could take up appcals’ in criminal cases for revi-
sion. The Judicial Committee held that there was not even
a prima facie case for revising the proceedings of the Bombay
High Court, and Lord Halsbury bricfly gave judgment, rejecting
the appcal without entering into details. The decision was a
shock to the well-wishers of Tilak. The Kesari gave vent to the
people’s feclings, and expressed the view that the confidence
of the people in the justice and fair play of the British Judiciary
was completely shaken on account of that decision.

The Times of India, Bombay, with sardonic satisfaction, sang
the praises of the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council. It
observed sarcastically that Tilak’s friends had made as good a
fight as was within their power, but they should now accept the
failure, in good temper and in a spirit of good citizenship.

The cditors, who were arrested after Tilak’s arrest, were dealt
with severely or leniently as the tone and temperament of the
persons concerned merited punishment. A reign of terror was
thus experienced by educated men and political agitators.

The jail life of Tilak commenced at the Dongri gaol in
Bombay. Fifteen years before he had passed 101 days in that
gaol with his colleague Agarkar. Prison rigours told upon
Tilak’s health very severely. He was trcated as an ordinary
criminal and was given food which was dross. To him food
cooked with onion and garlic was anathema, and in prison the
curry was dressed with nothing but onion and garlic. He liked
boiled rice, but he had to live on pieces of dry bread with the
result that he was terribly reduced in health and sank down
from 135 lbs. to 104 within a short time. In addition to his
worries, he was given coir work which was arduous. The news
of his declining health disturbed his well-wishers and friends
outside, and they felt anxious about his life. A few days later
Tilak was rcmoved to the Byculla Jail in Bombay.
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To the people Tilak was a symbol of sacrifice and selflessness.
The Indian officers in jail showed secret sympathy for his
sufferings. They sometimes under this or that pretext sought
opportunities to sec him and offer him bits of betel-nut under
somc cover. They took him to the jail hospital on the slightest
indifferent health. The watchmen and the other menial staff
displayed reverential devotion towards him and tried to alleviate
his sufferings whenever they could.

A Mubammadan watchman was intensely grieved at the
declining health of Tilak. He hailed from a village in the
Poona District. At night he threw towards Tilak pieces of
copra and jaggery. Gratetul for his kind gestures Tilak warned
him against the danger he would expose himsell to. Tilak
meticulously observed jail rules, and gave the jail officers no
causc for anxiety or trouble. So he tried to dissuade the Muslim
warder from acting against the rules, but he would not listen
to him. Purposely Tilak then told him that he was suffering
from a sour mouth. Bent upon helping him, he then gave Tilak
almond nuts and pieces of sugarcandy.

Tilak was overwhelmed with the unquestioned devotion of
the people. The Muhammadan warder was going to resign his
post, but Tilak told him that in future patriotic leaders would
be often coming to jails and servants with a sympathetic heart
like him would be a sort of help during their privations in jail
life. After his release Tilak presented this Muslim with a gift
and a dhoti which his family had preserved as a divine rcliever
from any discase: Tilak experienced another phasc of mental
relief in the Byculla Jail. His friend, Sirdar Tatyasaheb Natu,
had just then been shifted from the Thana Jail to the Byrulh
Jail. Being in detention he was allowed to have home food in
the jail. Some part of that food somchow secretly reached
Tilak’s cell.

I

But these picces of sugarcandy and silent gifts by Natu, which
were rare occurrences, could not check the deterioration in Tilak’s
health. His declining health was causing deep anxiety to his
friends and admirers. Mr. S. S. Setlur, an advocate of Bangalore,
who had taken an active interest in the work of the Tilak
Defence Committee, wrote a letter in November 1897 to
William Tallack, the Secretary of the Howard Association in
London, about the jail life of Tilak. The main objective of
this institution was to endeavour to reform prison life all over
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the world. The Secretary of the Association interviewed
George Hamilton, the then Secretary of State for India and
invited his attention to the condition of Tilak's health. Hamil-
ton replied to him that Tilak was given treatment in conformity
with the rules of the jail. He, however, instructed the Bombay
Governor to arrange for Tilak’s medical examination. The
result was good. One day the jail medical authorities stood
before Tilak asking him whether the jail food had done him
any harm. Tilak replied calmly that his sinking weight was
itself a reply to their query.

The Secretary of the Howard Association wrote to Setlur a
sympathetic letter in which he said: “If any serious thing
happens to Tilak you may let me know of it in detail. But I
hope he will survive his detention. In my letter I reminded
Lord George Hamilton that if Tilak should die in jail, it would
attract widespread criticism, both in this country and in India,
of the Indian prison-regime, and that this of course would be
very undesirable from the point of view specially of Govern-
ment.”

The criticism of Strachey's judgment fully brought out the
inadequacy of Government measures to condemn and crush a
fearless patriot like Tilak. Even so imperialisticminded a
British Judge as Strachey had to strain the law to suit its pur-
pose. So it was now proposed to amend Section 124A of the
Indian Penal Code.

Tilak’s incarceration had repercussions also on the Congress
session which was held at Amraoti in December 1897. Seized
with suspicion and hatred consequent on the Poona murders,
the burcaucracy tried to smother it by putting every possible
difficulty in the way of holding the Congress session. The
hosts of the Congress moved cautiously lest they should incur
the displcasure of the bureaucacy on an issue connected with
Tilak. There was also a hot discussion on the suggestion
whether or not a picture of Tilak should be hung in the
Congress pandal. There was also a suggestion that a resolution
should be passed at the session expressing disapprobation of the
Government attitude towards Tilak. Both the suggestions were
ultimately abandoned. To sympathise with Tilak who had
been convicted of sedition and to do either of those things was
tantamount, in the opinion of the Congress bosses, to uphold-
ing sedition, and nobody was prepared to risk the tranquillity
of the session on that issue. Another question that disturbed
the Congress leaders was whether G. K. Gokhale should
address the Congress or not. It was decided that Gokhale
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should, as far as possible, be kept out. Gokhale on his own
part was not in a mood to take any active part in the Congress
proceedings.

Mr. C. Shankaran Nair, an honoured and illustrious leader
of the Congress movement, presided over the Congress. In the
course of his address Nair said that to deny Indians the freedom
of the press and to deny them representative institutions,
England would havce to ignore those very principles [or which
the noble names in her history had toiled and bled. It was
impossible, he proceeded, to keep out of India eloquent orations
on patriotism by men like Mr. Chamberlain—a  Cabinct
Minister holding up to admiration the memory of patriots
like Wallace whose head was stuck up on the traitor’s gate of
the city of London, of Bruce guilty of foul murder in a church,
of Emmet and other Irish leaders executed or hanged for
trcason by the British Government.

He referred to the plague operations in Poona and told his
audience how, after the murder of Rand, the Anglo-Indian
press drove the Anglo-Indian community into unreasoning panic,
and the result was that Lord Sandhurst tried to take measures
which, it was believed, he would never have sanctioned if he
had remained a free agent.

Then protesting against the arrest of Natu brothers, the
President referred to the condition under which Tilak was
convicted after the farce of a trial. He expressed his opinion
that the offence of sedition should be tried by a native jury.
He further observed that in England a man convicted of sedi-
tion was not treated as an ordinary criminal, sedition being
regarded as a political offence, but in India apparently one was
subject to the ordinary hardships of prison life. This was
obviously an indirect reminder to Government to give proper
treatment to Tilak in jail.

On the third day of the session Surendranath Banerjee moved
a resolution urging Government either to try or release the
Natu brothers whom Government had kept in detention for
five months. Speaking on the resolution, he obscerved with
great force of heart : * We regard the quartering of the Punitive
Police at Poona as a mistake. We regard the imprisonment of
Tilak and of the Poona editors as a still greater mistake. For
Mr. Tilak my heart is full of sympathy. My fcelings go forth
to him in his prison house. A nation is in tears. . . .” At
these words the whole congregation stood up, and the pandal
resounded with thundering applause for Tilak. But no
separate resolution was passed expressing sympathy for Tilak
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and disapproving of the policy of Government. The Congress
by another resolution protested against the proposed changes
in the law of sedition as dealing an irreparable blow to the
liberty of speech and the freedom of the Press.

The Impcrial Legislature, however, legalised Strachey’s arbi-
trary and wrong interpretation of Section 124A of the Penal
Code by amending on February 18, 1898, the notorious section
in the face of public opposition.

Gokhale, who reluctantly attended the session, did not make
any speech, nor was he asked by anybody to do so. There was
no question of honouring him for his great services rendered
through his evidence before the Welby Commission. With
the agony of repentance in his eyes and the pangs of an internal
conflict in his mind, he sat there unconcerned, uncared for.
Had the Moderates liked his apology they would not have
trcated him as an untouchable.

III

The anxiety expressed by the outside world over Tilak’s
health indirectly impelled Government to take carc of his
health. The jail officers now gave him a little milk and ghee.
Just then plague paid its yearly visit to Bombay. Tilak had
no faith in the efficacy of inoculation. But in conformity
with jail rules he offered himself for inoculation although it
was not yet supposed to be a remedy of proved efficacy.
Seceing that Tilak offered himself for inoculation, all other
prisoners without any trouble submitted themselves to it. The
inoculation hit Tilak hard, and in two days’ time high fever
reduced his weight considerably. The danger from plague in
Bombay and the growing anxiety and agitation outside about
Tilak’s health, led Government to free themselves from the
responsibility that devolved upon them for Tilak's life. Gov-
ernment, therelore, decided to remove him to the Yeravda Jail
at Poona. The decision was kept a secret, but somehow the
news leaked out, and at the Kalyan Station a vast crowd awaited
the arrival of the train to have a glimpse of their great leader.

The facilities he had been given in Bombay were continued
in the Yeravda Jail also. Here the work was less arduous, he
being assigned the work of painting walls and furniture. Tilak
went to the root of the theory of the mixing of paint, and be-
came well-versed in it. While Tilak was thus preparing paints
and caning chairs, one day the Governor's Councillor Mr.
Nugent paid a visit to the jail and saw Tilak in the cell
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Whether the Councillor had a good or a bad motive in paying
the visit is not known. Tilak, who could at will look at the
world with a detached view, must have been oblivious to the
arrogant presence of the bureaucrat !

By now the agitation for the release of Tilak had struck root.
The clouds of suspicion were dispersing. On his arrest Damodar
Chapekar was inveigled into confiding all the details regarding
the Rand murder. His case was committed to Sessions, and he
was scntenced to death on February 3, 1898. When the judge
passed the capital sentence upon him, Chapekar roared : “ You
may hang me tomorrow, but my soul will at once pass into
another body, and in sixteen years it will be fighting against the
English again!”1 Chapekar thercafter expressed his wish that
his application to the High Court should be dralted by Tilak.
The request was granted, and Tilak drafted his application
sitting by the side of Chapckar for nearly three hours in the
presence of the jail and C.I.D. Oflicers who were all cars and
all eyes to discover any clue to the remotest connection between
the two.

In the High Court, Branson, the famous lawyer, tried to save
Chapckar’s neck from the gallows, but his sentence was con-
firmed. Chapekar again expressed his desire to sce Tilak in
the jail. He was granted that privilege. He cxpressed his
intense desire for two things. The first was the rcequest for a
copy of the Bhagvat Gita which Tilak had with him. He said
he would die with the Gita in his hand. The sccond was a
request for the disposal of his dead body in accordance with
Hindu rites, and that it should not be defiled by the touch of
non-Hindus.

At this juncturc some of Tilak’s friends and admirers con-
tacted Prof. Max Miiller and moved him to take an active
interest in the release of Tilak whom he knew to be a man of
great learning. The lecarned man was moved at the thought
of the privations Tilak was undergoing in jail. Hec had already
had some correspondence with Tilak after the publication of
Tilak’s thesis The Orion, and he had scnt a copy of the trans-
lation of the Rigveda to Tilak in jail with a Bengali gentleman.
Max Miiller expressed deep anxiety for Tilak’s life, and
obtaining the signatures of Sir William Hunter, Sir Richard
Garth, Mr. William Caine, Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji, Ramesh
Chandra Dutt and some Members of the British Parliament,
he sent a petition to the British Government entrcating them

1 Henry W. Nevinson: The New Spirit in India, pp. 49-50.
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to release Tilak on the grounds that by nature he was a scholar ;
being unused to hard labour he was completely shattered in
health and that as the ends of justice had been served by his
imprisonment he should be now rcleased. Tilak wrote a very
courteous letter to Max Miiller, expressing his gratitude to the
great scholar for the interest he was taking in his rclease and
for the copy of the Rigveda he had received from him. Sir
C. H. Sctalvad writes in his Recollections and Reflections that
he also had called on Lord Sandhurst, the Governor, and tried
to persuade him to commute Tilak’s sentence and create good
feeling in the minds of the public who undoubtedly, he added,
held Tilak in great estcem.

The rare gift for Tilak from a world-famous man of learning,
Mr. Max Miiller, created sympathy in the heart of Mr. Solomon,
the Jail Superintendent. He allowed the distinguished prisoner
some facilities in the jail such as light for reading and writing,
pencil, and some such small concessions. There were rumours
that Tilak was to be released in a day or two, but nothing came
of it. Tilak the born scholar was absorbed in studying the
translation of the Rigueda, and his vision extended itself to the
far ends of the Universe! Once while reading the Rigveda a
second time, he came upon a certain stanza, and he paused and
sat far into the night revolving his thoughts over it! It dawned
upon his mind that the home of the Vedas was the Arctic
region! Like Archimedes, who, when the idea of the principle
of specific gravity struck him, ran from the bath-tub into the
street without clothes, dancing with joy and crying out, “Oh
it is found!”, Tilak was cntranced with joy, and he could not
slcep that night for joy when he knew the real meaning of the
verse: ‘“Many days passed before the Sun rose.” Thus he
utilised the enforced leisure to enlighten the misty paths to the
antiquity of the Aryans! It is only such men as live beyond
the plane of worldly joy or sorrow that can cherish such great
thoughts even amidst misery !

Damodarpant Chapekar heroically mounted the gallows on
April 18, 1898, amidst a serene atmosphere, holding in his
right hand the copy of the Gita he had borrowed from Tilak,
and singing and chanting hymns in the Yeravda Jail which was
guarded by armed police on that day. The little book which
he held in his hand was lying in the grip of his fingers!
Tilak fulfilled Chapekar’s last wish by arranging to dispose of
his dead body in accordance with Hindu rites. One Bhausaheb
Gokhale, who resided near the temple of Umbrya Ganapati, a
locality in Poona, fulfilled Tilak’s desire and did all the funeral
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obsequies of Chapekar. Describing the impressions and emo-
tions of that generation, no less a personality than Lala Lajpat
Rai observed that the younger generation admired Chapekar
although they did not know whether they approved of the deed
or not, and it was an admiration of the motive behind the deed,
not of the deed itself.

After the retirement of Solomon, another Jail Supcrintendent
Colonel Jackson came. He did not disturb the jail life of
Tilak, but his insolencc and menacing attitude sometimes
blustered forth. Tilak was allowed to wear his shoes in prison,
and so he asked for a new pair. When it came to the jail
office, Jackson did not like its crimson-red colour. He got it
painted black and sent it over to Tilak ! Tilak must have been
amused to see that Government officers were so attentive cven
to his shoes !

In spite of this drastic and stringent discipline, the jail
authorities felt sometimes flabbergasted! 1f Tilak happened to
go to a place where prisoners were working in the presence of
the jail authorities, the prisoners, to the utter surprisc and anger
of the authoritics, spontancously got up as a mark of respect
to their popular leader. Those poor souls hailed Tilak as a
great man, and it was their duty, they thought, to pay him due
respect.  The jail authorities on their part sometimes utilised
Tilak’s moral force to tame the uncontrollable prisoners, and
his name or words had a magic effect upon them. It was at
this time that Tilak had to pass some anxious days about the
publication of his papers as the press in which his papers were
printed was destroyed by fre. But he was relieved of the
anxicty when the guardian of the other partner of the Arya-
bhushan Press accepted the work on a note from Tilak.

At last Government now began to think seriously about
Tilak’s release. Mr. Brewin, who had been in touch with
Tilak {for some months, now discussed with Tilak the
terms of release. Government put forward two conditions
for his rcleasc. The first was that he was not to participate in
any functions which would be held after his release, and the
second demanded that he should not take part in politics! A
selfless patriot, Tilak was willing to accept the first, but was not
prepared to yicld to the second. The Governor's Council
passed a resolution imposing on him the foregoing conditions.
Mr. D. A. Khare was specially brought to Poona to ncgotiate
with Tilak the terms of his relcase in the Yeravda Jail. Khare

1 Reminiscences and Anecdotes about Lokamanya Tilak, Vol. 11, p. 659,
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and Brewin discussed the proposed conditions with Tilak in

the Jail. Tilak would not accept the second condition. A day

was spent in wording the conditions of release. Spent, fagged

out, Khare was about to leave Poona when Government also

modified their resolution to suit the new conditions of release.
The conditions were as follows:

* That Tilak will not countenance or take part directly or
indirectly in any demonstration in regard to his release
or in regard to his conviction or sentence.

*'T'hat he will do nothing by act, speech or writing to
excite disaffcction towards the Government.”

Tilak gave an undertaking that he accepted the conditions, and
added that if, as laid down in the second condition, a Court of
LLaw announced that by act, spcech or writing he excited dis-
affection towards the Government, the Governor of Bombay in
Council, might cancel the remission of his punishment, and he
might be remanded (o jail to undergo the unexpired portion of
his original sentence.

Thus there was no apology, no repentance, no exit from
politics. That was the bold characteristic of Tilak, who
marched ahead regardless of consequences.

At last on the night of 6th September 1898, as a special case,
the gate of the Yeravda Jail creaked, and Tilak, the prisoner
No. 1445, was rclcased after fifty-onc wecks of hard labour!
His friend Khare brought him to his residence at Vinchurkar
Wada! Tilak, however, did not come home straight. On his
way home he visited a temple, said his grateful prayers to God
Ganapati, paid his respects to Annasaheb Patwardhan, an old
and venerable man, and then made his way to his house. Tilak
was very weak, weighed about 113 Ibs. with his cheeks pale and
hollow, his eyes sunken, and his lips were dry and black.

At night the whole city of Poona was agog, and the news
spread with the rapidity of lightning throughout India. Crowds
of people poured in, and Tilak’s house was turned into a place
of pilgrimage. Next day bells rang in temples which beamed,
as it were, with the joy of the people. People celebrated the
event with prayers of thanksgiving, illuminations and distribu-
tion of sweetmeats. Tilak's picture was exhibited at all meet-
ings and also taken out in processions. And suddenly from
behind the dark clouds the sun came forth and shone brightly
on Poona. Congratulatory telegrams and letters rained upon
Tilak. Newsmen flocked at Tilak’s residence to obtain details
of his prison-life, his future programme, and the conditions
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of release, but they were disappointed. Yet they made up news
out of guesswork and gossip and issued special supplements.
Shortly after Mr. Gokhale also paid a courtesy call on Tilak.

Congratulations came also from England. Sir Ramesh
Chandra Dutt wrote from London: “ I cannot describe in words
what fcelings rise in my heart when I remember the hardships
you have borne. The courage and the power of suffering you
have so far shown are worthy of admiration. Those nations
alone rise whose people possess such qualities and bear such
sufferings. I do not doubt that the effect of your example will
be permanent. Your hardships will lead the nation to victory.”

Mr. Williin Caine expressed his mind in the following
touching words: * You arc coming out from your ordeal of
jail-life with a fuller and brighter lustre. The future historians
of India will record your achicvements in the proper place, and
posterity will ever be justly grateful for the enormous hardships
you bore for the nation's political liberty.”

Thus the murder of Rand turned out to be a landmark in
the history of India. Two things arosc from it. The emergence
of T'ilak as a hero of Maharashtra and a rising leader of Modern
India. Tilak glowed like fire, and he now outshone Ranade.
The second thing was that it marked, to quote Lala Lajpat Rai,
the beginning of a revolutionary movement in India. Referring
to this fact, the Sedition Committec later observed: *“It is
among the Brahmins of the Poona District that we first find
indications of a revolutionary movement.”

1v

It was suggested by his doctor friends and well-wishers that
Tilak should take a rest at Sinhgad and recoup his health.
Sinhgad is the name of a mountain fortress which has attained
a great name in Mahratta history. Tilak had purchased a plot
there and in 1890 built a small villa. There, with his friend
Daji Abaji Khare, he used to stay in summer and sometimes
even in winter!

Accordingly Tilak took complete rest in Singhad. He always
advised his colleagues to take a rest once a year at such
secluded places. Always busy like a bee, 'I'ilak had no rest at
his residence in Poona. Amidst the historic environment and
beautiful scenery around the fort, he now felt better, his health
showed quick improvement and his soul which sometimes
loved seclusion amidst the ruins of Sinhgad felt reinvigorated.
October and November 1898 were thus spent in leisure. But
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to men of action leisure is not inaction. Change of work is rest
for great men. Tilak wrotc some chapters of his .new book
The Arctic Home in (he Vedas which he had outlined in jail.
Tilak, with his long, ﬂowmg white coat, red turban, crimson-red
shoes and the usual stafl in hand, became ready for resumption
of public activities although his doctors opined that the recovery
of his health was satisfactory, but not complete, and that for
some time he should avoid work and public engagements
involving great strain.

There were pressing invitations from Madras requesting
Tilak to attend the Congress session in December 1898. The
news of his proposed visit enlivened the hearts of the younger
leaders in Madras and in Bengal. Tilak and his colleagues
travelled to Madras by the same train by which Ranade and
Gokhale did. On the way huge crowds gave an ovation to
Tilak at every station while men of note and position turned
to the compartment of Ranade and Gokhale. Onc graduate
at a station in the Madras Province expressed his superstitious
mind by exclaiming that as Tilak’s feet had touched the Madras
Province plague would disappcar in no time. Tilak was sorry
that cducated men should hug such beliefs. Hc was reminded
of the story about the Peshwa Bajirao I. A batch of men from
Karnatak acclaimed him a divinc personality and entreated him
to recruit them for his infantry. He declined their request
saying that those who meekly called him God were unsuitable
for such jobs!

During the Congress session Tilak stayed in the historic
building called Carnan Castle which stood on the beach. The
building was owned by a leading solicitor Mr. Bilgiri Iyengar,
but it was the former residence of Lord Clive, and Swamni
Vivekananda had also resided there during his stay in Madras.
Tilak’s friend Ganga Prasad, editor of the Advocate of India,
Lucknow, too, stayed there with Tilak.

Tilak did not take much interest in the proceedings of the
Congress. As was his practice, he took interest in the proceed-
ings of the Subjects Comnnittce where he had a tussle with
Surendranath Banerjce on the use of the word ‘ gratitude * used
in the resolution expressing grief over the death of Gladstone.
Tilak insisted upon the use of the expression ‘satisfaction’ and
said with a smile that the word * gratitude’ did not sound well
to his Mahratta cars! Hec added that Gladstone did nothing
for India beyond uttering sweet words. The resolution passed
by the Congress, however, cxpressed its sense of gratitude for
the sympathy which Gladstone uniformly evinced towards the
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efforts of the Indian people in securing a more liberal and
progressive Government in India.

In the open session Tilak did not make any speech. His
critics interpreted his silence in many ways. A few critics des-
cribed him as a skeleton at the feast. Some said that because
he had given an undignificd undertaking he did not open his
mouth, whlle others felt that he did so I)emuse he feared that
Government would again trap him if he made any violent
speech.  Pherozeshah Mchta could not attend the Madras Con-
gress for various reasons, and it was rumourced that he did not
attend as the sedition-monger ‘Tilak was to attend it. Mr.
Sankaran Nair had urged on Pherozeshah Mchta to attend the
Congress lest it should drift into the hands of the noted extre-
mists, and disloyalty get the upper hand over it! Nair added
that if the Congress did not listen to men like Pherozeshah
Mchta they would leave the Congress.!

In fact some leaders were nervous about mixing with Tilak
for they feared that they would be bracketed with Tilak! In
those days patriots convicted of sedition were shunned
even by public men. The Congress protested against the law
of sedition which had been passed in the Imperial Legislative
Council against the stubborn oppmnu(m of the non-official
Members and an unprecedented agitation in the country. The
leaders, however, hoped that the new Viceroy, Lord Curzon,
who had just arrived in Bombay and whom they had accorded a
respectful welcome would govern India according to the best
traditions of British rule, and would repeal the iniquitous
legislation of his predecessor. Lord Curzon sent a telegram to
the Congress President expressing thanks for their cordial mes-
sage of welcome.

At Madras, Tilak was given by Maharashtrian residents a
grand reception at the housc of Sir T. Madhavrao where Tilak
and his party were given a feast. Tilak was glad that the
Mahratta soul was conscious in the hearts of Southern Brahmins.
In rcturn, Tilak gave a feast in the Carnan Castle to all pro-
minent pleaders, leaders and editors who had assembled for the
Congress session.  That time also caste-wise meals were served,
for the Smarths and Vaishnavas of Madras did not take food in
one file!  The son of Sir T. Madhavrao presented Tilak with
the watch chain of his father as a memento of Tilak’s visit to
his housc!

Tilak had planned a tour of Southern India and Ceylon with

' H. P. Mody: Sir Pherozeshah Mehta, p. 439.
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a view to visiting important places of pilgrimage and living a life
of comparative isolation for some time. On his way he gave
an interview to a representative of the South Indian Iost
clarifying his position. He said nobody had gagged him; he
did not speak because if once he made a speech he would be
required to make speeches at other places also, and his indiffer-
ent health would not be able to stand that strain. But he
added, “I would continue to do hereafter what 1 have been
doing bcfore this.”

Tilak had decp veneration for the sacred shrines and places
of pilgrimage of the Hindus. Before reaching Madura, he
stayed a day or two at Kumbhakonam, Tanjore and Trichino-
poly to sce the magnificent temples, sacred places, holy Maths
and historic monuments of India’s ancient learning and culture.
Hec paid a visit to Pondicherry to study the conditions under
which Indians lived in that French colony. He noted that
Indians c¢njoyed the privilege of sending rcplescnntncs to the
republican Senate in Paris.  He then spent some time at Madura
and saw the grand glorious temple of Minakshi. From Madura
he proceeded to Rameshwaram in a bullock cart, a journey of
ninety miles. He must have been happy to have darshan of
one of the four sacred abodes of God and must have gone de-
voutly through all the rounds of religious ceremonies.  Speak-
ing of this tour later at the spring lectures in Poona, Tilak
obscrved scriously : “ One cannot have an idea of the ancient
grandeur and glory of Hinduism and the temples of the deities
without visiting these institutions. Who can say that they are
not powerful influences that give substance to the tree of
Hinduism and foster the spirit of unity among the Hindus?”

Returning to Madura again, Tilak and his colleague Wasu-
kaka Joshi went to Tuticorin by train, and, cmbarking a
stcamer, went to Ceylon—the Lanka. At Kandy they cooked
their own food at a Dharmashala and liked the bread-fruit. The
different varieties of coconuts, the green gardens of tea and
coffee on the slopes of the surrounding hills impressed them
much. In those days the members of a Ceylonese family would
follow a religion of their choice—either Buddhism or
Christianity. The dress was an indication of their religion,
a Christian member of the family using trousers, a Buddhist
lungi, and a Hindu dhoti! He realised that one of the impor-
tant problems which the social reformers in Ceylon had to
tackle was how to revive the spirit of self-respect among the
masses and how to revive Buddhism for which they had lost
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their love owing to their close association with or the domi-
neering influences of Christian missionaries for a period of 300
years. He said that Ceylon was a fertile country, rich in mineral
wealth, but because the Ceylonese were by nature an easy
going, indolent people and were satished with little, their
wealth was being drained out of their land! During his stay
in Ceylon Tilak called on George Arundale, who was
conducting there a Theosophist class. There Tilak and Joshi
attended a performance staged by a Parsce Theatrical
Company.
Tilak and Joshi returned to Poona in February 1899.



CHAPTER X

RESURGAM

N his return from Ceylon, Tilak found that Poona was
O again in the vortex of danger. Damodar Chapekar's
younger brother, Balkrishna Chapekar, who had absconded,
was passing days in hiding in the forest of the Hyderabad Statc.
There he was perishing for want of food and was reduced to
a skeleton.  Tilak had made provision for his food and medi-
cine through Mr. Keshavrao Koratkar, alterwards the Chief
Justice of Hyderabad State. At last Balkrishna had now
surrendered himself to the Police authorities at Hyderabad.
He was arrested and brought to Poona in January 1899. A
second ‘Rand Murder Trial’ opened, and he was committed
to Sessions. Prior to this, the youngest Chapekar, Wasudeo,
too, had been arrested and released. Mr. Harry Brewin, the
police officer, had in his subtle, coaxing and coercive manner,
persuaded him to be witness at the Sessions Court against his
brother Balkrishna. Vinayak Apte, their colleague, passed
several ycars in hiding but the police could not trace him out.

Outwardly, Wasudeo accepted Brewin’s advice, but since
December 1898 he had been planning the murders of all those
who were responsible for his ecldest brother’s conviction and
exccution. Curiously enough, just at this time Ganesh
Dravid, who had been released from jail by Government for
his treachery to his friends the Chapekars, wrote a letter to the
Times of India, complaining that it was unjust and cruel that
he was not awarded the full amount of twenty thousand rupees
for helping the police to find out the murderer of Rand. Only
half the amount, he said, was awarded and that too was divided
between his brother and himself.

On February 9, 1899, Wasudeo was to be produced in the
Sessions Court as a witness against his brother. So he decided
to finish before that date Ramji Pandoo, the chief police
constable and the Dravid brothers. In a subject country
struggling for the overthrow of foreign yoke informants or
traitors rarely go unpunished. In utter desperation Wasudeo
was seething with vengeance. For a week he and his friend
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Ranade shadowed Ramji Pandu and one night tried to shoot
him, but there was a misfire. At last they decided to ‘ award’
the Dravids the balance of their prize which they so merito-
riously deserved! On the night ol February 8, Wasudeo, his
friend Mahadco Vinayak Ranade, who was a college student,
and Khanderao Sathe, who was reading in standard VII of the
New Poona High School, dressed up as Pathans and left
Wasudco's residence with  loaded revolvers. Sathe waited
brandishing a lathi at the mouth of the lanc to blocade it.
Wasudeo and Ranade went up to the Dravids, and pretending
to be sepoys under Brewin, told them that they were wanted
immediately by Brewin. The Dravid brothers came down.
Quick as lightning Wasudeo and Ranade shot them in the
street and ran away. The Dravid brothers died within a few
hours. Next day Wasudeo and Ranade were taken to the
police station where Wasudeo, who had carried a loaded pistol
concealed under his shirt, fired a shot at the chief police con-
stable ; but the bullet again missed. Thereupon Wasudeo tried
to shoot Brewin, but he was overpowered.  This must be a rare
incident wherein a police officer was shot at during a police
inquiry at the police station itself !

Wasudeo and Ranade openly confessed that they had shot
the Dravid brothers for their treachcrous act. Wasudeo said
that it was necessary for him to do so, so that he might be
saved the shame of giving evidence against his brother, and
added that had they failed to do so, either of them would have
shot down the Dravid brothers in the open Court. Two days
after the police went to the New Poona High School and arrested
Sathe in his class.

The Dravid murder trial opened, and Wasudeo, Ranade and
Sathe were tried amidst an atmosphere of great excitement. Mr.
Muhammed Ali Jinnah defended Ranade, and Mr. D. D.
Davar defcnded Sathe in the Sessions on March 4, 1899. The
first two accused were sentenced to death, and Sathe was
sentenced to ten years’ rigorous imprisonment. Two days later
Balkrishna Chapekar was tried for the murder of Rand, and
Wasudeo and Ranade were tried as the co-accused. All three
were sentenced to death. Wasudeo, with a sarcastic look, asked
the Judge which of their sentences they were to undergo first
and whether they would be hanged twice !

In the second week of May 1899 two young Chapekars were
hanged in the Yeravda Jail as also their friend Ranade who kept
them company till death. The last scene was quite moving,
and it heightened the tragedy. When Wasudeo was being
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taken to the gallows on May 8, he cried out in front of
the cell of Balkrishna: “Bapu, I am going, farewcll!” Out
came the reply: “Farewell!” When Ranade’s turn came he
cried out before the cell of Balkrishna, “Bal, T am going,
farewell!  “ Farewell, my friend! 1, too, am following you,”
echoed the voice in the cell. And Balkrishna followed his
brothers and friend a day after. In this way all the Chapekar
brothers dicd heroically on the gallows avenging the wrong deeds
of the British administration. The Sedition Committec des-
cribed the Chapckars as ultra orthodox and perhaps therefore
anti-Muhammadan and anti-British, having no definite political
aims but daring in the achicvement. The wives of all these
Chapckars pulled on their existence [or yecars uncared for. The
old father of the Chapekars died broken-hearted in 1899 ; their
mother having breathed her last before the trial of her eldest son
commenced.

The Anglo-Indian Papers and bureaucracy were fuming at
their helplessness in implicating Tilak in these dreadful crimes.
The situation again became dangerous. A note in the Kesar:
on Gancesh Dravid's letter to the Times of India aroused suspi-
cion in the minds of the Anglo-Indians. The Makhratta added
fuel to the fire of their anger. It described Wasudeo and his
comrades as brave and generous youths, and praised their extra-
ordinary courage and bravery saying that it was for an unselfish
but sentimental end that they manfully bore the consequences.
The Times of India characterised the remark of the Mahratia
as a substitute of a garland for ropes and said it was not a little
less than scandalous.

On top of this all the biting and pungent articles in the Kal,
a paper started in the last week of March 1898, by Prof.
Shivaram M. Paranjpe, proved to be a red rag to the Moderates
as well as the bureaucracy. The Bombay leaders expected
Tilak to hold the reins of the Kal, but Tilak would not inter-
fcre. Master of satire, Paranjpe was channelling his own path.
A magic pen and a marvellous oratory were his weapons. Tilak
neither discouraged nor encouraged Paranjpe. During Tilak’s
imprisonment Pherozeshah Mehta had called Mr. Kelkar, editor
of the Kesari and Mahratta, to Bombay, and threatened him
that if the Poona leaders did not bridle the Kal he would run
his pencil through the name of Poona wherever it might
occur. Kelkar politely but firmly told the Bombay lion that
Paranjpe had his own opinions and he had a right to express
them ; but because the Kesari did not openly condemn the Kal
for its views, it was absolutely wrong to presume that they
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approved of its line of thinking. In practical life such a pre-
sumption would lead to chaos, he added.

Tilak had up till now neither settled down to his work as
an editor nor resumed his other activitics. He wrote a series
of articles in the Kesari on the Khoti land system prevailing in
the Konkan. His admirers and well-wishers suggested to him
not to make the declaration of his papers in his name, for they
had apprehensions that on any flimsy pretext Government
would endanger his liberty. He calmly said that it was a res-
ponsible and exacting job and one should do it onesclf. He,
therefore, declared, amidst that threatening atmosphere, to have
resumed the editorship from July 4, 1899, and wrote the first
editorial under the caption ‘Resurgam’. He decvoutly ex-
pressed his debt of gratitude to God for his return to his post.
He cxpressed his grateful thanks to the editors of the Amrit
Bazar Patrika, the Hindu and the Champion for their sympathy
and support, and made a particular mention of the help rendered
to him by Max Miiller. He wrote in high terms of his assist-
ant cditors, and expressed his deep gratitude to all those who
had rendered him help during his trial.

He then took a review of the political situation that had
developed during the last twenty-two months, and averred that
the disunity between the Moderates and the Extremists had
emboldened the bureaucracy to launch on a policy of wide-
spread repression in the Presidency. In an appeal to the
Moderates he observed that if they wanted to revive their move-
ment they would have to close up their ranks. It was futile to
consider oneself a peacock and regard others as crows when the
eagle of bureaucracy was soaring in the sky to pounce upon
both. To those who boasted of their moderation because they
were not prosecuted in 1897 he said that it was not necessary
for him to remind them why and how they had cscaped un-
scathed. Both the partics were demanding rights from Govern-
ment and educating the people to make such demands. Neither
of them was thinking of breaking or transgressing the laws of
the land while putting forth those demands. And since Gov-
ernment had restricted their liberty of speech, it would be
useless, he concluded, to emphasize their political differences
and to call themselves Moderates or Extremists.

Tilak now began to look after his affairs and concentrate his
efforts on certain activities. He closed down his Law class
which Kelkar had restarted during his incarceration. Intermit-
tent visits of plague, and Tilak’s visits to different places on
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public duty disturbed the class. So he had to close it down,
although it was not unprofitable.

Il

Tilak again came into conflict with the Government over the
methods used by it in stamping out the plague. The inocu-
lation which was still an unproved remedy was being rigidly
imposed upon the people who were allergic to any such new
moves. On July 16, 1899, as resolved at a public meeting held
in Poona a week before, a deputation of local leaders was led
by Tilak to the plague officers. The plague officers were now
more accommodating and listened politely to -the complaints,
and discussed the issues patiently. Tilak pleaded that only
those who were willing should be inoculated. Arguments for
and against the idea of inoculation were hotly discussed in the
newspapers. Dr. Bhalchandra Bhatavadckar had a long cor-
respondence with Tilak over the efficacy of inoculation.
Mr. K. A. Guruji, who had attacked Government by writing in
the Kesari a series of articles on the subject, was later on brought
into trouble at Banaras where he had started a Marathi weekly
called Kalidas.

In August 1899 Tilak wrote a very fighting article on the
detention of the Natu brothers, who were kept still in detention
by Government without giving any reasons. Their detention
however had been transformed into internment at Belgaum
sincc May 1899. Pherozeshah Mehta had bombarded the
burcaucrats in the Legislative Council for the unjust treatment
meted out to the Natu brothers. Government had no satisfactory
replies to give, and they gave answers that were evasive, insult-
ing and peremptory. ‘

About this time the Times of India, following doggedly the
imperialistic policy of ‘ divide and rule’, published a letter from
a certain ‘historicus’ who upbraided the Brahmins of the day
with inconsistency and hypocrisy for honouring the memory of
Shivaji, because in his opinion their ancestors had set aside
Shivaji’s successors and ruled in their name and finally lost the
state established by Shivaji through their incompetence and
vices. Tilak replied that the fact was that the Peshwas had
respectfully set aside the weak and incapable kings in the
interests of the nation, and extended Shivaji’s State. He,
however, added that a powerful Mahratta general should have
set aside the incapable and unworthy Bajirao II and captured
the whole power in the interest of the country.

11
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- The suspicion that Tilak was indirectly the motive power
behind the Poona murders was still haunting some of the British
papers as also some Anglo-Indian newspapers. One of these,
the Globe of London, while writing under the columns ‘ Notes
of the Day’ on the appointment of Sir Stafford Northcote as
Governor of Bombay advised him to complete the extermination
of the seditious conspiracies there and observed: “For some
years past, parts of the Western Presidency have been permeated
by seditious conspiracies of a most dangerous sort, and although
the ringleaders have seen fit to remain quict since that arch-
plotter, Tilak, was imprisoned, sedition is mercly in temporary
abeyance.” It further said that Sir Stafford Northcote was going
to his important office with much fuller knowledge of the state
of affairs than his predecessor possessed until his mind was
informed by the campaign of murder which Tilak directed, if
he was not its organiser. The Times of India gave wide publicity
to the notorious note of the Globe in its issuc of the 18th
November 1899.

Tilak brought immediately in the Presidency Magistrate’s
Court in Bombay an action on November 23, 1899, against the
editor and proprietor of the Times of India and sued them for
defamation. Mr. Pherozeshah Mehta, though rather displeased
with Tilak for his not condemning the bridleless Kal, accepted
Tilak’s brief. Mr. Chimanlal Setalwad also was engaged to
assist Mr. Pherozeshah Mehta. The Magistrate Mr. J. Sanders-
Slater tried to sidetrack the issue, and asked Pherozeshah Mehta,
Tilak’s counsel, whether Tilak was not prosecuted for sedition.
But Mechta silenced him by pointing to Mr. Strachey's judgment
in which he had said that there was nothing to connect Tilak
with the murder. Pherozeshah must have had a ferocious look
at the Magistrate who could not distinguish between sedition
and murder.

Considering now that discretion was the better part of valour,
the Times of India next day published an apology to Tilak in
its editorial columns under the caption “ Tilak and the Times
of India”. Mr. Pherozeshah brought to the notice of the Court
that this was not the first time that the Times of India had made
such an assertion ; on a previous occasion when the capture of
Balkrishna Chapekar was announced, it had done so, but had
disclaimed it next day. Counsel for the Times of India stated
that they had received some cuttings from the London press
and as they expected nothing objectionable in them they were
inserted as received, without unfortunately undergoing any
revision, and so, now they regretted the insertion of the state-
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ments “which we regard as unwarranted, and as doing a serious
injustice to Mr. Tilak.”

But Tilak was bent upon chastising the Times of India, for
making an example to others who were carrying on a regular
campaign of calumniating him, and to cnd the controversy once
for all. The hearing of the case came up before the Magistrate
on December 8, 1899. Mr. Macpherson, Bar-at-Law, counsel
for the defendants, Mr. Bennett, editor and proprietor, and
Mr. Coleman, Managing Proprietor of the Times of India
respectively reiterated the apology, and observed that Mr. Ben-
nett during the last five minutes had told him that he did not
believe in the statements made in the Globe and that he would
not have for one moment permitted them to appear in his
columns. It had never occurred to his client that there would
be anything objectionable to Tilak. Counsel further said that
Mr. Bennett was a journalist of thirty years’ standing, and that
was the first occasion he had been caught tripping in anything
that had passed under his eyes. His client absolutely dissociated
himself from the injurious imputations and expressions which,
very much to his surprise, were contained in the Globe.
Mr. Mechta replied that as Tilak was the victim of insinuations
of such character his client thought it was due to himself and
the causc he was espousing that he should embrace the first
opportunity to subject himself to any hostile cross-examination
on those matters. Here was an opportunity for him to do so.
Mchta, however, accepted on behalf of Tilak the expression of
regret which Messrs. Bennett and Coleman through their
Counsel had offered, and requested the Court to allow him to
withdraw the case.

Tilak then turned his attention to the main offender at
London. The Globe was served with a notice which it had
scornfully thrown into the wastepaper basket. Tilak therefore
engaged a London solicitor and lodged a suit against the Globe
for defamation. Money was advanced from the Tilak Defence
Fund, and it was agreed that if the case was decided in his
favour, Tilak should pay back the money to the Fund. Later
in March 1900, Tilak’s solicitor advised him to engage an
eminent lawyer and gave Tilak an idea of the enormous cost
he would have to bear. The suit was filed in June 1900, Tilak
being required to deposit £100 as security. The Globe sought
here, there and everywhere for information to support its
defamatory statements, but could not get a scrap of paper. So
it finally surrendered, and although Tilak was authorised to
dictate the apology, he left it to his solicitor, and the apology
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was published in the Globe at a prominent place in lts issue of
the 24th November 1900.

The news that Tilak had brought a British pubhsher to his
knees was welcomed in Indian circles with great rclief. Mr.
Justice Ranade expressed his appreciation of Tilak’s unswerving
determination in bringing any work he undertook to an end,
overcoming difficulties and dangers! Ranade had high regard
for Tilak’s courage and ability and so he pulled up an obdurate
Moderate at the annual meeting of the Marathi Grantha
Sangrahalaya, Bombay. The institution had mentioned in its
report the visit of Tilak which he had paid to it after his release
from jail. Every party has its black sheep. This Modcrate
black sheep asked Ranade whether it was proper to take note
of the visit of a man who was convicted of sedition. Ranade
silenced him by stating that it was a literary institution, and it
did the proper thing in honouring Tilak as a great litterateur.

At this juncture Tilak wanted to contest the election to the
Legislative Council. He, however, gave up the idea when he
found that a number of his supporters had committed themselves
to help Gokhale who had already announced his candidature
and sent in his nomination. Had Tilak entered the election
arena, Maharashtra would have witnessed a grand spectacle of
a fight which would have been remembecred for many years to
come ! Gokhale was, thercfore, elected and his return to politics
after almost two ycars of dismal silence was welcomed by the
Province. '

In the last week of December 1899, Tilak’s friends the Natu
brothers were released unconditionally. Tilak expressed joy
over their release and said that Poona was now free from the
eclipse which had begun in June 1897, and using an astrological
phrase he added that the evil period of Saturn had at long last
come to an end !

I

This year the Congress met at Lucknow. Tilak, Ranade,
Gokhale and other leaders travelled by the same train to Luck-
now. Tilak was going to North India for the first time after
his relcase. His dcfiant and dignified conduct in the Court and
his sacrifices and sufferings in prison had made him the first
political hero of modern India. At Bina Station a vast crowd
had assembled to accord him an ovation. Amongst them a
European Police Inspector with a batch of police was strolling
on the platform. When the train steamed into the station, the
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European Inspector, to the surprise of the travellers, inquired
of the passengers about Tilak, and going to Tilak’s compartment,
said that he had come to pay his respects. Tilak thanked him for
his good wishes and said to his colleagues that Europcans could
appreciate good qualities and patriotism and that they were
admirers of real patriotism.

At Lucknow R. C. Dutt presided over the Congress and
declared that there was no better way of creating sedition than
by suppressing free discussions, newspapers and meetings. Stating
that the cause of the famine was heavy assessment, he further
observed that Indians were virtually foreigners in their own
land. Miss Garland, a delegate sent by the British Congress
Committee, urged that the military forces in India were un-
necessarily large so far as India was concerned. She declared
that because India was made a convenient military base for
Imperial purposes, England should bear part of the cost.

The Moderates were afraid of publicly associating with Tilak
because he had been convicted of sedition. One of the Moder-
ate leaders told Swami Shraddhanand during the session that
Tilak was a great intellect, but he was horrified by his terrible
ambition! So Tilak was not given a scat on the platform.
When he entered the pandal the delegates loudly applauded
him, and Tilak took his seat among the Maharashtrian dele-
gates. It was at this time that Swami Shraddhanand made his
acquaintance with him and had a talk with him on the Vedas
which was the subject of their common interest.

At the Subjects Committee Tilak and Gokhale had a passage-
at-arms, Tilak chuckling at Gokhale’s discomfiture and his
irritable temper! The intervention of Surcndranath stopped
further fighting. But there came up the question of passing
a resolution condemning Lord Sandhurst for his mal-adminis-
tration. R. C. Dutt, Mudholkar and the other elderly leaders
were disturbed at the idea of colliding with the Government.
They said the question rclated to a provincial administration,
and so it should not be dealt with on an all-India plane and
platform. Tilak silenced them by citing similar questions of
provincial importance dealt with by the Congress. The debate
began to raise dust and create uneasiness when Tilak quoted
chapter and verse to prove his point. Tilak pressed his point
and was almost within reach of victory when the President of
the Congress R. C. Dutt threatened to resign if Tilak persisted
"in his resolve to get that resolution passed by the Congress.
When matters came to such a pass Tilak withdrew his proposi-
tion for the sake of compromise. :
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A man of iron will, Tilak had a most supple intellect, and
at critical moments he himself showed a wonderful elasticity in
toning down the pitch of his stand or demands. There was
another occasion when Tilak might have ignited a spark. R. C.
Dutt moved a resolution from the chair in the Subjects
Committee, urging the appointment of Indians to the Executive
Council. The resolution was considered to be too radical and
it was withdrawn. The elderly leaders, however, were surprised
that even Tilak did not press for it !

After the Lucknow Congress Tilak proceeded to Calcutta to
board a stcamer which was commissioned by Tilak’s friend
Chhatre to transport his circus to Rangoon. Tilak had a desire
to study the political and social conditions of Burma. But
beforc he left Calcutta for Rangoon he wrote to Kelkar asking
him to make arrangements to send regular news from Maha-
rashtra to Motilal Ghosh for the Amvrit Bazar Patrika, to enable
him to compete with the Bengalee which was to be turned into
a daily about that time. He need not add, he obscrved, that
it was their duty to back up “ Motibabu ”. A friend in need
is a friend indeed. It may be noted that the editor of Bengalee
was Surendranath Banerjee.

Therc was another issue on which a storm was gathering. It
was the Sandhurst Memorial agitation which he was going to
opposc. Tilak wrote to his lieutenant Kclkar from Calcutta
that from the talk he had with Pherozeshah Mchta he was
convinced that Mehta must have given his consent half-
hcartedly to put up his name as Secretary in conncction with
the Sandhurst Memorial, although Mehta now denied it. Mchta
was not for holding the Provincial Conference in February,
because he feared that it might be presumed that the Confer-
ence was held for expressing disapprobation of Sandhurst’s work.
Tilak further wrote to Kelkar that they both knew well the
spirit of Mchta and the degree to which he could raise his
opposition to Government.

Tilak also observed that Mehta was not a man of independent
spirit as he appeared, and the Bombay lion expressed his fear-
Iessness and independent view whenever it was convenient for
him to do so or was not harmful to him. He, therefore, asked
Kelkar to denounce Mehta in the Kesar: and Mahratta [or his
vacillating attitude, but asked him to add without fail that
Mehta’s name might have appeared in that connection without
his permission. He himself wrote a series of articles on Lord
Sandhurst’s regime, which were published in the Kesari in his
absence from Poona. Therein he observed that the alarm
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raised by the bureaucracy that there were seditious activities
was false. What the people demanded was that the Govern-
ment should be run in the interests of the people. He expressed
a hope that an inefficient administrator like Lord Sandhurst
would never be appointed. He, however, added that Sandhurst
was a man of rank and birth, and as a private individual he
was gentle and hospitable.

From Calcutta the party rcached Rangoon about January 29,
1900. While on board the ship Tilak and Wasukaka Joshi
cooked their own food in the steamer. Tilak always preferred
boiled rice to other edibles. Open air schools conducted by
yellow-robed Buddhist monks under trees, the lcading part
played by Burmese women in their houschold affairs, their
magnanimity and munificence, and the cconomic hold of the
Chetties from the Madras Province upon Burmese life, were in
those days the special features of Burma. The Chetties were a
rich community, and they had built temples in Burma. It was
a pleasant surprisc to Tilak that they conducted a Veda Shala
where Tilak heard all the four Vedas being recited! Tilak’s
colleague-cum-secretary Joshi saw the Private Minister of Theba,
the banished king. There they saw no signs of any revolt or
revolution. Tilak spent some time in Mandalay.

Tilak’s visit to Rangoon and Mandalay was invigorating and
was very significant from the point of view of an editor. In
his tour he noted with curiosity that Burma did not observe
caste division, there was freedom of religion, women were
educated, marriages took place at a late age, and divorce and
widow-marriage were allowed. He said that in spite of these
social reforms, which the Indian social reformers harped upon
in season and out and preached that they constituted a condi-
tion precedent for the introduction of political reforms in India,
there was a feeling of mutual hatred among the Burmese and
absence of self-respect, and the result was disunion that led to
the destruction of Theba'’s kingdom. He therefore drew an
inevitable conclusion, which, he said, supported his stand in
Indian politics in reference to social reforms: that political or
national progress was not dependent on social reforms, and
that they might even conflict. 1t was his confirmed view that
the qualities required for national uplift were quite different
from and independent of those required for social reforms.
They were love of one’s country, unity in working out national
salvation by sinking petty differences, an urge for acquiring
even in foreign countries knowledge required for national
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industry and development, and zeal for preserving national
character.

Thus Tilak added the examples of casteless Ceylon and Burma
to the one of Ireland which he had been often citing since 1896
in support of his pet theory that political progress was not
dependent on social reforms.

Tilak and Joshi returned to Calcutta about February 12.
Tilak wrote to Kelkar from Calcutta that he was not satisfied
with the mild attack in the Kesari on Mchta, since it did not
ruthlessly expose Mchta and those who had been connected with
the Sandhurst Memorial. On his way back to Poona Tilak
made a speech at Jubbulpore in which he reiterated his views on
social reforms, citing the example of Burma in support of his
theory that political progress had nothing to do with social
reforms !

v

In the last week of February 1900 Tilak gave an impetus to
the historical celebration which was going to be held in honour
of Nana Fadnavis, the great Mahratta statesman, whose
intellectual excellence is held in high esteem by history. Tilak
sent his nephew with an imposing picture of Nana Fadnavis
and his written address which was to be read on the occasion
at Velas in the Konkan. He had a certain weakness for histori-
cal monuments and historic families, and whenever he came
into contact with things connccted with either, his heart was
overjoyed, and his head bowed with reverence. In April the
Shivaji celebration was held at Raigad amidst great rejoicings.
Tilak's presence at the Fort galvanised the neighbouring
villages. Of course, Government officers were present to watch
over the programme and proceedings. The enthusiasm of the
people was so great that at a neighbouring village Tilak and
his party took their dinner at three o'dock at dawn because
they could not reach the place in time.

It was at this time that the Bombay Provincial Conference
was due to be held at Satara. Since the last five years the
Conference had not been held. All leaders knew that the
question of the Sandhurst regime and memorial would be the
bone of contention. Tilak wanted to frustrate the attempts
of Sandhurst’s admirers and lackeys at raising a memorial to
Lord Sandhurst, and therefore opened an attack by writing an
editorial in the Kesari of the 1st May 1900. He declared that
it was high time that they should boldly name the evil plancts
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‘that had influenced the Bombay Province during the last four
years. The notion that an evil planet assumed a more destruc-
tive power, because it was called an evil planet, was erroneous.

On May 12 both the Parties, supporters and opponents of
the Sandhurst Memorial, entered the arena of the Conference
at Satara. The local leaders had sensed the danger to the

Conference. At the instance of Pherozeshah Mehta Mr. Gokul-
das Parekh was chosen to preside over the Conference. He
was a reputed lawyer, and he made good what he lacked as a
public speaker by his seniority at the Bar and modecration in his
views. The question of denouncing the administration ol Lord
Sandhurst came up before the Subjects Committee. Tilak
wanted to move that “ this Conference desires to place on record
its deep sense of regret that during the last few years, the Gov-
crnment of Bombay should have been pleased to adopt a retro-
grade policy of repression and distrust, as evidenced by the press
prosecutions, arrests and imprisonments of persons without
trial, widening the powers of the Police . . . and it carnestly
prays for a speedy return to the policy of progress which had
characterised the best traditions of British Rule in India.”

This proposition took away the breath of most of the Moder-
ates and there were heated discussions between different groups.

The President, true to his party’s characteristic, took great
precaution against oﬂ’cndmg Government, and he held out a
threat that he would resign if a resolution of that kind was
passed. So the matter was given up for the day. The whole
night the issue was being discussed at different camps. On the
next day a requisition signed by 124 out of 175 delegates was
handed over to the President requesting him to move the reso-
lution criticising the Sandhurst administration. There was
again consternation, and the President finally reconciled himsclf
to the requisitionists by agreeing to record the view of the major-
ity in the proceedings of the Conference. Tilak was making
a vigorous attempt to change the tone and philosophy of the
Provincial Conference, which was in fact the annual session of
the Provincial Congress. His attempt at Lucknow to electrify
the Congress into action and make it echo the feeclings and

' grievances of the people had failed. He wanted the Congress
leaders to show a little more courage, but so far the result was
not satisfactory although it now became evident that Tilak
would drive them to the deed some day. Both sides became
now very conscious of this. It was the first sign of an open

-split |

At this time Mr. Justice Ranade read a paper entitled
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‘Introduction to the Peshwa's Diaries’ before the Bombay
Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society. Dealing with the caste
ascendancy in the course of that paper, he observed that the
first half of the seventcenth century was singularly free from
racial and caste jealousies; and the infusion of the racial and
caste element among the military leaders of the nation was the
most distinguishing mark of the latter half of the century. It
was during this latter half of that century that the great com-
manders who acquired fame and territory were, almost
exclusively, Brahmins, while most of the great military com-
manders in the earlier period were Marathas. During the
latter half of the eightcenth century Brahmins regarded them-
selves as a governing caste with special privileges and exemption
from the extreme penalty of law which were unknown under
the system founded by Shivaji. Remarking that these features
introduced demoralisation, Ranade concluded his observations
on the caste ascendancy saying that in the hands of Bajirao 11,
the state ceased to be the protector of all classes and upholder
of equal justice.

Tilak held decided views on the caste system. He had becen
expressing those views on occasions. He had read a paper
before the Industrial Conference in 1892 under the title ‘ The
Hindu caste from an industrial point of view.” Therein he
observed that *“caste must therefore be regarded as a secular
and social organisation amongst the members of the Aryan race,
for the preservation of hereditary occupations, and for the
purpose of mutual help and co-opcration,” ! and opined that the
Hindus could utilise the already existing institution of caste to
improve the moral and material conditions of the working
classes.

Criticizing Ranade’s views, Tilak put forth his stock arguments
and observed that Ranade’s opinion that the fall of the
Mabhrattas was caused by the infusion of caste jealousies which
led to disunion was not historically true. Had Ranade cast a
look at the history of the downfall of the Moguls, Tilak
observed, he could have realised that the Mogul Raj did not
go to pieces becausc there was caste rivalry, but because of the
selfish ambition of the Mogul Sirdars to become independent
rulers.

According to Tilak the downfall of the Marathas was not
caused so much by the infusion of caste prejudices as by a lack
of a dominating statesman who could hold all forces under

Y A. V. Kulkarni: The Last Eight Years of Lokamanya Tilak, p. 194
(Marathi),
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control and make them work in harmony. What most of those
leaders lacked was the quality of serving the country’s cause
selflessly and of preferring it to self-interest. From all the
arguments he put forward in indirect defence of the caste sys-
tem, it seems he took the view that social justice and social
equality would never by themselves contribute to national unity
and solidarity.

In August of the same year Tilak expressed his views on
Hinduism in one of his speceches in Poona during the Ganapati
festival and defined Hinduism as *“faith in the Vedas, variety
in the means and infiniteness of the objects of worship.” 1
Religion in the true sense of the word, defined Tilak, meant
and included the knowledge of all nature of God and soul and
of the ways and means by which the human soul could attain
salvation. However, his definition of Hinduism is based on the
consistent and positive and matter-of-fact outlook. The
Hinduism of his conception excluded its tributaries like Jainism
and Buddhism. The other point worth mentioning about
Tilak’s definition was that while it desired every Hindu to have
faith in the Vedas, seventy per cent of the Hindus had no right
to study and know the Vedas the authority of which they were
expected to accept or to have social customs and laws ordained
by that authority. It was meaningless to say that the people
should have faith in the Vedas which they had no right to listen
to, much less to study.

A little later Tilak thercfore supported the rights of the
Brahmins who refused to perform worship with Vedic hymns
at the palaces of the Maharaja of Baroda and the Maharaja of
Kolhapur because, he said, the Brahmin pricsts followed the
commands of their religion. And according to that religion
the non-Brahmins were not entitled to the right of performing
their religious rites with Vedic hymns! Not only that, but he
defended their action and asserted once again his view that it
was improper on the part of Marathas to insist on the perform-
ance of their religious rites with Vedic hymns. Neither would
such an attitude benefit them, he added, nor would it redound
to their credit, nor would it be beneficial in any way to the
nation. Even though the Marathas performed their religious
rites with mantras direct from the Vedas they would not be
one with the Brahmins; they would remain Marathas. He tried
to impress on the Marathas that their position in society was
due to their prowess and not to a particular form of worship.

1 Pt. Laxmanshastri Joshi: A Critique of Hinduism, p. 86 (translated by
G. D. Parikh).
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This ungenerous view fomented discontent and for years it
polluted the political and social atmosphere in Maharashtra, so
much so that some go so far as to attribute to this narrow
attitude the terrible atrocities and arson which were venomous-
ly inflicted in 1948 on the Brahmin community in Maharashtra.l

When 8. K. Bole, then one of the topmost non-Brahmin
leaders, saw Tilak at Poona in connection with the article which
propagated the foregoing view, Tilak told him that its author
was one of his lieutenants. This evasive stand was unlike the
bold stand Tilak took in Law Courts in respect of his political
convictions. It was unfortunate that a first-rate leader of the
people should come to propagate this narrow view, but it was
a fact. It was not a question of a song herc or a hymn there.
It was a fundamental question embodying the principles of
liberty, equality and fraternity; in fact, social equality, justice
and democracy! He appreciated the translation of the Vedas
by Max Miiller, but never supported unequivocally the right
of the majority of the Hindus to rcad or to study the I'edas!

It may be mentioned here that Shivaji too had similarly to face
Brahmin opposition in his times. When alter his accession to
the throne Shivaji began to learn and recite Vedic mantras, the
Brahmins, who were offended by this conduct of Shivaji, boy-
cotted Gaga Bhatt, the Brahmin preceptor who had performed
Shivaji’s coronation ceremony with Vedic hymns. Shivaji re-
acted to this boycott severely. He declared that although the
Brahmins as religious preceptors were worthy of homage, their
employment in Government service unconnected with priestly
functions was also against the religious tenets. So he removed
all Brahmins from Government service.2 The recital of Vedic
hymns by Shivaji, the protector of Hinduism and saviour of
Hindustan, was heretical to the Brahmins! The policy of Tilak
in this respect was not different from that of the Brahmins of
Shivaji’s times.

v

During this ycar Tilak expressed his views on cow-slaughter
and the conversions of Hindus carried on by missionaries. He
said the Hindus desired and would welcome total cessation of
cow-slaughter in Hindustan, but at the same time they would
not prevent the Muslims and Britishers from performing cow-
slaughter in conformity with their religions provided they did

1 Shree Swami Kevalanand Abhinandan Grantha, p. 65.
2 G. S. Sardesai: Marathi Riyasat, p. 494.
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so without being noticed by the Hindus. The Hindus held that
everyone should follow his or her religion without offending
others. As regards the conversion activities of the missionaries
during the famine of that year he grieved at the loss of 25,000
children to Hindu society, and pointing to this calamity he
warned the Hindus that if they did not take measures to put
an end to it they would have to face annihilation. He also
supported and gave a fillip to iwo other new activities. The
first was about the starting of a Fund called ‘Paisa Fund’ a
pice fund for starting national industries. Mr. Antaji Damodar
Kale was the originator of the idea. The other activity he sup-
ported was the preparation of a scientific almanac. His profound
knowledge of ancient Hindu Philosophy, History, Astronomy
and Mathcmatics had been a source of help to many in those
fields. He held in high esteem all those intelligent persons
who had made some sort of contribution to the greatness
and glory of India. Due to this frame of mind he paid, although
there was no love lost between the two Poona groups, a courtesy
call on R. P. Paranjpye, who had by his intellectual feats-
captured the imagination of Indian youth and given a rude:
shock to Britain’s academic world that had so far believed that
Indian students shone only where things and facts required
memorisation. When Paranjpye addressed the Graduates’
Association at Bombay, on the ‘ History of Mathematics’, Tilak
the scholar and mathematician was called on to speak at the
end, and all were deeply impressed with the profundity and
readiness of his scholarship. After this speech, Mr. Tilak him-
self addressed the Association on ‘ Relation between the Vedas
and Assyrian Mythology!” His audience was surprised at his
knack of making a difficult subject simple. The facility,
originality, and depth cvoked their great appreciation.

It was this frame of mind that kept him musing over any
missing link in his research in spite of the multifarious duties
he had to perform. Often he used to discuss a new or difficult
point in his research with Shastris whenever he came across
them. Once absorbed in such a discussion he forgot home or
work. Once he had been to attend a meeting. Everyone and
even his colleagues went home, but Tilak could not get home till
after midnight. The members of the family ran here and there
in search of him. At last he was found at a street corner hotly
and loudly discussing with a Shastri a point from his proposed
book on the antiquity of the Vedas. The Shastri had come out
in search of a midwife as his daughter-in-law was undergomg
labour pains!
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Tilak’s sublime love for true seekersafter-knowledge mani-
fested itself when Friedrich Max Miiller, the great authority
on the sacred books of the East, died on October 28, 1900, at
Oxford. Imbued with the true spirit of a research scholar,
Tilak wrote a memorable obituary note on the death of the
author of What can India teach wus. Learning commands
respect in every country, but a scholar estimating the greatness
of a scholar heightened the effect of the tributes to the memory
of one who had revealed to the world the greatness of Indian
literature. Tilak said he had described Max Miiller as a
Professor, because the honours and degrees conferred on him
sprang from his grcat scholarship. This shows why Tilak was
sometimes tickled when somebody called him a Pandit or a
Professor. To him the greatest honour and divine happiness
constituted in digging out knowledge and passing it on to
posterity.

In December Tilak went to Latur and obtained first-hand
information about the working and management of the ginning
factory of which he was one of the proprictors. This could not
be so profitable a concern as to be a source of income to Tilak,
for it was for a long time encumbered with debts. He then left
for the Lahore Congress.

The Congress met at the Bradlaugh Hall in Lahore. Tilak
was not happy over the clection of N. V. Chandavarkar as the
President of the Congress. He had no high opinion of
Chandavarkar. He had criticized him in the Kesari when the
latter in the course of his tour in Britain, which he had under-
taken on behalf of the Bombay Presidency Association in the
latter part of 1885, had made some observations which Tilak
did not like. In September 1900 he had attacked Chandavarkar,
and expressed his disapproval of his clection. Chandavarkar
was just then appointed a Judge of the Bombay High Court,
and it was the opinion of his opponents that he had not shown
enthusiasm for the Congress during the last ten years. In those
days the influence of a man with Government rather than his
zeal for the public good generally brought him the President-
ship of the Congress. '

In the Congress Tilak supported a resolution moved by Mr.
G. Subramania Iyer asking for an inquiry into the economic
condition of India, with a view to discovering and adopting
remedies for the oft-recurring famines. Tilak said that some
blamed the ryot for his poverty, but the ryot was much the
same as he had long been. “But if you take away the produce
of the land and do not give it back to the land in some form
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more material than prestige and advice,” he added, “the
country must grow poorer and poorer.” In his recollection
Lajpatrai tells us that “the leaders of the Congress did not
like Tilak very much, but the people held him above everyone
else.” To the student world he was a beacon-light. The
students presented him with an address. It was at this Congress
session that B. C. Pal, Tilak’s future colleague from Bengal, saw
Tilak after the Congress. Tilak spoke at a public meeting on
the antiquity of the Vedas. Lajpatrai invited him to his house
to dine with him and to meet a few friends there. Lajpatrai
inquired of him whether he would take food cooked by his
wife or whether it was necessary for him to have it prepared
by a particular caste of Brahmin, for Lajpatrai observed : “he
(Tilak) was an orthodox revivalist. I was a social reformer.
He was a pucca Sanatanist.” Tilak, however, dined with Lala
Lajpatrai. He formed an everlasting friendship with the great
champion in Lajpatrai, and it is history how their common
political principles and almost common political ideals with a
deep-rooted distrust in forcign rule and disbelief in foreign help,
lack of faith in empty promises and pledges of the British
statesmen, drove the Congress to active agitation. Another
leader of note who came over to Tilak’s views in this Congress
was Vijayaraghavachariar.

A fortnight after the Lahore Congress, Ranade, who had
patiently plodded on and piloted for the last thirty years the
rising destinies of the land, breathed his last. He had just
proceeded on leave for six months and in his leave vacancy
Mr. Chandavarkar was appointed a judge of the High Court.
By his intellectual and moral grandeur, his divine restlessness
and universal mind Ranade towered above his contemporaries,
and so he was characterised by his contemporaries as a Socrates,
a Great God or an Erasmus.

He was a religious man, but he deemed it his religious duty
to work in all directions of public usefulness. He did not iso-
late himself from humanity and made his own personal or indi-
vidual spiritual development the ideal of his life. Meeting
after mecting mourned the death of this prophet of new India
in every town all over India declaring that Ranade was pre-
eminently the best man of his time, was an embodiment of all
the best and truest, and deserved to be included in the rosary
of great and good saints.

When Tilak heard the news of Ranade’s death he was greatly
grieved. He became reminiscent and said, “ I felt more grieved
over Agarkar’s death. That is due to close companionship. At
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that time tears streamed down for two days and I was rather
distressed.”

A great obituarist, Tilak, too, wrote a very thought-provoking
obituary worthy of his pen. Forgetting the bitter controversies
he had with Ranade from political nccessity, Tilak, on
retrospection, judged of the unique career and character of
Ranade on a high plane and laid special stress on the role
Ranade played in the regeneration of India in general and
Maharashtra in particular. Tilak described him as the first
regenerator of Maharashtra during the British Rule over Maha-
rashtra which had grown morally, politically and spiritually
lethargic, and comparing him with Madhavacharya, who was the
preceptor of the Vijayanagar kings, he observed that Ranade
was omniscient indeed !



CHAPTER XI

THE FIERY ORDEAL

1

HE jail hardships had their repercussions on Tilak’s life.

Besides he suffered from hernia for which he had twice
undergone minor operations. As a result of this ailment he
fell ill in March 1901 for about two wecks; his temperature
rose to 103°. During this illness his assistant editor Kelkar
chanced to reler to some points raised in a technical speech by
a European regarding plague. Kelkar, who was known for his
balanced views, must have expressed concurrence with the views
of the European. This enkindled the fire in Tilak and he
stormed at Kelkar ; it was feared that his fever would relapse.

On the whole Tilak had no doubt a little respite for these two
years. He utilized his leisure in ascertaining some points in
connection with his proposed book The Arctic Home in the
Vedas. He was perusing books on geology and holy works on
other religions. He was in correspondence on this subject with
Max Miiller whom he wanted to convince of the new points in
his rescarch. Max Miiller had worked all his life on a different
line; so he would not casily accept Tilak's view and opined that
the interpretation of the Vedic passages proposed by him were
probable, yet his theory appeared to be in conflict with the
established geological facts. Tilak politely wrote in reply that
he had examined the question from that point of view also, and
he expected soon to place before him the whole evidence in
support of his view. But in the meantime the great authority
on the sacred books of the East passed away. Tilak had discussed
this question with many scholars in Madras, Calcutta, Lahore,
Banaras and other places, during his travel in different parts of
India. He had called for a copy of Dr. Warren’s book Paradise
Found from America and learnt German with the help of
Whitker's Modern Method of Learning German.

During the early part of 1901 he had completed some chapters
of this book. After his illness in March 1901 he wrote a few
‘articles. Writing on Curzon, he said that out of his twelve
problems Curzon did only those which helped to fix India, the
diamond, in the iron frame of the British Empire—such as the

12
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problem of the North-West Frontier, introduction of the gold
coin, and expansion of the railways; but he neglected all the
vital issues concerning the welfare of the pcasants, the common
man, indigenous industry and others. Another important
article pointed out the danger from the missionary propaganda.
The Archbishop of Bombay then in London declared at a
meeting that the Hindus and Muslims werce in favour of
Christianity, and that if they desired to develop into a nation
they needed only one thing and that was the acceptance of
Christianity. Tilak rciterated the principles of nationality such
as religion, language, love of onc’s country, and added that
common interest was the most vital factor in the formation of
a nation. The view that the Hindus and Muslims were now
eager to reccive baptism, he concluded, could be held and
propagated only by those who depended for their livelihood on
prosclytism or by those who regarded it as a means of expand-
ing the Empire. Hc then went to Sinhgad to have a respite
where he completed the work in May and June upto the
thirtcenth chapter. He could neither finish the book, nor have
a longer respite as Mr. G. S. Khaparde came to Sinhgad with
a problem that needed an urgent solution.

That problem was the execution of the will of Baba Maharaj
who had appointed Tilak, Khaparde, Kirtikar, Kumbhojkar and
Nagpurkar as his trustees and exccutors. Kirtikar refused to
act as a trustee, and the last two were already in the service of
Baba Mabharaj.

Baba Maharaj died on August 7, 1897. After a few days
Tilak was put in jail for sedition in Scptember 1897 for 18
months.

Mrs. Sakavarbai, the widow of Baba Maharaj, was known as
Tai Maharaj. At the time of his death she was enceinte and
gave birth to a son in January 1898 ; but he died in March 1898.

The will directed that—

‘My wife is pregnant. If she does not give birth to a son
or if the son after birth is short-lived, then, for the purpose
of continuing the name of my family, with the Vichar of the
trustees a boy should be given, as often as may be nccessary,
in adoption, on the lap of my wife, in accordance with the
Shastras and the panch should, on behalf of that son, carry
on the management of the immovable and movable estates
till he attains majority.’

While Tilak was in jail, he was consulted about the estate
affairs, and in January 1898 Dadasaheb Khaparde received the
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probate for the trustces. He made inventories and arranged
about other details.

On his rclease Tilak attended the trustees’ meeting first in
October 1898 and again in May 1899. Nothing important took
place in 1900. In the last weck of May 1901 a meeting of the
trustees was held at Sinhgad, and as the estate was encumbered
with cnormous debts curtailment of expenditure was thought
to be the only way out. This was of course an insulting and
detestable idea to the young widow, who fancied herself to be
the equitable owner of the estate; and her prejudices were
fanned by the hangers-on or servile flatterers who had crept into
her confidence by whispering agreeable words. In June 1901
the trustees recorded a resolution that Bala Maharaj of Kolha-
pur was too old, and nonc of the other boys on the list was
approved and that Messrs. Tilak and Khaparde accompanied
by Tai Maharaj should go to Aurangabad in the Hyderabad
State to make cnquirics as o boys of the Babra branch at
Nidhone, and dispose of the matter.

So the party started on June 19, 1901, for Aurangabad and
put up therc at a Sikh Mandir. Tilak and Khaparde brought
boys from Nidhone, a village in the neighbourhood of Auranga-
bad. A boy was selected. The horoscope and the wishes of Tai
Maharaj concurred with the testator’s wishes and directions.
Thereupon, on June 27, a meeting of the Shastris and of other
persons in Aurangabad was summoned. At that mceting it was
announced by the trustees to the assembled guests that the boy
Jagannath was selected for adoption. The father of the boy
was taken to the widow. She asked him to give his son in
adoption and he agreed. This fact was announced at the
mecting, duplicate deeds of adoption were drawn up, and a
letter from the widow addressed to the boy’s father informing
him about his son’s adoption was prepared.

Next morning, before a gathering, the deeds ol adoption and
the letter were duly executed; the boy was received by the
adoptive mother on her lap in performance of the requisite
essential rites of adoption. This being done, it was decided
that the formal ceremonies and festivals would be performed
in Poona. On the arrival of the Party in Poona, Tilak made Tai
Maharaj inform Mr. Aston, the British Agent to. the Sardars in
the Deccan States, about the adoption.

But things were taking a turn. A coterie of scheming persons
incited Nagpurkar who had on his own part sought adoption of
his son. He joined the machinations of those men whom he
formerly had described as unscrupulous. The first thing he did
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to that end was to insert a minute of dissent to the Poona
resolution under which the adoption at Aurangabad was done.
The records were in his possession. Having done this, he won
over the widow to his side as she was displeased with the
trustees’ strict management of all her affairs. At this juncture
Pandit Maharaj, who was striving for his brother Bala Maharaj
being adopted by Tai Maharaj, joined hands with thesc men.
Nevertheless they knew that the combined strength of their
evil influences was not sufficient to pull down Tilak. So they
invoked the burcaucracy to help them in their designs in ruining
Tilak who was their common enemy.

These scheming men induced the young widow to sce
Mr. H. F. Aston who was both the Government Agent to the
Sardars of the Deccan and District Judge of Poona. The widow
saw him privately at his bungalow and sought his protection
against the tyranny of Tilak whose name was a red rag to Aston
and the bureaucracy. He thought that it was a golden oppor-
tunity to remove Tilak, the enemy of the Government, from the
field by defaming him in the eyes of the public and making a
Parnell out of him.

Tilak discovered the plot against the Aurangabad adoption
and reported Nagpurkar to the trustees. On advice from the
circles mentioned above, the widow served the trustees with a
notice informing them not to interfere in the management of
the estate, and wrote to the Kolhapur Darbar for sanction to the
adoption of Bala Maharaj. Tilak sent a telegram and a letter
to the Dewan of Kolhapur, requesting him to postpone granting
permission for adoption in the Tai Maharaj case till he received
his letter as trustce. He mentioned in his letter that giving
and acceptance of a son by Tai Maharaj had been completed
by a registered deed at Aurangabad with the trustees’ consent,
and added that Tai Maharaj had no power to adopt.

Notwithstanding Tilak’s appeal, the permission from the
Kolhapur Darbar came telegraphically. Tai Maharaj decided
now to take in adoption Bala Maharaj, the brother of Pandit
Maharaj, on July 13, in spite of the opposition of Tilak and
other trustees. The family of Pandit Maharaj and his guests-
cum-gymnasts who had obviously come to effect the adoption
under any circumstances, took their lodgings at the big
bungalow of Tai Maharaj who was hersell living in one part
of the bungalow. Tilak came to know about this move, and
so he filed a suit in the court of the First Class Sub-judge of
Poona for a perpetual injunction to restrain Tai Maharaj from
adopting Bala Maharaj and also asked for a temporary injunc-
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tion which was granted. He, too, addressed a letter to Aston
for an interview, and informed him that the giving and receiv-
ing in adoption of such a boy had already been effected with
the full consent of Tai Maharaj at Aurangabad.

Tilak was determined to frustrate the plans of Tai Maharaj,
and so in the small hours of July 13, 1901, he went with his
men and occupied the third part of the bungalow. Now the
two camps faced each other. At first Tilak tried the art of
persuasion. He calmly requested Tai Maharaj to postpone the
adoption ceremony till the arrival of Dadasaheb Khaparde and
Kumbhojkar. This unexpected seeming softness on the part
of Tilak inveigled the vain lady into believing that Tilak had
given up his opposition. Khaparde arrived in Poona on the
15th of July, and a regular fight began! Persuasion had no
eftect upon Tai Maharaj, and she gave orders to proceed with
the preparations for the adoption of Bala Maharaj which was
to take place on July 16. The trustees served a notice on the
Kolhapur guests asking them to quit the place at once. Near
midnight on July 15, Tilak with his men entered the compound
of the bungalow, locked the gate, kept his own watchman who
allowed only Tilak’s men like Kelkar, Shivarampant Paranjape
editor of the Kal, Balasaheb Natu and others to enter the
compound. At dawn Tilak’s men surrounded Tai Maharaj’s
apartment to prevent the adoption from taking place and
turned out the Kolhapur guests bag and baggage into the
streets.

Pandit Maharaj appealed to the Police but to no effect. He
then laid an information before the City Magistrate, but there
too he failed. The police came and went. Aston visited the place
and returned ! It was so legal an affair!

At last Tai Maharaj, on the advice of her evil-advisers, and
as a result of her interview with Mr. Aston, filed her application
on July 29 for revocation of the probate. She drove away
Tilak’s men from her house. On August 15, Tilak went to
Kolhapur to persuade the Kolhapur Darbar not to sanction the
adoption of Bala Maharaj. Shahu Maharaj gave a hearing to
Tilak, but did not commit himself to any view. During his
short stay at Kolhapur Tilak was honoured at the Sanskrit
Pathashala. He went to Miraj and on being informed that the
adoption ceremony was to take place on the 18th August,
returned to Kolhapur. Just a few hours before the adoption he
saw Shahu Maharaj and made a final appeal to him. But the
appeal fell flat. Tilak was shrewdly kept engaged in a long talk
by Shahu Maharaj till the adoption ceremony was over. Tai
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Maharaj, who had already reached Kolhapur, thus formally
adopted Bala Maharaj on August 18, 1901.

I

Meanwhile, all leaders in the province had concentrated their
thoughts on the Bombay Land Revenue Code Amending Bill
which aimed at making certain changes, one of them preventing
the agriculturists from transferring their land. Under the
proposed change land could be heritable but was not transfer-
able. Obviously Government wanted to save the agriculturists
from the clutches of Sowkars and the leaders said that Govern-
ment was establishing State landlordism by reducing the ryots
to a status of short-term tenants. But those were not the days
of a socialistic pattern of socicty. An intense agitation had been
launched against the Bill. Government denounced it as Sowkar's
agitation. Tilak wrote masterly articles and propagated the
view that the Bill was ruinous to both the agriculturists and
the landlords. A meeting in the Town Hall, Bombay, on July
27, attended by seven hundred delegates representing different
institutions voiced their unqualified opposition to the Bill.
Government was determined to carry the Bill through, and
when the sccond reading of the Bill was begun, Pherozeshah
Mehta moved an amendment seeking to postpone the considera-
tion of the Bill with a request that it should be referred to
various officials, associations and individuals. The Amendment
was lost. Thereupon Mehta, Gokhale and three other Members
left the Council Hall in protest, Gokhale explaining that his
departure meant no disrespect to the President of the Council,
the Governor |

The Times of India described this walk-out of the represen-
tatives of the people as a comic scene and dubbed it a risky
experiment for public men to take to histrionics! Had Tilak
been a Member of the Legislative Council he would have
brought a hornets’ nest about his ears! Tilak replied to the
criticism levelled against the representatives of the people by
saying that the autocratic Government should now raise lay-
figures in the Council Hall and put Mehta’s cap on one,
Gokhale’s turban on another and so on, and carry on the work
of the legislature !

Soon in September 1901 the Provincial Conference was held
in Bombay where Tilak supported a resolution moved by
Mr. Parekh on the work of the Famine Commission which had
endorsed the view of the leaders against the famine policy of
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the Bombay Government in the matter of remissions or suspen-
sions of land revenue. He remarked that it was a distinct
triumph of the public over official opinion.

On September 23, 1901, Tilak and the other two trustees filed
a suit in the Court of the First Class Sub-Judge of Poona against
Tai Maharaj, Bala Maharaj and Pandit Maharaj, stating that
the adoption of Jagannath was valid and that of Bala Maharaj
was invalid and that Nagpurkar the fourth trustee had colluded
with Tai Maharaj to get Bala Maharaj adopted.

In his extreme zeal to crush Tilak, Mr. Aston, who had in
1897 sentenced a Satara editor to transportation for life for a
seditious article, allowed an inquiry to be made on points which
were wholly irrelevant to the question under dispute. Instead
of considering whether the grant of Probate to Tilak and others
had become inoperative under the Hindu Law owing to the
birth and dcath of a son to Tai Maharaj, he also allowed the
plaintiff to put in the evidence of the Aurangabad adoption in
spite of Tilak’s challenge and protest to the contrary.

Tilak was put in the witness-box for no less than sixteen days
during the greater part of which he was subjected to a most
rigorous cross-cxamination lasting intermittently from November
16, 1901, to April 3, 1902. Throughout the procecedings Tilak
was dcliberately teased, provoked, insulted, misunderstood and
misrepresented on record by interrupting and twisting his
answers.

Although involved in a serious litigation, Tilak was watchful
and whenever he noticed leaders acting in a manner devoid
of sclf-respect he lashed at them mercilessly. Such an occasion
arosc when Mr. Bennett, editor of the Times of India, was given
a party on the occasion of his retirement by Dr. Sir Bhalchandra
whom Bennett had described as an idiot! Tilak said that
cither the praise bestowed on Bennett was false or Dr. Sir
Bhalchandra was indeed an idiot, otherwise he would not have
praised a man like Bennctt who was a third-rate cditor as
compared with eminent editors in England and who was not a
man of learning, or an orator, or a statesman, or a general.

Tilak went to Calcutta to attend the Calcutta Congress in
December 1901.  When he appeared in the pandal he received
a splendid ovation as a persecuted martyr and a man of the
people. During the session Tilak seconded a resolution that
dealt with education, urging that education should be made
thorough. He also delivered there a speech at a public meeting
on Hinduism.

On this occasion of his visit to Calcutta Tilak and his party
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paid a visit to Vivekananda’s Math at Belur near Calcutta. The
grand imposing building and the surrounding natural scenery
exceedingly impressed them. Swami Vivekananda, the first
Indian to win an international reputation in the modern world,
welcomed Tilak and they had a talk. Swami Vivekananda had
been to Poona in 1892. Tilak had come across the Swamiji
in the train when he was returning from Bombay where he had
been on some private work. Some Gujarati gentlemen intro-
duced Vivekananda to Tilak and requested him to take him to
Poona. Swamiji stayed for a week or so at Tilak’s place in a
separate room. He had a few articles which a Sanyasin kecps
and some sclected books. In those days Tilak and his
colleagues held weekly discussion at a club in Hirabag, Poona,
on a topic on which one of them delivered in English the main
speech. At such a meeting one day when the main spcech was
delivered on a philosophical topic, Swamiji was requested
to offer his views on the subject, and to their surprise, in a
flowing imposing vein, Vivekananda dealt with the subject.
From the next day Poona intellectuals began to pay visits to
Swamiji and discussed with him social, religious and philosophi-
cal topics.

During this visit Vivekananda asked Tilak to take to
Sanyasashram and preach his gospel in Bengal while he would
go to Maharashtra to do the same kind of work. Tilak replied
that he liked to do all things as a man of the world, and as to
the idea of a change of Province he opined that the man who
attained leadership in his own Province was likely to influence
men in other Provinces. Tilak was conscious of the historic
role Swami Vivekananda had played in connection with the
evolution and revelation of Hinduism. When Swamiji departed
this life, Tilak in an obituary observed that there appeared
two great men in India who regarded Hinduism as a glorious
heritage and treasure. They not only undertook to reveal and
expound the rcal message and glory of Hinduism, but also
thought it their sacred duty to prove its abiding greatness and
supremacy in the world. One was Shankaracharya, who played
his role some 1000-1200 years ago; and the other was Swami
Vivekananda, who did it at the close of the nineteenth century !
This was an appraisal of a maker of history by another maker
of history !

Another important visit Tilak paid during this Congress
session was to a lady called Mataji who had started a Girls’
School in Calcutta with a view to rendering some service to the
nation. She was a widow from Tanjore and could speak
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Marathi fluently. She felt in the company of Tilak and his
party like a lady enjoying the company of persons of her father's
place. She revealed a chapter of her mysterious life ; how she
paid a visit in her widowhood to the holy place of Pashupatesh-
war at Khatmandu, how her charming personality happened
to come in view of the Samsherbahadur, King of Nepal, how
she stayed with the royal family and after some time how she
came to Calcutta. She expressed her desire to introduce Tilak
to the King of Nepal and hoped that the contact would result
in the well-being of the nation. Wasukaka and Tilak in fact
took the risk and went by railway as far as Patana where they
were stopped for want of passes. They had a letter of intro-
duction from Lt.-Colonel Kumar Narsinha to the Chief
Minister of Nepal.

Wasukaka and Tilak’s licutenant Khadilkar again got them-
sclves introduced through Mataji to the ruler of the Nepal
and in a mystcrious way Khadilkar started at Khatmandu a
tile-factory for Nepal. Khadilkar was Tilak’s assistant editor
and one of the able wielders of the pen in Maharashtra. The
Chicef Minister was persuaded to send some Nepali young men
to take military training in Japan, and Wasukaka himself went
to Japan. Contacts were established with a German firm at
Calcutta, and a bullet-preparing machine was purchased in
great secrecy. The strain, stress and danger proved too much
for Khadilkar, and he gave up the idea when a man named
Damu Joshi, who had worked with him at Khatmandu, on
being arrested in the Kolhapur Case, disclosed the Nepal affair.
The British Government made inquiries of the Nepal Govern-
ment.  So it closed the chapter at once.

Tilak was involved in the Tai Maharaj case, and he had no
time to concentrate his mind on such plans! But what price
such danger! Later the Nepal students were accorded a
reception at Poona on their arrival from Japan.

On his way back to Poona from Calcutta, Tilak paid a visit
to Nagpur on the invitation of some college students. Their
representatives were Madhav Shrihari Aney and others. Tilak
delivered a speech on Sanskrit literature and Western philo-
sophy at the Rajaram Tulsiram Theatre, where he was presented
with an address on behalf of Nagpur students. The address
cnded with ‘Lead Kindly Light, Lead Thou us on’. It was
at this meeting he gave an outline of the fundamentals of his
future great work, the Gita-Rahasya. At night Tilak’s host
Gopalrao Butti arranged a music programme in honour of his
distinguished guest. When the other people expressed their
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appreciation in nodding or cheering at the proper time, Tilak
sat with his mind absorbed in other things. The Mathematician
showed no interest in Music. On being asked why he was
inattentive, he said he had no taste for worldly music when he
had already heard the Gita, the divine song of the Lord. He
had no desire to drink lemonade when he had already tasted
nectar. Yet it was Tilak who later conferred the title Bal-
gandharva on Narayanrao Rajhansa, the king of actors and
musicians on the Marathi stage.

11

The proceedings in the Tai Maharaj case commenced again
in January 1902. Sensing the hostile attitude of Aston, Tilak
applicd in January 1902 to the High Court for the transfer of Tai
Maharaj's application to some other Court. But Tilak’s
application was rejected.  Well aware of the turn and twist
of Aston’s mind, Tilak did not care to produce evidence. Tilak’s
pleader gave up the fight, but his licutenant Kclkar held on till
the last day, working in conformity with the orders of his
master.

While facing a grim trial Tilak was busy in the carly part of
the year 1902, fixing the new machinery for the Kesari. To
cope with the demands of the people he had to increase its
circulation. Gifted as he was with technical aptitude, he could
fix the ncw machine with the skill of an engincer. Having
thus cquipped himself with men and material, he started the
enlarged edition of the Kesari in the new form in Feburary
1902, devoting much space to varied fields of national develop-
ment, industrial, intellectual, agricultural, religious, social and
political. Thus the Kesari was put on a satisfactory f[ooting
enlarging its circulation as well as its usefulness. Indian
journalism has a noble and sclfless background behind it. It
has been built up by the cfforts of patriotic youth and great
men who, disregarding the rewards of the legal profession or
Government service, devoted their lives to the national awaken-
ing. Newspaper entcrprise in the country had not then
attracted the attention of capitalists and speculators.

On April 3, Aston was to deliver his judgment, and so Tilak
was ordered by the Judge to be present in the Court. Sensible
men read in his accusing glance the decision he was going to
pronounce. He not only revoked the probate and held the
Aurangabad adoption disproved, but also committed Tilak next
day to the City Magistrate to be dealt with according to law.
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The Judge, mad with the spirit of an inquisitionist, described
Tilak as “a fencing, prevaricating, quibbling witness,” with
“distinctly untruthful demeanour.”

Thus April 4, 1902, was the darkest day in Tilak’s life.
Aston’s vindictiveness armed Tilak’s bitter opponents and
deadly enemies with poisonous spears. A man of great learning,
a leader of great influence, and long service, stood before the
world condemned as an unscrupulous character, judicially
denounced as a perjurer. A man of iron will and undying
faith alone could overcome such a calamity! Tilak filed an
application in the High Court against Mr. Aston’s order of
revocation.

The Police Officer, Mr. Brewin, made secret inquiries into
the matter and reported that the charge of forgery would not
stand in the Court, and as the other charges pertained to person-
al affairs. Government should not take action against Tilak.
The High Court considered Tilak’s application against Aston’s
judgment and reversed it. This was a silver lining to the dark
cloud. However, the motion made simultaneously with the
civil appeal for a stay of the criminal proceedings against him
till the decision of the regular adoption suit pending in the
Civil Court was turned down by the High Court. Yet Govern-
ment, bent upon ruining Tilak, sanctioned an initial sum of
no less than thirty thousand rupees and appointed Mr.
Clements Special Magistrate. The City Magistrate transferred
the case to Mr. Clements, and he commenced the trial on
September 15, 1902. The charges formulated against Tilak
were :

(1) Mr. Tilak had made a false complaint for breach of trust
against Mr. Nagpurkar, one of the trustecs.

(2) Mr. Tilak had fabricated false evidence for use by making
alterations and interpolations in the accounts of the
Aurangabad trip.

(3) Forgery in connection with (2).

(4) Mr. Tilak had corruptly used or attempted to use as
genuine evidence known to be false.

(5) Mr. Tilak had corruptly used as genuine the adoption
deed.

(6) Mr. Tilak had fraudulently used as genuine the adoption
deed containing his interpolation over Tai Mabharaj’s
signature.

(7) Mr. Tilak had given false evidence intentionally.

‘The hearing of the charge of perjury began on October 23,
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1902. Tilak made an application to the High Court for stay
of the proceedings in Clements’ Court on the plea that it had
no proper Government sanction. The Court formally cancelled
the proceedings. Tilak again brought a motion in the High
Court for stay of proceedings on the ground of illegal transfer
of the case from the City Magistrate to Clements, but it was
rejected.

At this juncture Nagpurkar was cgged on by Government to
sue Tilak in the Court of the City Magistrate who had decided
the case in favour of Nagpurkar. The Sessions Judge Mr.
Beaman supporting Tilak's stand observed that Nagpurkar was
a salaried servant and agent for the estate and as such a
responsible custodian of the valuable jewellery entruste(l to him.
“It was his clear duty,” added the learned Judge, “to allow
inspection of the ornaments when demanded by a majority
of the trustees, on pain of dismissal, if suspected of dishonesty
and criminal misappropriation.” The High Court also turned
down Nagpurkar's application as Tilak's counsel Branson
appealed to the Judges to take into consideration the character
of Nagpurkar who had written private letters to the Judges of
the Full Bench for an adjournment independently of his
Counsel !

To struggle against a Government that had levelled serious
charges against him and to face them meant a colossal task.
Government had all the resources as its disposal, while Tilak
was lonely fighting Government on all fronts. So he could
not attend the Ahmedabad Congress which was held in
December 1902.

In the midst of such terrible calamities Tilak published his
work The Arctic Home in the Vedas. This was a sequel to
his first book The Orion or Researches into the Antiquities of
the Vedas. Establishing his thcory that the original home
of the Aryan people was in the far North, in regions round-
about the North Pole, he observed : “ We have also seen that
our view is supported by the latest scientific researches, and is
not inconsistent with the results of comparative philology. We
may, therefore, take it as established that the original home
of the Aryan people was in the far North, in regions round-
about the North Pole, and that we have correctly interpreted
the Vedic and the Avestic traditions which had long remained
misunderstood.”

“A primeval Arctic home would have bcen regarded an
impossibility,” he asserted, *“had not science cleared the ground
by establishing that the antiquity of man goes back to the
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Tertiary Era, that the climate of the Polar regions was mild
and temperate in interglacial times and that it was rendered
cold and inclement by the advent of Glacial epoch.”

“It was the advent of the Ice Age,” he continued, “that
destroyed the old climate of the original home and converted
it into an icebound land unfit for the habitation of man. This
is well cxpressed in the Avesta which describes the Airyana
Vaejo as a happy land subsequently converted by the invasion
of Angra Mainyu into a land of severe winter and snow. This
correspondence between the Avestic description of the original
home and the result of the latest geological rescarches, at once
enables us to fix the age of the Arctic home, for it is now a
well-settled scientific fact that a mild climate in the Polar
regions was possible only in the inter-glacial and not in the
post-glacial times.”

Written in a lucid, flowing style, the book supports its facts,
statements and conclusions by quoting a chain of arguments
derived from numecrous sources from Mythology, Geology and
Archacology.

The book won high praise. Expressing its vicws on the work,
the Bengalee said that The Orion and The Arctic Home in
the Vedas “ may be said to have thrown ncw light upon the
antiquity of the Vedas and the real meaning of certain Vedic
texts which had so long baffled the ingenuity of Vedic com-
mentators from Sayana to his modern successors. Reading
those books, one might well exclaim :

‘* Vedas and Vedic laws lay hid in night’
* God said, “ Let Tilak be ” and all was light.””

The most important tribute came from Dr. Warren, the
President of the Boston University, who in his Paradise Found
had anticipated Tilak. He observed: “In the judgment of the
present writer, the array of cvidence sct forth is far more con-
clusive than any ever attempted by an Indo-Iranian Scholar in
the interest of any earlier hypothesis. Absolute candour and
respect for the strictest methods of historic and scientific investi-
gation characterize the discussion throughout.”

The Times of India stated: “We are sure that the book
will be welcomed as a most learned and valuable contribution
to the solution of an extremely fascinating problem. All the
arguments are so well arranged and the exposition of the subject
is so admirably lucid that The Arctic Home in the Vedas may
be read with pleasure and profit by the general reader who has
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little knowledge of astronomy, philology and geology and still,
less of Sanskrit lore.”

Mr. Henry W. Nevinson expressed real appreciation when he
said : “In the midst of direct persecution when money, reputa-
tion, influence and everything were at stake, few men would
have had the courage to spare a thought either for sacred books
or Arctic culture.”

Tilak attended the Provincial Conference which was held at
Dharwar in March 1903 and was presided over by his friend
D. A. Khare. During the conference he worked hard on the
drafting of the main resolutions with regard to the land prob-
lems for which he had examined old reports and records and
had collected data with great pains.

v

Yet Tilak’s mind was not away from the people. He had
written some articles in the Kesari on the poverty of India, on
the greedy expansion of the British Empire and its consequent
crushing military expenditure on the Indian people. He ex-
plained how the subtle method of flooding the country with
Commissions adopted by Lord Curzon was either postponing
the vital problems of the nation or making the Commissions
echo his plans. He explained how British rule had deliberately
killed Indian industries. When the Delhi Darbar was held by
Lord Curzon against the almost unanimous protests of all
public and representative men both in the press and on the
platform, Tilak roared through the Kesari that it was against
the interests of the country to waste vast sums of money on an
empty pageant when famine and pestilence were stalking over
the land. Tilak in a sneering vein asked the revellers to climb
the Kutub Minar and have a glimpse at the surroundings of
Delhi where at least seven capitals were long buried.

Misfortune was dogging Tilak's footsteps. His health also
was not good. He suffered from an acute pain in his knee,
which was the result of an accident. He could walk with difhi-
culty. It was amid this misfortune that Tilak lost his eldest
son Vishwanath who was possibly the brightest of his children.
He was studying in college and had taken to writing articles
and showed great signs of stepping into his father’s shoes. His
death occurred in February 1903 from plague in a cottage near
the Fergusson College. Tilak suppressed his feelings, brought
some Government reports and wrote articles on them. A day or
two alter the second son cried out to the father from the adjoin-
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ing cottage, in spite of his mother’s advice to the contrary, that
his younger brother too had fever! Tilak was dictating an
article to Mr. A. V. Kulkarni, his personal assistant. He heard
the call and also the conversation between Tilak’s wife and his
son. Tilak also must have heard it. But he quietly finished
his work and then went to the bedside of his son to inquire
after his health.

That little son recovered from his illness. Tilak had, how-
ever, suppressed his sorrow over the loss of his eldest son, and
the father’s heart burst into strange emotions when one day he
unconsciously called to him in his usual manner to open the
door on the arrival of his personal assistant! e realised his
mistake and instantly opened the door himself! When his
friends tried to console him, he said with the self-command
and coolness which were so dominant in him that there was
calamity all over and it claimed victims from his house also.
The minds of great men are controlled by a stern sense of
realities, and they forget their own suffering and sorrows while
engaged in alleviating the sorrows and sufferings of the people!

While the proceedings in the Court of the City Magistrate
were going on, there were occasions when Tilak was excited.
But his face became crimson when the meanest attack was made
on his personal character which ultimately came out untar-
nished through the stormy attacks. During the course of the
examination Tai Maharaj, who was a tool in the hands of the
authorities, and her servant, both described an incident in which
it was insinuated that Tilak had violated Tai Maharaj during
their stay at Aurangabad. Tilak felt grieved that a lady from
a Sardar family should have stooped so low as to stain her
character with her own tongue which even a prostitute would
not do. Another feature of the case was that Tilak demanded
that the remaining charges should be proceeded with, but the
Magistrate did not pay attention to it.

Tilak had asked for a Commission to examine some witnesscs
at Aurangabad and Amraoti, and he and his counscls had to
move to these places. The people had not lost a whit of their
faith in Tilak. Agriculturists and poor people from far and
near assembled at Amraoti and accorded an enthusiastic recep-
tion to him. During the course of discussions on the fate of
agriculturists Tilak observed that the agriculturists constituted
the soul of the nation, and there would be no salvation till
they were helped out. At Aurangabad Tilak had clashes with
the Government Counsel, Strangman, who was stern and over-
bearing! Completing their work at Aurangabad in May and
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July 1903, the Commission went in July to Amraoti to examine
Khaparde and one Mr. Joshi.

The Commission work over, they came back to Poona.
Tilak’s counsel Karandikar put up a brave defence and Strang-
man replied with equal force. Amidst these troubles and
worries Tilak spared time to write leaderettes and address
mectings. Five days before the judgment of Clements, Tilak’s
friend Prof. Jinsiwale died and in an obituary Tilak impressed
upon the youth that it was an irrevocable faith with Prof. Jinsi-
wale that he was a Hindu, he would live as a Hindu, he would
die as a Hindu, and could attain salvation by following the
principles of Hinduism. In so doing Western education did
not come in his way, Tilak then presided at this time over a
meceting at which Bhaskarrao Vaidya, a Bombay Missionary
Hindu leader, spoke on ‘the empire of Brahminism'. Tilak
told his audience that if the Hindus made common causc with
the followers of Buddhism who were their co-religionists, it
would be possible to bring one hundred million people of Asia
under the influence of Brahminism. At this mecting Tilak
could not overcome his feelings and his eyes were full of tears
when he said that Prof. Jinsiwale, a scholar and religious man,
was the proper authority to have presided over this meeting!

The proceedings in the Court of the Special Magistrate came
to an end. August 24, 1903, the day of judgment, dawned. At
his residence Tilak was making arrangements and keeping his
application ready for bail. There was a dead silence at his
residence. His old uncle Govindrao Tilak, who had lost his
only son six months before, piteously looked at the faces of
Tilak’s colleagues, and turning his face aside, he burst into
tears! The Government had taken extraordinary precautions
at the Court. Police were posted at all the principal entrances
to the Court filled with a